
 

 
 
 

DYDD MERCHER, 2 CHWEFROR 2022 
 
 

AT:  HOLL AELODAU’R CYNGOR SIR 
 
 
 
 
YR WYF DRWY HYN YN EICH GALW I FYNYCHU CYFARFOD 
RHITHWIR O’R CYNGOR SIR A GYNHELIR AM 10.00 YB, DYDD 
MERCHER, 9FED CHWEFROR, 2022 ER MWYN CYFLAWNI'R 
MATERION A AMLINELLIR AR YR AGENDA SYDD YNGHLWM 
 
 
 

 

Wendy Walters 

PRIF WEITHREDWR 

 
Swyddog Democrataidd: Martin S. Davies 

Ffôn (llinell uniongyrchol): 01267 224059 

E-bost: MSDavies@sirgar.gov.uk 

 

 

Wendy Walters Prif Weithredwr, Chief Executive, 
Neuadd y Sir, Caerfyrddin. SA31 1JP 
County Hall, Carmarthen. SA31 1JP 

 

 

Pecyn Dogfennau



 

 

A G E N D A   
 

1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB.   

2. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANNAU PERSONOL.   

3. CYHOEDDIADAU'R CADEIRYDD.   

4. LLOFNODI YN GOFNOD CYWIR COFNODION CYFARFOD Y 
CYNGOR A GYNHALIWYD AR Y 19EG IONAWR, 2022.  

7 - 16 

5. YSTYRIED ARGYMHELLION GWEITHGOR ADOLYGU'R 
CYFANSODDIAD O RAN Y MATERION CANLYNOL:  

 

5 .1 CYNLLUN DIRPRWYO I SWYDDOGION A PHROTOCOL AR 
GYFER CYFLWYNO SYLWADAU I'R CYNGOR SIR 
YNGHYLCH CEISIADAU CYNLLUNIO. 

17 - 114 

5 .2 CYNLLUN DEISEBAU SIR GAERFYRDDIN 115 - 134 

5 .3 STRATEGAETH CYFRANOGIAD Y CYHOEDD SIR 
GAERFYRDDIN FEL RHAN O'R BROSES 
DDEMOCRATAIDD. 

135 - 150 

6. AELODAETH PWYLLGORAU CRAFFU, PWYLLGORAU 
RHEOLEIDDIO A PHWYLLGORAU ERAILL Y CYNGOR A 
PHENODI AELODAU I WASANAETHU ARNYNT.  

151 - 162 

7. PENODI AELODAU I WASANAETHU AR BWYLLGORAU 
YMGYNGHOROL Y CYNGOR AC AR GYRFF ALLANOL YN 
AMODOL AR Y GOFYNION O RAN CYDBWYSEDD 
GWLEIDYDDOL.  

163 - 164 

8. YSTYRIED ARGYMHELLION Y CABINET O RAN A MATERION 
CYNLYNOL:-  

 

8 .1 CYNLLUN CYFLAWNI ECONOMAIDD RHANBARTHOL 
DEORLLEWIN CYMRU. 

165 - 222 

9. DERBYN ADRODDIAD CYFARFOD Y CABINET A GYNHALIWYD 
AR 17EG IONAWR 2022.  

223 - 230 

10. YSTYRIED Y RHYBUDDION O GYNNIG CANLYNOL:-   

10 .1 RHYBUDD O GYNNIG A GYFLWYNWYD GAN Y 
CYNGHORYDD DARREN PRICE: 

  

 ‘Materion Cynllunio yn ymwneud â datblygwyr tai 
 
Mae'r Cyngor yn nodi bod nifer o ddatblygwyr wedi adeiladu 
ystadau tai yn Sir Gaerfyrddin a bod y safon yn anfoddhaol. 
Mae rhai datblygwyr yn destun camau gorfodi rheolau cynllunio 
yn rheolaidd gan yr Awdurdod Cynllunio Lleol ac mae'n 
ymddangos bod materion y mae angen eu datrys yn ymwneud 
â'u safleoedd bob amser.  

 



 

  
Mae rhai o'r materion sy'n arwain at yr awdurdod lleol neu 
ddeiliaid tai yn wynebu costau ychwanegol yn cynnwys ffyrdd a 
phalmentydd heb eu gorffen, diffyg goleuadau stryd, draenio 
anfoddhaol ar y safle yn groes i ganiatâd cynllunio, rheoli 
safleoedd yn wael a llygredd sŵn yn ystod y gwaith adeiladu, 
dinistrio ecoleg yn ystod y gwaith adeiladu, difrod i systemau 
draenio priffyrdd cyhoeddus a thorri cytundebau Adran 106.  
  
Er gwaethaf pryder a rhwystredigaeth sylweddol cymunedau 
lleol, mae'r datblygwyr dan sylw yn parhau i gael caniatâd 
cynllunio ar gyfer safleoedd newydd. 
  
Mae'r Cyngor yn nodi na chaniateir i Awdurdodau Cynllunio 
Lleol ystyried hanes datblygwr ar hyn o bryd wrth asesu cais 
cynllunio a rhaid iddynt farnu pob cais yn ôl ei rinweddau ei 
hun. 
  
Mae'r Cyngor yn nodi ymhellach fod cyfraniadau Adran 106 yn 
chwarae rhan allweddol wrth liniaru rhai o'r pwysau a ddaw yn 
sgil datblygiadau tai newydd. Fodd bynnag, unwaith y rhoddir 
caniatâd, gall datblygwyr gyflwyno adroddiadau hyfywedd sy'n 
hawlio costau uwch sylweddol neu lai o werth amcangyfrifedig 
ar y farchnad ar gyfer tai. O ganlyniad, cytunir weithiau i leihau 
neu hyd yn oed ddileu'r cytundeb Adran 106 cychwynnol yn 
llawn er mwyn diogelu hyfywedd ariannol y datblygiad. O 
ganlyniad, mae cymunedau'n colli allan ar gyfraniad hanfodol i 
amwynderau a chefnogaeth i brynwyr cartrefi am y tro cyntaf.  
  
Mae'r Cyngor yn credu: 
  
Y dylai fod gan Awdurdod Cynllunio Lleol y pŵer i wrthod 
ceisiadau cynllunio newydd gan ddatblygwr nes bod yr holl 
rwymedigaethau sy'n weddill a chwynion dilys sy'n ymwneud â 
safleoedd presennol neu safleoedd blaenorol wedi'u cyflawni 
neu eu datrys yn llawn.  
  
Y dylid rhoi pwerau hefyd i Awdurdod Cynllunio Lleol wrthod 
cais cynllunio os yw'n credu, yn seiliedig ar dystiolaeth yn y 
gorffennol, na fyddai datblygwr yn debygol o gwblhau 
datblygiad tai i'r safon y cytunwyd arni, fel y nodir yn y cais 
cynllunio.  
  
Mae'r Cyngor yn galw ar Lywodraeth Cymru:  
  

1. I gyflwyno newidiadau deddfwriaethol a fyddai'n 
caniatáu i Awdurdodau Cynllunio Lleol ystyried hanes 
datblygwr fel 'ystyriaeth gynllunio berthnasol’.  

2. I wahardd datblygwyr rhag herio cyfraniadau Adran 106 
y cytunwyd arnynt yn flaenorol ar sail 'hyfywedd 
ariannol’.’  

 



 

10 .2 RHYBUDD O GYNNIG A GYFLWYNWYD GAN Y 
CYNGHORYDD LIAM BOWEN: 

  

 ‘Gwnaeth y Cyngor hwn ddatgan Argyfwng Hinsawdd ym mis 
Chwefror 2019 ac mae wedi ymrwymo i fod yn awdurdod lleol 
carbon sero-net erbyn 2030. Mae camau wedi'u cymryd ar draws ein 
fflyd, ein hadeiladau ac ar draws y sir i fynd i'r afael â newid yn yr 
hinsawdd ac rydym ar y trywydd iawn i gyrraedd ein targedau. 
 
Daeth Senedd Cymru yn un o'r seneddau cyntaf yn y byd i ddatgan 
Argyfwng Natur yn 2021. 
 
Mae'r Cyngor hwn yn galw ar y Cabinet i ymrwymo ymhellach drwy 
ddatgan Argyfwng Natur a sefydlu Panel Ymgynghorol Trawsbleidiol 
i gefnogi ymagwedd yr awdurdod hwn at ymdrin â newid yn yr 
hinsawdd ac argyfwng natur a mabwysiadu Datganiad Caeredin.’  

 

 

10 .3 RHYBUDD O GYNNIG A GYFLWYNWYD GAN Y 
CYNGHORYDD JOHN JAMES: 

  

 ‘Rhybudd o Gynnig 

1) Rydym yn croesawu'r cynnydd yn y Setliad Refeniw 
Llywodraeth Leol a fydd yn gweld cynnydd o 9.2% yn 
nyraniad cyllid Cyngor Sir Caerfyrddin ar gyfer 2022/23. 

  
2) Rydym yn cytuno ag Arweinydd y Cyngor pan 

ddywedodd yn ddiweddar: “Rwy'n croesawu'r setliad 
hwn yn fawr gan Lywodraeth Cymru, mae'n un o'r 
setliadau gorau y mae cynghorau wedi'i weld ers amser 
maith. Mae'n dyst i'r ddeialog adeiladol a rheolaidd gyda 
gweinidogion ac Aelodau ehangach y Senedd, sydd yn 
sicr wedi cael ei gwerthfawrogi gan arweinwyr y cyngor.” 

  
3) Mae'r Cyngor hwn yn cefnogi penderfyniad Llywodraeth 

Cymru i ddiogelu gwasanaethau llywodraeth leol 
gymaint â phosibl er bod ei chyllideb ei hun £3bn yn is 
erbyn 2024/25 nag y byddai wedi bod fel arall pe bai 
wedi cynyddu yn unol â'r economi ers 2010/11. 

  
4) Yn anffodus, mae Llywodraeth Geidwadol y DU yn 

parhau i danariannu gwasanaethau cyhoeddus, yn 
gyffredinol, a'r rheiny yng Nghymru yn arbennig, a 
chytunwn fod holl Arweinwyr Grwpiau Gwleidyddol y 
Cyngor yn ysgrifennu ar y cyd at Ganghellor y Trysorlys 
yn ei annog i adfer cyllid i Lywodraeth Cymru i'r termau 
gwirioneddol sy'n cyfateb i'w lefel yn 2010, o leiaf.’ 

 

 

11. CWESTIYNAU GAN Y CYHOEDD (NID OEDD DIM WEDI DOD I 
LAW).  

 

12. CWESTIYNAU GAN YR AELODAU (NID OEDD DIM WEDI DOD I 
LAW).  

 



 

13. CYMARADWYO Y NEWIDIADAU CANLYNOL I AELODAETH 
PWYLLGORAU:-  

 

13 .1 MAE'R GRWP ANNIBYNNOL WEDI ENWEBU'R 
CYNGHORYDD GILES MORGAN I LENWI'R  SEDDU 
GWAG AR Y PWYLLGOR PENODI 'A' A'R PWYLLGOR 
PENODI 'B'. 

 

14. CYMERADWYO'R NEWIDIADAU CANLYNOL I BANELI 
YMGYNGHOROL Y CYNGOR:-  

 

14 .1 MAE'R GRWP ANNIBYNNOL WEDI ENWEBU'R 
CYNGHORYDD EDWARD THOMAS  I LENWI'R  SEDD 
WAG AR Y GWEITHGOR ADOLYGU'R CYFANSODDIAD; 

 

14 .2 MAE'R GRWP ANNIBYNNOL WEDI ENWEBU'R 
CYNGHORYDD GILES MORGAN I LENWI'R SEDD WAG 
AR Y PANEL YMGYNGHOROL YNGHYLCH Y POLISI TÂL. 

 

15. COFNODION ER GWYBODAETH (AR GAEL AR Y WEFAN)   

15 .1 PWYLLGOR CRAFFU ADDYSG A PHLANT - 23AIN 
RHAGFYR, 2021; 

 

15 .2 PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO - 6ED IONAWR, 2022;  

15 .3 PWYLLGOR CRAFFU POLISI AC ADNODDAU - 14EG 
IONAWR, 2022; 

 

15 .4 PWYLLGOR CRAFFU GOFAL CYMDEITHASOL AC 
IECHYD - 26AIN IONAWR, 2022. 

 

 
 



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 

CYNGOR SIR 
 

DYDD MERCHER, 19 IONAWR 2022  
 

YN BRESENNOL: Cynghorydd  K. Lloyd  [Is-gadeirydd yn y Gadair]  
 
Y Cynghorwyr:- 
F. Akhtar S.M. Allen L.R. Bowen K.V. Broom 
C.A. Campbell J.M. Charles D.M. Cundy S.A. Curry 
C.A. Davies W.R.A. Davies T.A.J. Davies G. Davies 
H.L. Davies I.W. Davies J.A. Davies K. Davies 
E. Dole J.S. Edmunds D.C. Evans H.A.L. Evans 
L.D. Evans R.E. Evans W.T. Evans S.J.G. Gilasbey 
P. Hughes-Griffiths A.D. Harries T.M. Higgins J.K. Howell 
P.M. Hughes A. James J.D. James R. James 
D.M. Jenkins J.P. Jenkins G.H. John C. Jones 
B.W. Jones D. Jones G.R. Jones T.J. Jones 
H.I. Jones A. Lenny M.J.A. Lewis  
K. Madge S. Matthews A.S.J. McPherson E. Morgan 
A.G. Morgan S. Najmi D. Nicholas B.D.J. Phillips 
J.S. Phillips D. Price J.G. Prosser B.A.L. Roberts 
H.B. Shepardson E.M.J.G. Schiavone A.D.T. Speake B. Thomas 
D. Thomas E.G. Thomas G.B. Thomas G. Thomas 
J. Tremlett D.T. Williams D.E. Williams  
 
Yr oedd y swyddogion canlynol yn gwasanaethu yn y cyfarfod:- 
W. Walters, Prif Weithredwr 
J. Morgan, Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Cymunedau 
P.R. Thomas, Prif Weithredwr Cynorthwyol (Rheoli Pobl a Pherfformiad) 
C. Moore, Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol 
L.R. Jones, Pennaeth Gweinyddiaeth a'r Gyfraith 
N. Daniel, Pennaeth Gwasanaethau TGCh; Pennaeth Dros Dro y Gwasanaethau 
Cynllunio 
A. Williams, Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Amgylcheddol a Gwastraff; 
S. Davies, Pennaeth Mynediad i Addysg 
G. Morgan, Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
E. Evans, Prif Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
M. Evans Thomas, Prif Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
S. Rees, Cyfieithydd Ar Y Pryd 
J. Hawker, Swyddog Cymorth Digidol 
C.J. Warwick, Peiriannydd Cymorth Digidol 
L. Jenkins, Swyddog Cefnogi Bwrdd Gweithredol 
K. Thomas, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
J. Owens, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
S. Hendy, Swyddog Cefnogi Aelodau 
E. Bryer, Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
Rhith-Gyfarfod - 10.00  - 11.30 yb 
 
1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB 

 

Tudalen 7

Eitem Rhif  4



 

Cafwyd ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb gan y Cynghorwyr S.L. Davies, P. 
Edwards, A. Fox A. Vaughan Williams, J. E. Williams. 
 

2. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANNAU PERSONOL. 
 

Y Cynghorydd Rhif y Cofnod Y Math o Fuddiant 

S.J.G. Gilasbey 8.1 - Derbyn adroddiad 
cyfarfod y Cabinet a 
gynhaliwyd ar 6 Rhagfyr, 
2021. 
 

Buddiant personol a rhagfarnol mewn 
perthynas â'r adolygiad o'r 
Ddarpariaeth Addysg Gynradd yn 
Ardaloedd Mynyddygarreg a 
Gwenllian, sef mater sy'n rhan o 
Eitem 12.  
 
Roedd y Cynghorydd Gilasbey wedi 
cael gollyngiad gan y Pwyllgor 
Safonau i siarad ar y mater ond nid i 
bleidleisio. 

S.J.G. Gilasbey 10 - Cwestiwn gan y 
Cynghorydd Rob James 
i'r Cynghorydd Glynog 
Davies. 

Mae ysgolion a enwir yn y cwestiwn 
yn ei ward.  

D. Harries 10 - Cwestiwn gan y 
Cynghorydd Rob James 
i'r Cynghorydd Glynog 
Davies 

Yn llywodraethwr Ysgol Gymraeg / 
Ysgol Bro Banw 

 
3. CYHOEDDIADAU'R CADEIRYDD 

 

 Rhannodd y Cadeirydd y newyddion trist bod y Dirprwy Arweinydd, y 
Cynghorydd Mair Stephens, wedi marw ar ôl salwch hir yr wythnos 
diwethaf.  Mynegodd ei gydymdeimlad â'r teulu, yn enwedig ei gŵr Ralph, ei 
mab Rhys a'i mam Dilys.  

 

 Estynnwyd cydymdeimlad a rhoddwyd teyrngedau hefyd gan gynrychiolwyr 
o'r grwpiau gwleidyddol. Y Cynghorydd Emlyn Dole (ar ran Grŵp Plaid 
Cymru), y Cynghorydd Jane Tremlett (ar ran y Grŵp Annibynnol), y 
Cynghorydd Kevin Madge (ar ran y Grŵp Llafur), y Cynghorydd Jeff 
Edmunds (ar ran y Grŵp Annibynnol Newydd) a'r Cynghorydd Shahana 
Najmi (Ceidwadwyr Cymreig). 

 

 Estynnodd y Cynghorydd Glynog Davies ei gydymdeimlad diffuant i deulu 
Joseph Yeandle, bachgen bach a oedd yn dioddef o fath prin iawn o 
ganser.  Bu ymgyrch fawr o yn yr ardal i godi arian i fynd â Joseph am 
driniaeth arloesol yn Efrog Newydd. Yn anffodus, ar 27 Rhagfyr, bu farw 
Joseph. Y bwriad yw cynnal ffair flynyddol yn y pentref (Ffair Nadolig 
Joseph) i godi arian ar gyfer achosion elusennol eraill.   
 

 Dywedodd y Cynghorydd Glynog Davies wrth y Cyngor fod nifer o unigolion 
wedi dod i'w sylw am gyflawniadau chwaraeon.  Estynnwyd 
llongyfarchiadau i Hanna Jones sy'n un o'r merched cyntaf i gael cytundeb 
proffesiynol gydag Undeb Rygbi Cymru.  Estynnwyd llongyfarchiadau hefyd 

Tudalen 8



 

i Natalia John, Alisha Butchers, Ffion Lewis, Hannah Jones, Jasmine 
Joyce, Ioan Cunningham a Keira Bevan. Nodwyd cyfraniad tîm 5x60 y 
Cyngor hefyd.  
 

 Rhoddodd yr Arweinydd, gyda chaniatâd y Cadeirydd, y wybodaeth 
ddiweddaraf am y sefyllfa o ran Covid yn Sir Gaerfyrddin. Dywedodd pe 
bai'r sefyllfa'n parhau i wella y byddai Cymru'n symud i lefel 0 ond 
rhybuddiodd y dylem barhau i fod yn ofalus.  Nodwyd efallai nad yw'r 
newidiadau diweddar o ran profion yn rhoi darlun clir a bod y gostyngiad yn 
y niferoedd wedi cyd-daro â'r newidiadau i'r drefn brofi. Diolchwyd i'r rhai a 
weithiodd ddyddiau ac oriau ychwanegol dros y Nadolig a'r Flwyddyn 
Newydd er mwyn cefnogi'r broses o gyflwyno brechiadau ac i'r rhai sy'n 
parhau i weithio'n galed ar y rheng flaen.  

 
4. LLOFNODI YN GOFNOD CYWIR COFNODION CYFARFOD Y CYNGOR A 

GYNHALIWYD AR Y  8FED RHAGFYR, 2021 
 
PENDERFYNWYD llofnodi bod cofnodion cyfarfod y Cyngor a gynhaliwyd ar 
8 Rhagfyr 2021 yn gofnod cywir. 
 

5. ADRODDIAD BLYNYDDOL Y PWYLLGOR SAFONAU 
 

Estynnodd y Cadeirydd groeso i'r cyfarfod i Mrs Mary Dodd, Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor 
Safonau, a wahoddwyd i gyflwyno Adroddiad Blynyddol y Pwyllgor Safonau ar 
gyfer y cyfnod 2020/21 i'r Cyngor.  

Diolchodd Mrs Dodd i'r Cyngor am y cyfle i gyflwyno'r Adroddiad Blynyddol ar ran 
y Pwyllgor Safonau ac aeth yn ei blaen i roi trosolwg o'r materion y bu'r Pwyllgor 
yn mynd i'r afael â hwy yn ystod 2020/21. Roedd y rheiny'n cynnwys Cwynion Côd 
Ymddygiad, Ceisiadau am Ollyngiad a Hyfforddiant Côd Ymddygiad ar gyfer 
Cynghorau Tref a Chymuned. 

Nodwyd mai dim ond 7 cais am ollyngiadau a ystyriwyd gan y pwyllgor, sef 
gostyngiad o gymharu â blynyddoedd blaenorol. Atgoffodd yr aelodau i ystyried yr 
angen am ollyngiad ac i geisio cyngor pan fo angen.  

Diolchodd y Cadeirydd i Mrs Dodd am ei chyflwyniad ac am y gwaith a wnaed gan 
y Pwyllgor Safonau. 

PENDERFYNWYD derbyn Adroddiad Blynyddol y Pwyllgor Safonau am y 
cyfnod rhwng 1 Ebrill 2020 a 31 Mawrth 2021.  
 

6. PENODI LLEYGWYR I'R PWYLLGOR LLYWODRAETHU AC ARCHWILIO 
 
Rhoddwyd gwybod i'r Cyngor fod Deddf Llywodraeth Leol ac Etholiadau (Cymru) 
2021 yn ei gwneud yn ofynnol i draean o aelodau'r Pwyllgor Llywodraethu ac 
Archwilio fod yn leygwyr ac i leygwr gael ei benodi'n Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor.  
 
Bu'r Pwyllgor Llywodraethu ac Archwilio yn ystyried adroddiad ar y trefniadau ar 
gyfer penodi Lleygwyr i'r Pwyllgor yn ei gyfarfod a gynhaliwyd ar 17 Rhagfyr 2021 

Tudalen 9



 

ac roedd y pwyllgor yn gwneud argymhelliad i'r Cyngor ar Aelodaeth y Pwyllgor yn 
y dyfodol. 
 
Dywedodd Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Llywodraethu ac Archwilio fod Deddf Llywodraeth 
Leol ac Etholiadau (Cymru) 2021 hefyd yn nodi bod yn rhaid i gadeirydd y 
Pwyllgor fod yn un o'r lleygwyr etholedig a bod y newidiadau a gynigiwyd eisoes 
wedi'u mabwysiadu gan rai Cynghorau ledled Cymru.  
 
Diolchodd Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Llywodraethu ac Archwilio i swyddogion a'r is-
gadeirydd am eu cefnogaeth yn ystod ei chyfnod fel Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor.  
 
Diolchodd Arweinydd y Cyngor yn ffurfiol i'r Cynghorydd Higgins fel Cadeirydd 
dros y pedair blynedd a hanner diwethaf a diolchodd am ei gwaith a'i hymrwymiad 
yn ystod y cyfnod hwn.  
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL gymeradwyo bod y Pwyllgor Llywodraethu 
ac Archwilio yn cynnwys 12 aelod h.y. 8 aelod etholedig (fel ar hyn o bryd) a 
4 lleygwr i gyd-fynd â'r gofyniad newydd sy'n deillio o Ddeddf Llywodraeth 
Leol ac Etholiadau (Cymru) 2021 i draean o aelodaeth y Pwyllgor 
Llywodraethu ac Archwilio fod yn lleygwyr.  
 

7. YSTYRIED ARGYMHELLION Y CABINET O RAN A MATERION CYNLYNOL:- 
 
7.1. ADRODDIAD CHWARTEROL YNGYLCH RHEOLI'R TRYSORLYS A 

DANGOSYDD DARBODAETH EBRILL 1AF 2021 I MEDI 30AIN 2021 
 
Dywedwyd wrth y Cyngor fod y Cabinet, yn ystod ei gyfarfod a gynhaliwyd ar 20 
Rhagfyr 2021, wedi cymeradwyo'r wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am weithgareddau 
rheoli'r trysorlys o 1 Ebrill 2021 hyd at 30 Medi 2021, yn unol â Pholisi a 
Strategaeth Rheoli'r Trysorlys 2021/21 (a fabwysiadwyd gan y Cyngor ar 19 
Chwefror 2021 - cofnod 8). 
 
Dywedodd yr Aelod Cabinet dros Adnoddau fod Pwyllgor Polisi Ariannol Banc 
Lloegr (MPC) wedi cadw'r Gyfradd Banc ar 0.10% ar 24 Medi 2021. Ni wnaeth 
unrhyw newidiadau ychwaith i'w raglen esmwytho meintiol gwerth £895bn. 
 
Tynnwyd sylw at y ffaith bod y MPC wedi nodi pryder y gallai cynnydd mewn 
prisiau, yn enwedig mewn prisiau nwy a thrydan ym mis Hydref ac sydd i ddod eto 
fis Ebrill nesaf, arwain at ddisgwyliadau chwyddiant cyflymach ac uwch a thwf 
sylfaenol mewn cyflogau. Byddai hyn yn ei dro yn cynyddu'r risg y byddai pwysau 
o ran prisiau yn fwy cyson y flwyddyn nesaf na'r disgwyl. Ail-bwysleisiodd y MPC 
ei ymrwymiad i'r targed chwyddiant o 2%. Roedd marchnadoedd ariannol yn prisio 
cynnydd cyntaf yn y Gyfradd Banc o 0.10% i 0.25% ym mis Chwefror 2022, ond 
roedd hyn yn edrych yn uchelgeisiol gan fod y MPC wedi datgan ei fod am weld 
beth sy'n digwydd i'r economi, yn enwedig i gyflogaeth. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD mabwysiadu'r argymhellion canlynol gan y Cabinet 
 
‘bod yr Adroddiad Canol Blwyddyn ynghylch Dangosyddion Darbodaeth a 
Rheoli'r Trysorlys rhwng 1 Ebrill 2021 a 30 Medi 2021 yn cael ei fabwysiadu'.  
 

Tudalen 10



 

8. DERBYN ADRODDIAD CYFARFOD Y CABINET A GYNHALIWYD AR:- 
 
8.1. 6ED RHAGFYR, 2021 
 
[SYLWER: Roedd y Cynghorydd S.J.G. Gilasbey wedi datgan buddiant yn y mater 
hwn yn gynharach, ac arhosodd yn y cyfarfod wrth i'r mater gael ei ystyried ond 
nid oedd wedi pleidleisio. Roedd y Cynghorydd Gilasbey wedi cael gollyngiad gan 
y Pwyllgor Safonau i siarad ond nid i bleidleisio.] 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL dderbyn adroddiad cyfarfod y Cabinet a 
gynhaliwyd ar 6 Rhagfyr, 2021. 
 
8.2. 20AIN RHAGFYR, 2021 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL dderbyn adroddiad cyfarfod y Cabinet a 
gynhaliwyd ar 20 Rhagfyr, 2021. 
 

9. CWESTIYNAU GAN Y CYHOEDD (NID OEDD DIM WEDI DOD I LAW). 
 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau wedi dod i law gan y cyhoedd. 
 

10. CWESTIYNAU GAN YR AELODAU:- 
 
10.1. CWESTIWN GAN Y CYNGHORYDD ROB JAMES I'R CYNGHORYDD 

GLYNOG DAVIES, YR AELOD CABINET DROS ADDYSG A PHLANT 
 
“Yn ôl yr hyn a ddeallwn, bu cynnydd mawr mewn costau deunyddiau a llafur ers y 
pandemig, sydd â goblygiadau sylweddol i'ch rhaglen gyfalaf, gan gynnwys y 
Rhaglen Moderneiddio Addysg.  A allwch gadarnhau a fydd yr holl gynigion 
ynghylch ysgolion yng nghyllideb y llynedd yn cael eu datblygu fel y bwriadwyd yn 
wreiddiol?” 
 
Ymateb y Cynghorydd Glynog Davies - yr Aelod Cabinet dros Addysg a 
Phlant:- 
 
“Fel y gwyddoch, rhoddwyd cryn sylw i hyn yn ein trafodaeth ddoe ar y gyllideb 
addysg a soniwyd hefyd am yr adolygiad o'r rhaglen Moderneiddio Addysg. Caiff y 
Rhaglen Moderneiddio Addysg, fel rhan o gyllideb ehangach y Cyngor, ei monitro 
a'i hadolygu'n barhaus ac mae hyn yn hanfodol.  Mae'n bwysig ein bod ni fel y 
Cabinet yn gallu craffu ar ein prosiectau a'r gyllideb. Mae'r rhaglen hon yn 
eithriadol o bwysig i ni ac rydym yn gweithio'n dda gyda'r llywodraeth yng 
Nghaerdydd i adeiladu ysgolion ac yn ddiweddar agorwyd tair ysgol newydd sef 
Rhys Pritchard, Llanymddyfri, Llangadog a Phum Heol. Adeiladau newydd addas 
a chynaliadwy i'n dysgwyr. Mae ein plant yn Sir Gaerfyrddin yn haeddu hyn, maen 
nhw'n haeddu'r gorau.  
 
Fodd bynnag, rwy'n siŵr nad oes angen i mi atgoffa'r Cynghorydd James bod y 
pandemig wedi cael effaith sylweddol ar bopeth y mae'r Cyngor wedi bod yn ei 
wneud gyda gwaith adeiladu yn dod i ben o ganlyniad i gyfyngiadau ar symud. 
Fe'n gorfodwyd i adleoli staff er mwyn mynd i'r afael â blaenoriaethau fel Cyngor. 
Rydym wedi cael dwy flynedd heriol dros ben. Mae costau wedi cynyddu'n 

Tudalen 11



 

sylweddol o ganlyniad i'r pandemig a hefyd Brexit. Allwn ni ddim anghofio hynny. 
Mae prisiau wedi mynd drwy'r to, a bod yn onest, maen nhw wedi mynd yn uwch 
na hynny a dyna pam y gwnaethom gymryd rhan mewn adolygiad gan Lywodraeth 
Cymru. Adolygiad ar gostau, ar gostau uwch ein rhaglenni.  O ganlyniad, cytunodd 
y Llywodraeth ar gynnydd yn y dyraniad grant er mwyn inni fynd i'r afael â rhai o'r 
materion ychwanegol ac rydym yn wirioneddol ddiolchgar amdano.   
 
Mae'r adolygiad hwn o'r Rhaglen Moderneiddio Addysg yn adolygiad y gofynnais i 
amdano'n bersonol. Hyd nes y bydd yr adolygiad wedi'i gwblhau, ni allaf 
gadarnhau a fydd yr holl ysgolion a'r holl gynigion yng nghyllideb y llynedd yn cael 
eu datblygu.  Oherwydd fel rhan o'r adolygiad hwn rydym yn cynnal adolygiad 
cynhwysfawr o'r rhaglen.  Bydd yn rhaid inni edrych ar ddatblygu cynaliadwy a 
charbon set-net. Bydd yn rhaid inni edrych ar gyfyngiadau ariannol, chwyddiant 
mewn perthynas ag adeiladu.  Fel yr wyf eisoes wedi sôn, rhaid inni adolygu ac 
ail-brisio popeth a wnawn.  Rhaid inni edrych ar addasrwydd a chyflwr ein 
hadeiladau a newidiadau i dueddiadau disgyblion.  
 
Rwy'n dweud unwaith eto, hyd nes y bydd yr adolygiad hwn wedi'i gwblhau, ni allaf 
gadarnhau a fydd yr holl gynigion ynghylch ysgolion yng nghyllideb y llynedd yn 
cael eu datblygu. Diolch y Cynghorydd James.” 
 
Cwestiwn Atodol gan y Cynghorydd Rob James 
 
“Mae pymtheg o ysgolion newydd wedi'u nodi fel rhan o'r gyllideb ddrafft, ond eto 
nid ydynt wedi'u cyflwyno i Lywodraeth Cymru am gyllid. Er hynny, dyrannwyd 
cyllid cyfalaf y flwyddyn nesaf i'w wario ar y prosiectau hyn. A ydych yn derbyn, 
gyda'ch adolygiad a chyda diffyg cyflwyno ceisiadau i Lywodraeth Cymru na fydd y 
prosiectau hyn yn cael eu datblygu y flwyddyn nesaf?” 
 
Ymateb y Cynghorydd Glynog Davies - yr Aelod Cabinet dros Addysg a 
Phlant:- 
 
"Na, nid wyf yn derbyn hynny oherwydd mae'n rhaid i'r adolygiad hwn ddigwydd 
nawr ac mae'n rhaid i mi gael ymatebion yr adolygiad cyn i mi wneud unrhyw 
benderfyniadau pellach."  
 
10.2. CWESTIWN GAN Y CYNGHORYDD ROB JAMES I'R CYNGHORYDD 

GLYNOG DAVIES, YR AELOD CABINET DROS ADDYSG A PHLANT 
 
“Bwriedir adeiladu ysgolion newydd yn Rhydaman ers nifer o flynyddoedd, a 
dyrannodd y weinyddiaeth Lafur flaenorol gyllid cyfalaf ar gyfer y prosiect cyn 
2015.  A allai'r Aelod Cabinet roi'r wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am ysgolion newydd 
Rhydaman?” 
 
Ymateb y Cynghorydd Glynog Davies - yr Aelod Cabinet dros Addysg a 
Phlant:- 
 
"Unwaith eto, diolch i'r Cynghorydd James. Ni allaf fynd yn ôl i'r cyfnod cyn 2015 
gan mai yn 2017 yr ymunais i â'r Cabinet. Unwaith eto, rwy'n ymwybodol iawn bod 
y cynllun ym Mand A yn wreiddiol ac roedd hyn yn weithredol rhwng 2014 a 2019.  
Ond, yn ôl yn 2016, penderfynwyd symud y prosiect i Fand B sef blwyddyn cyn i 

Tudalen 12



 

mi ddod yn gyfrifol am y portffolio. Fodd bynnag, wrth i'r cynllun ar gyfer 
Rhydaman gael ei ddatblygu rwy'n cadw llygad ar bopeth sy'n digwydd 
 
Fe welwyd cynnydd yn nifer y disgyblion, yn rhannol oherwydd y galw am addysg 
gynradd Gymraeg yn ardal Rhydaman.  Mae hyn yn beth da.  
 
Gwelwyd bod safle presennol Bro Banw a'r Ysgol Gymraeg yng nghanol y dref yn 
annigonol ac roedd yn dipyn o her dod o hyd i dir addas i ymdopi â'r cynnydd 
hwnnw.  Cofiwch wrth gwrs fod nifer y plant o oedran cynradd yn fawr iawn. Mae 
dros 1000 ohonynt, felly roedd yn rhaid i ni ystyried pob math o opsiynau – a'r hyn 
sy'n addas ar gyfer adfywio tref a chymuned Rhydaman.  Hefyd oherwydd maint y 
prosiect rydym yn ystyried popeth fel prosiect posibl ar gyfer y Model Buddsoddi 
Cydfuddiannol (MIM). Rwyf am bwysleisio hyn eto, ymddiheuriadau am ailadrodd 
fy hun, ond efallai nad yw pawb wedi clywed hyn. Ond mae trefnu addysg gynradd 
yn Rhydaman yn flaenoriaeth. Rwyf wedi dweud hyn mewn sawl cyfarfod. Mae'n 
flaenoriaeth i mi ac mae'n flaenoriaeth i'r weinyddiaeth ac mae'n rhan o'r Rhaglen 
Moderneiddio Addysg bresennol. Dywedais hyn yn glir yng nghyfarfod y Cabinet 
ar y 6ed o Ragfyr. Rydych newydd dderbyn y cofnodion. Roedd yn gyfarfod 
cyhoeddus a gall aelodau'r wrthblaid fod yn bresennol ac ymuno â'r cyfarfod 
hwnnw. Dywedais bryd hynny, yn gwbl glir, y byddai'r cynlluniau megis Heol Goffa, 
Bryngwyn, Pen-bre, Dewi Sant, Rhydaman a Llandeilo yn mynd yn eu blaen yn 
gyflym. Rwyf am ddweud hyn unwaith eto. Bydd y cynlluniau hyn yn mynd yn eu 
blaen yn gyflym. Rydym yn datblygu'r prosiectau nawr. Nid wyf am ddweud eto sut 
mae'r pandemig wedi arafu pethau oherwydd byddaf yn ailadrodd fy hun. Ond 
mae popeth wedi oedi oherwydd hynny.”  
 
Cwestiwn Atodol gan y Cynghorydd Rob James 
 
"Fel y mae Glynog eisoes wedi dweud, gwnaeth Plaid leihau'r flaenoriaeth ar gyfer 
Rhydaman pan ddaethon nhw i rym yn 2015 o A i B.  Yn y gyllideb ddiwethaf 
dyrannwyd £500,000 i'r ddwy ysgol i lunio cynigion gyda £5 miliwn yn cael ei 
ddyrannu ar gyfer biliau eleni. Mae'n amlwg nad yw hyn yn digwydd gan nad yw'r 
cynlluniau wedi'u datblygu. Allwch chi egluro sut y gwariwyd y £500,000 y llynedd 
ac nid ydym ddim agosach at gael ysgolion newydd yn Rhydaman?”  
 
Ymateb y Cynghorydd Glynog Davies - yr Aelod Cabinet dros Addysg a 
Phlant:- 
 
"Fel y dywedais wrth y Cynghorydd James, rydym yn datblygu'r prosiect yn gyflym. 
Mae'n digwydd nawr ac mae datblygu unrhyw brosiect yn costio arian. Mae'r 
gwaith hwn yn bendant yn parhau, beth bynnag yr ydych chi am ei ddweud.  
Rydym yn byw yn yr ardal hon ac rydym yn gwybod ein bod o ddifrif am ysgolion 
newydd ar gyfer Tref Rhydaman.”  
 
10.3. CWESTIWN GAN Y CYNGHORYDD ROB JAMES I'R CYNGHORYDD 

GLYNOG DAVIES, YR AELOD CABINET DROS ADDYSG A PHLANT 
 
“A allai'r Aelod Cabinet nodi a yw tir wedi'i brynu ar gyfer ysgol newydd 
Rhydaman?” 
 

Tudalen 13



 

Ymateb y Cynghorydd Glynog Davies - yr Aelod Cabinet dros Addysg a 
Phlant:- 
 
"Wel, y Cynghorydd James, rwyf wedi dweud hyn droeon mewn cyfarfodydd 
cyhoeddus. Yr ateb yn syml yw ie, mae tir wedi'i brynu.”  
 
Cwestiwn Atodol gan y Cynghorydd Rob James 
 
"Sylwaf nad yw'r Aelod Cabinet wedi nodi unrhyw fanylion am hyn. Mae'n 
ymddangos bod gwybodaeth eisoes ar gael i'r cyhoedd gyda'r Cynghorydd dros 
Bontaman yn cnocio ar ddrysau yn flaenorol ac yn cyflwyno deiseb i atal prynu tir 
oddi ar Heol Pontaman. Pryd fydd y Cyngor yn ymgynghori ar y cynlluniau hyn ar 
gyfer y tir oddi ar Heol Pontaman?”  
 
Ymateb y Cynghorydd Glynog Davies - yr Aelod Cabinet dros Addysg a 
Phlant:- 
 
"Cefais fy meirniadu am y ffordd yr atebais y cwestiwn. Atebais y cwestiwn a 
ofynnwyd.  A oes tir wedi'i brynu? Dywedais wrthych yn syml fod tir wedi'i brynu ac 
yn wir mae'r tir hwnnw yn Heol Pontaman ond nid oes penderfyniad wedi'i wneud 
eto ar ba ysgol sy'n mynd yno, ond mae'r tir hwnnw gyda ni yn barod i'w 
ddatblygu.”  
 
10.4. CWESTIWN GAN Y CYNGHORYDD ROB JAMES I'R CYNGHORYDD 

GLYNOG DAVIES, YR AELOD CABINET DROS ADDYSG A PHLANT 
 
“A allai'r Aelod Cabinet roi'r wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am ysgol newydd Ysgol  Dewi 
Sant?” 
 
Ymateb y Cynghorydd Glynog Davies - yr Aelod Cabinet dros Addysg a 
Phlant:- 
 
Wel, diolch. Rydym wedi cyrraedd y 4ydd cwestiwn a nawr o'r diwedd mae'r 
Cynghorydd James yn gofyn cwestiwn sy'n berthnasol i'w ward. Y ward y mae'n ei 
chynrychioli. 
 
Hoffwn ddweud hyn yn gyntaf oll am Ysgol Dewi Sant - agorwyd yr ysgol ar y 1af o 
Fawrth 1947.  Rwy'n siŵr eich bod chi wedi cyfrif, fel finnau, y bydd yr ysgol hon yn 
75 oed, yn dathlu 75 mlynedd o addysg cyfrwng Cymraeg yn Sir Gaerfyrddin. 
Mae'n ben-blwydd pwysig. Ond yr hyn sy'n ei gwneud yn bwysicach yw'r ffaith mai 
hon oedd yr ysgol Gymraeg gyntaf i gael ei hagor gan unrhyw awdurdod lleol yng 
Nghymru. Crëwyd hanes yma yn Sir Gaerfyrddin a diolch i weledigaeth y 
Cynghorwyr bryd hynny a diolch i'r ymgyrch yn Llanelli a arweiniwyd gan aelodau 
o'r Blaid Lafur. Y Blaid Lafur bryd hynny oedd yn arwain y ffordd ac yn agor ysgol 
Gymraeg i 34 o blant, gan dorri tir newydd. Heddiw, mae ychydig yn brin o 500 o 
blant ar y gofrestr.  
 
Yn awr, mae'r un blaid Lafur a gafodd y weledigaeth ym 1947 wedi gwrthwynebu 
cynlluniau'r weinyddiaeth i roi cartref newydd i'r ysgol hon ar bob cyfle. Safle a 
ddewiswyd nid gennym ni ein hunain fel Cynghorwyr ond gan arbenigwyr.  
 

Tudalen 14



 

Byddai'r plant a'u hathrawon bellach mewn ysgol newydd pe bai'r weinyddiaeth 
hon wedi cael ei ffordd a byddent yn gallu dathlu'r pen-blwydd hwn mewn steil. Yn 
hytrach, maent mewn hen ysgol, sy'n anaddas ar gyfer gofynion yr unfed ganrif ar 
hugain. Diolch Rob. Mae'r gwaith o ddewis safle pwrpasol yn anodd, ond mae'r 
gwaith yn parhau, ac rydym yn gweithio'n galed ar hyn. Rydym yn gweithio gydag 
Adran yr Amgylchedd gan fod yn rhaid ystyried yr holl ffactorau, megis trafnidiaeth 
a'r amgylchedd, topograffeg, argaeledd ac ati. Mae'n rhaid gwneud y gwaith hwn 
yn drylwyr. Dyna sy'n digwydd ar hyn o bryd.”  
 
Cwestiwn Atodol gan y Cynghorydd Rob James 
 
"Rwy'n rhannu barn yr Aelod Cabinet o ran pwysigrwydd Dewi Sant yn yr ardal a 
hefyd gan ei bod yn yr ysgol Gymraeg gyntaf. Mae dwy flynedd wedi bod ers iddo 
dynnu'n ôl gynlluniau i adeiladu ysgol newydd er gwaethaf nifer o ymdrechion yr 
wyf wedi'u gwneud i annog y Cyngor hwn i ymgynghori ar y safle newydd. Mae'r 
ysgol a'r gymuned yn dal yn y tywyllwch. Nawr, yr hyn yr ydym yn chwilio amdano 
yw dyddiad pendant ynghylch pryd y bydd yr ymgynghoriad hwn yn dechrau, felly 
a allwch chi ddweud wrth y bobl sy'n gysylltiedig â'r ysgol hon pryd y byddant yn 
clywed am y cynigion ar gyfer yr ysgol newydd.”  
 
Ymateb y Cynghorydd Glynog Davies - yr Aelod Cabinet dros Addysg a 
Phlant:- 
 
"Mae mor annheg ar y plant a'r staff hynny eu bod nhw'n dal yn yr adeilad hwnnw. 
Ac unwaith eto, rwy'n pwyntio bys atoch chi Rob James. Pam yr holl amser hwn?  
Rwy'n mynnu bod yr holl elfennau yr wyf wedi'u nodi yn cael eu hystyried mor 
fanwl â phosibl er mwyn osgoi, ie osgoi unrhyw wrthwynebiad posibl yn y dyfodol. 
Gwrthwynebiad a fydd yn arwain at fwy o oedi, a dyna pam mae gwaith yn cael ei 
wneud yn drylwyr ac rwy'n aros nawr i Gam 1 y gwaith gael ei gwblhau yn fuan 
iawn.” 
 
10.5. CWESTIWN GAN Y CYNGHORYDD ROB JAMES I'R CYNGHORYDD 

GLYNOG DAVIES, YR AELOD CABINET DROS ADDYSG A PHLANT 
“Cynhaliodd rhieni, disgyblion ac ymgyrchwyr ymgyrch lwyddiannus i achub Ysgol 
Mynyddygareg ac Ysgol Blaenau rhag cael eu cau.  Gallai'r ddwy ysgol elwa o 
fuddsoddiad ar unwaith i brofi eu cynaliadwyedd yn y dyfodol. A fyddwch yn 
cynnwys buddsoddiad cyfalaf eleni i wella'r adeiladau ac ystyried eu gwneud yn 
ysgolion 3-11 oed?” 
 
Ymateb y Cynghorydd Glynog Davies - yr Aelod Cabinet dros Addysg a 
Phlant:- 
 
"Wel, rydych chi'n cael fy nehongliad i ar eleni pan dwi'n ateb. Dewch yn ôl i 
gyfarfod y Cabinet a gynhaliwyd ar y 6ed o Ragfyr 2021.  Fel y dywedais yn 
gynharach, rydym newydd dderbyn y cofnodion ac maent wedi'u cymeradwyo.  
Penderfynwyd yn unfrydol i beidio â chyhoeddi Hysbysiad Statudol i gau Ysgol 
Gynradd Mynyddygarreg, ond mae hyn yn bwysig - rydym am fwrw ymlaen â 
chynlluniau i agor Ysgol Gymraeg newydd yn ardal Cydweli. Mae gwir angen hyn 
yn lle'r un sydd yno ar hyn o bryd (Gwenllian). Mae angen ysgol yn yr ardal i 
hyrwyddo'r Gymraeg. Yn yr un modd, gwnaethom yr un penderfyniad ynglŷn ag 
Ysgol y Blaenau. Unwaith eto, dywedais yn glir fy mod am barhau â chynlluniau ar 

Tudalen 15



 

gyfer ysgol newydd yn ardal Llandybie a chytunwyd ar hynny.  Gohiriwyd y 
penderfyniad ar Fynyddygareg a'r Blaenau ac rwyf wedi siarad â rhieni a'r cyrff 
llywodraethu hyn yn ystod y cyfnod hwn, ynghyd â'r holl ysgolion cynradd eraill yn 
Sir Gaerfyrddin.  
Galwais, fel yr wyf eisoes wedi dweud y bore yma, am adolygiad llawn, adolygiad 
cynhwysfawr o'r Rhaglen Moderneiddio Addysg (MEP).  Bydd hwn yn rhoi 
ystyriaeth i ystodau oedran yr ysgolion. Hyd nes y bydd yr adolygiad wedi'i 
gwblhau, bydd buddsoddiad cyfalaf ar gyfer atgyweirio a chynnal a chadw yn cael 
ei ddyrannu i ysgolion ar sail blaenoriaeth a hoffwn atgoffa pawb sy'n 
llywodraethwyr ar gyrff llywodraethu eu bod, fel tenantiaid, yn gyfrifol am sawl 
agwedd ar atgyweirio a chynnal a chadw ysgolion.  Mae cyllid yn cael ei ddyrannu 
yng nghyllideb yr ysgol i ddelio â materion tebyg. Yn ogystal eleni, fel sydd wedi 
digwydd dros yr ychydig flynyddoedd diwethaf, bydd y ddwy ysgol a enwir yn 
derbyn dros £7000 yr un yn ogystal â grant atgyweiriadau a grant cynnal a chadw 
gan Lywodraeth Cymru.” 
 
Cwestiwn Atodol gan y Cynghorydd Rob James 
 
"Mae Llandybie a Gwenllian yn y camau dylunio ac nid ydynt yn disgwyl ysgol 
newydd am nifer o flynyddoedd. O ran Mynyddygareg a Blaenau, nid oes 
buddsoddiad gwirioneddol wedi'i nodi ar gyfer y dyfodol. Felly yn olaf, oni fyddech 
yn cytuno bod Plaid wedi treulio'r saith mlynedd diwethaf yn bygwth cau ysgolion, 
yn gorffen rhaglenni ysgol y weinyddiaeth Lafur ddiwethaf ac yn methu'n 
drychinebus â datblygu unrhyw welliant newydd mewn ysgolion.”  
 
Ymateb y Cynghorydd Glynog Davies - yr Aelod Cabinet dros Addysg a 
Phlant:- 
 
"A fyddwn i'n cytuno â chi? Fy ateb syml Rob yw na.”  
 

11. CYMARADWYO Y NEWIDIADAU CANLYNOL I AELODAETH PWYLLGORAU 
 
11.1. MAE'R GRWP LLAFUR WEDI ENWEBU'R CYNGHORYDD DOT JONES I 

LENWI'R SEDD A OEDD YN PERTHYN YN GYNT I'R CYNGHORYDD 
AMANDA FOX AR Y PWYLLGOR PENODI A 

Yn unol â Rheol Gweithdrefn Gorfforaethol 2(2)(n), roedd yr enwebiad canlynol 
wedi dod i law gan y Grŵp Llafur a: 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL gymeradwyo enwebiad y Cynghorydd D. 
Jones i gymryd lle'r Cynghorydd A.L. Fox fel un o gynrychiolwyr y Grŵp 
Llafur ar Bwyllgor Penodi A. 
 

12. COFNODION ER GWYBODAETH (AR GAEL AR Y WEFAN) 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd fod y cofnodion a amlinellir ar agenda ar gael i'w gweld ar 
wefan y Cyngor. 
 
 

 
________________________    __________________ 
CADEIRYDD       DYDDIAD 
 

Tudalen 16



 

  
 
 

CYNLLUN DIRPRWYO I SWYDDOGION A PHROTOCOL AR 
GYFER CYFLWYNO SYLWADAU I'R CYNGOR SIR YNGHYLCH  

CEISIADAU CYNLLUNIO 

Y Pwrpas:  

Ystyried argymhellion Gweithgor Trawsbleidiol Adolygu'r Cyfansoddiad ynghylch:  

(i) y diwygiadau arfaethedig i'r Cynllun Dirprwyo i Swyddogion i adlewyrchu'r broses o symud 
swyddogaethau i wahanol Gyfarwyddiaethau, newidiadau o ran teitlau swyddi, 
swyddogaethau newydd sy'n codi o ddeddfwriaeth newydd a rhai dirprwyaethau 
ychwanegol; a'r  

(ii) diwygiadau arfaethedig i'r  Protocol ar gyfer cyflwyno Sylwadau i'r Cyngor Sir ynghylch 
Ceisiadau Cynllunio er mwyn egluro'n well y gweithdrefnau a'r terfynau amser ar gyfer 
cyflwyno sylwadau a gofyn am gael siarad yn y Pwyllgor Cynllunio, a gwneud defnydd 
mwy effeithlon o amser y Pwyllgor. 

Yr argymhellion / penderfyniadau allweddol sydd eu hangen: 

Bod y diwygiadau arfaethedig i'r Cynllun Dirprwyo i Swyddogion ac i'r Protocol ar gyfer cyflwyno 
Sylwadau i'r Cyngor Sir ynghylch Ceisiadau Cynllunio yn cael eu cymeradwyo. 

 

Y Rhesymau:  

(i) cael Cynllun Dirprwyo i Swyddogion sy'n addas i'r diben ac sy'n adlewyrchu'r dirprwyaethau 
sydd eu hangen. 

 

(ii) egluro'n well y gweithdrefnau a'r terfynau amser ar gyfer cyflwyno sylwadau a gofyn am gael 
siarad yn y Pwyllgor Cynllunio, a gwneud defnydd mwy effeithlon o amser y Pwyllgor.  
 

Angen ymgynghori â'r Pwyllgor Craffu perthnasol  NAC OES. Mae Gweithgor Adolygu'r 
Cyfansoddiad yn weithgor trawsbleidiol a sefydlwyd gan y Cyngor Llawn i ystyried pa mor 
addas i'r diben yw Cyfansoddiad y Cyngor ac i argymell unrhyw newidiadau sy'n angenrheidiol.  

Angen i’r Cabinet wneud penderfyniad    OES mewn perthynas â swyddogaethau gweithredol 

Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad    OES mewn perthynas â swyddogaethau'r Cyngor a 
newidiadau i Gyfansoddiad y Cyngor  
 

YR AELOD O'R CABINET SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:-    
Y Cynghorydd Emlyn Dole, Cadeirydd Gweithgor Adolygu'r Cyfansoddiad  
Y Gyfarwyddiaeth: 

Enw Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth: 
Linda Rees Jones 

Awdur yr Adroddiad: 
Linda Rees Jones 

Swyddi: 

Pennaeth Gweinyddiaeth 
a'r Gyfraith a Swyddog 
Monitro 

Rhif ffôn: 

Cyfeiriadau e-bost: 
LRJones@sirgar.gov.uk 

Y CYNGOR SIR 
 

9FED CHWEFROR 2022 

Tudalen 17

Eitem Rhif  5.1



 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

COUNTY COUNCIL 
9FED CHWEFROR 2022 

 

SCHEME OF DELEGATION TO OFFICERS AND PROTOCOL ON 
REPRESENTATIONS TO THE COUNTY COUNCIL ON  

PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

 
1. Under the Constitution the Monitoring Officer has a duty to keep the Council’s Constitution 

under periodic review. Amongst the documents forming part of the Council’s Constitution is 
the “Scheme of Delegation to Officers” which sets out which decisions Council (in the case 
of Council functions) has agreed may be taken by officers instead of by the Council and the 
decisions which the Cabinet (in relation to executive functions) has agreed may be taken by 
officers instead of by the Cabinet.  

 
2. Over the years various services have been restructured and moved to other Directorates, 

some job titles have changed and such like, and whilst the delegations are still valid as 
there is a catch-all provision in the Scheme to cover restructurings and movements across 
Directorates work has now been undertaken to bring services within their current 
Directorates and to update the job titles.  

 
3. At the same time some Services have asked for additional delegations to be granted, 

notably Planning Services, because of new functions arising from new legislation or in order 
to make the determination of planning applications and planning matters a quicker process. 
Planning is a Council function and the delegations as asked for will need to be approved by 
Council.  

 
4. All revisions are highlighted in the revised Scheme of Delegation appended to this report. 

 
5. Planning Services have also asked for amendments to be made to the “Protocol on 

Representations to the County Council on Planning Applications” in order to better clarify 
the procedures and deadlines for making representations and requesting to speak at 
Planning Committee and to make more efficient use of the Committee’s time. Again these 
are highlighted in the appendices. 

 
6. The Constitutional Review Working Group, being the body established by the Council to 

make recommendations to the Council on Constitutional matters, recommend the revisions 
be approved.  

 
DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED?  NO, but the revisions to the Scheme are attached. 

 
  

Tudalen 18



 

IMPLICATIONS 

 
 

2. Legal   

 
The Scheme of Delegation to Officers and the Protocol on Making Representations to 
County Council on Planning Applications form part of the Council’s Constitution and needs 
to be kept under review in order assist with timely and proper decision making. 

 5. Risk Management Issues 

In exercising delegated decision making authorities officers are required to comply with: 

- Any statutory provisions; 

- The Council’s Constitution; 

- The Councils Policy Framework and Budget; 

- The Officers Code of Conduct 

- The Code of recommended Practice on Local Authority Publicity; 
- Agreed arrangements for recording decisions; 

- Taking legal or other appropriate professional advice when required; 

- The principles of Best Value by using the most efficient and effective means 
available; 

- The need to consult persons or representatives of persons who may be affected by 
the decision, including where appropriate the local ward member. 

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with 
this report: 

 

Signed:  Linda Rees-Jones, Head of Administration and Law and Monitoring Officer                      

 
Policy, Crime & 
Disorder and 
Equalities 

Legal 

 
Finance 

 
ICT 

 
Risk 
Management 
Issues 

 

 

Staffing 
Implications 

 

Physical 
Assets  

 

YES  YES  NONE NON YES   NONE 

 
NONE 

 

1. Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities 

The Scheme of Delegation to Officers and the Protocol on Making Representations to 
County Council on Planning Applications form part of the Council’s Constitution and set out 
the decisions which the Council and the Cabinet have delegated to officers, and the 
procedure for third parties to address the Planning Committee respectively. 

Tudalen 19



 

CONSULTATIONS 
 

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below. 

 

Signed:  Linda Rees-Jones, Head of Administration and Law and Monitoring Officer                                         

 
CABINET MEMBER PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER AWARE/CONSULTED  

YES 

 
Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
 

THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW      
 

Title of Document 
 

File Ref No. Locations that the papers are available for public inspection  

Scheme of Delegation 
to Officers 
 
___________________ 
 
Protocol on Making 
Representations to 
County Council on 
Planning Applications 
 

CCCN-000 
 
 
_________ 
 
CCCN-
0000 

Within the Councils Constitution, which is available 
online 
 
__________________________________________ 
 
Within the Councils Constitution, which is available 
online 
 
 
 

Correspondence from 
various Departments or 
Services regarding 
required delegations. 

CCCN-
0000 

Monitoring Officer, County Hall, Carmarthen 

 
 

Tudalen 20



 

1 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PART 3 

 

 

SCHEME OF DELEGATION TO OFFICERS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 21



 

2 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

INDEX 

 

 Page No.  

INTRODUCTION AND POWERS TO CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
AND ALL DIRECTORS 

3 

  

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S  11 

  

(RESOURCES)      

CORPORATE SERVICES 

17 

  

(SOCIAL CARE, HEALTH AND HOUSING)    

COMMUNITY SERVICES 

27 

  

(REGENERATION)  (NOTE: Regeneration incorporated 
within CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S/ Leisure incorporated within 
COMMUNITIES) 

61 

  

(TECHNICAL SERVICES)     

ENVIRONMENT 

67 

  

EDUCATION AND CHILDREN’S SERVICES 73 

  

 

Tudalen 22



 

3 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 

1.  INTRODUCTION 

 This Scheme of Delegation is maintained under Section 100G of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and lists the functions that have been delegated to particular 
officers by either the Council or the Executive Board Cabinet. These functions are 
delegated to officers by the Council under Sections 101 and 151 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and by the Executive Board Cabinet under Section 15 of the 
Local Government Act 2000. 

 All directors are authorised to make arrangements for the proper administration of 
the functions falling within their responsibility. 

 
1.1 The officers described in this Scheme may authorise officers in their 

Department/service area to exercise on their behalf, functions delegated to 
them. Any decisions taken under this authority shall remain the responsibility of 
the officer described in this Scheme and must be taken in the name of that 
officer, who shall remain accountable and responsible for such decisions. Each 
department shall maintain a record of these further delegations. 

 
1.2  The Scheme delegates powers and duties within broad functional descriptions 

and includes powers and duties under all legislation present and future within 
those descriptions.  Any reference to a specific statute includes any statutory 
extension or modification or re-enactment of such statute and any regulations, 
orders or bylaws made there under. 

 
1.3 In exercising delegated powers officers shall comply with: 

 
1.3.1  Any statutory provisions; 

 

1.3.2  The Council’s Constitution; 

1.3.3  The Council’s Policy Framework and Budget; 
 
1.3.4  The Officer’s Code of Conduct; 
 
1.3.5  The Code of Recommended Practice on local authority publicity in 

Wales; 
 
1.3.6  Agreed arrangements for recording decisions; 
 
1.3.7  Taking legal or other appropriate professional advice when required; 
 
1.3.8  The principles of Best Value by using the most efficient and effective 

means available; 

Tudalen 23



 

4 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
1.3.9. The need to consult persons or representatives of persons who may be 

affected by the decision, including where appropriate the local ward 
member. 

 
1.4 The Scheme does not delegate any matter which: 

 
1.4.1 Is reserved by law or by this Constitution to the full Council; or 
 
1.4.2  Which may not by law be delegated to an officer. 

1.5  The Scheme places an obligation on officers to keep the appropriate member(s) 
properly informed of decisions made under these delegations.  

 

 Where an officer makes a significant decision which is based upon a power 
delegated from the Executive Board Cabinet, that decision must be recorded 
and made available on request to overview and scrutiny committees, individual 
councillors and to the public, subject to any limitations on exempt or confidential 
information. 

 
1.6  It is always open to the Executive Board Cabinet or any Committee of the 

Council as appropriate to take decisions on any matter falling within the 
delegated power of an officer, provided that the matter is within their terms of 
reference. 

 
1.7  Where expenditure is involved, such action shall be conditional upon financial 

provision being included within the approved budget of the Council and 
Financial Procedure Rules being complied with. 

 
1.8  The Executive Board Cabinet will review from time to time as may be 

necessary the general operation of this Scheme of Delegation with any 
variation or amendment requiring the approval of the Council. 

 
1.9   Should the title of an officer be altered from that shown due to a re-organisation 

of departmental arrangements or any other reason, the approved delegated 
powers and duties shall be exercisable by the Chief Executive or the relevant 
Director or Head of Service, as the case may be, responsible for the function in 
question. 

 
1.10 In exercising these delegated powers the Chief Executive or the Director or 

Head of Service concerned shall have broad discretion subject to complying 
with all relevant legislation, the Council’s Constitution, Council Procedure Rules 
and Financial Procedure Rules and overall Council policy, to use the most 
efficient and effective means available, including the deployment of staffing and 
other resources within their control and the procurement of other resources 
necessary, whether within or outside the Council. 

Tudalen 24



 

5 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
1.11 Officers shall act so as to achieve for their service the policies and objectives of 

their service area, always having regard to the overall corporate interests of the 
Council. 

 
1.12 In exercising delegated powers, officers shall consult other officers as 

appropriate and shall have regard to any advice given. 
 
1.13 It shall always be open to an officer to consult an Executive Board a Cabinet 

Member, a Committee, or its Chair or Vice-chair before the exercise of the 
delegated powers. Where a particular matter under delegated authority gives 
the officer (or the relevant Executive Board Cabinet Member or Chair) cause 
for concern, it should be the subject of a report to the relevant Executive Board 
Cabinet Member or the Executive Board Cabinet or Committee. 

 

Tudalen 25



 

6 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

DELEGATED POWERS TO THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND ALL 
DIRECTORS 

General Powers 
 

 Determination of all matters which are not required to be considered by the 
Council or Executive Board Cabinet or which have not been referred to a 
committee or a sub-committee for determination. 

 Determination of any urgent matter in the purview of the Council, the Executive 
Board Cabinet or any committee where it is impractical to convene a meeting of 
that body to consider the matter. 

 To serve requisitions for information under Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 or any other enabling legislation. This power is also 
delegated to all Heads of Service.   

 To approve tenders or award contracts within the terms of the Council’s Contract 
Procedure Rules or Financial Regulations. 

 In any disputes or legal proceedings to have authority to take all action in relation 
to those disputes or proceedings and to prosecute pursue defend appeal 
abandon or settle those disputes or proceedings, as advised by the Head of 
Administration and Law. 

 To incur expenditure or take any other step in the day to day operation of Council 
services in accordance with approved budgets of any Service area. 

 To set all fees and charges, in consultation with the Head of Financial Services. 

 To approve draft recommendations contained in Ombudsman reports. 
 
To take action on behalf of the Council in consultation with the relevant Executive Board 
Cabinet Member in any urgent matter which does not allow for prior authorisation to be 
obtained  where: 
 

 There is a serious risk of significant cost to the Council of loss of income resulting 
from lack of immediate action; 

 The Council’s property or staff or persons in its care or for whom it has a 
responsibility would otherwise be placed at serious risk of suffering 
harm/damage; 

 An emergency or disaster involving destruction or danger to life or property 
occurs or is imminent or there is reasonable ground for apprehending such an 
emergency or disaster and such action in calculated to avert, alleviate or 
eradicate the effects or potential effects of the event. 

 
Legal Proceedings 
 
To instigate legal proceedings and enforce such legislation as may, from time to time, 
be his/her responsibility to enforce. To issue and serve statutory and other notices, to 
issue formal cautions, to take default action under all legislation relevant to their 
functional area and to authorise officers to appear on behalf of the Council before 
courts, tribunals, review boards and inquiries and also to sign all necessary documents 
and authorise entry to land in pursuance of statutory powers. 

Tudalen 26



 

7 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
Employment Tribunals and Employment Disputes 
 
To approve compromise settlements agreements in relation to any employment 
dispute, as advised by the Head of Administration and Law and the Assistant Chief 
Executive (PMP). 

 

Health & Safety at Work 
 
To be responsible for all matters in relation to Health and Safety at work as defined in 
the Corporate Health and Safety Policy and Arrangements for Implementation. 
 
The Chief Executive shall be entitled to determine any matter otherwise delegated to a 
Director in the event of that officer’s absence or refusal to exercise specific delegated 
powers. 
 
 
Proper Officer Functions 

Proper Officer functions under the Local Government Act 1972 are delegated as 
follows:-  

 To sign summonses to attend Council, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings-
The Chief Executive. 

 Section 88 - to convene a meeting of Council to fill a casual vacancy in the office 
of Chairman of the Council-The Chief Executive. 

 Section 100(B) (2)-to exclude reports or parts of reports from the right of public 
inspection-The Head of Administration and Law. 

 Section 225 – to receive and retain deposited documents-The Chief Executive. 

 Section 229(5) – to certify documents-The Chief Executive. 

 For all matters arising out of Part VA of the Local Government Act 1972 (Access 
to Information) or the Local Government Act 2000-The Chief Executive. 

 
Other proper officer functions: 

 To issue determinations consents licences or notices within the Terms of 
Reference of the Planning Committee -The Director of Technical Services 
Environment or the Head of Planning Place and Sustainability. 

 To issue determinations consents licences or notices on behalf of the Council-
The Chief Executive or any relevant Director or Head of Service. 

 To sign any documents on behalf of the Council relating to land-The Chief 
Executive or the Head of Administration and Law. 

 To attest the Common Seal of the Council as the officer authorised under the 
Council’s Standing Orders-The Chief Executive or the Head of Administration 
and Law. 

 To sign any contractual documents on behalf of the Council relating to any 
matter-The Chief Executive, the Head of Administration and Law or any relevant 
Director or Head of Service, subject (as appropriate) to that officer advising and 
obtaining approval from the Head of Administration and Law of the proposed 
signing of such document in advance of such signing. 

Tudalen 27



 

8 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 

 The Registration of Births, Deaths and Marriages-The Chief Executive. 

 To receive declarations of acceptance of Office by County Councillors and Co-
opted Members of the Council’s Committees-The Chief Executive and the Head 
of Administration and Law.  

 

 In relation to any other proper officer function not allocated to other officers - The 
Chief Executive and the Head of Administration and Law. 
 

 
Staffing 
 
To determine all matters relating to the staffing, structures, employment, conditions of 
service, development and welfare of employees of the County Council in accordance 
with National and Local Conditions of Service and policies and procedures.  
 

 
Appointments 
 
To make appointments within the authorised establishment, other than in relation to 
Heads of Service, in accordance with the appropriate Recruitment and Selection, 
Criminal Records Bureau, Welsh Language Scheme policies and other relevant policies 
and procedures of the County Council. 
 
To determine starting salaries within the grade or grades of a post having regard to 
equal pay, qualifications and experience, subject to approval by the Assistant Chief 
Executive (Organisational Development People Management & Performance). 
 

 
Gradings 
 
All grades of posts will be determined by the Assistant Chief Executive (Organisational 
Development People Management & Performance) using the approved job evaluation 
process.  
 
To approve progression beyond the bar of a scale subject to the post holder meeting 
the necessary criteria. 
 
To authorise accelerated increments within an officer’s scale on the grounds of special 
merit or ability, subject to the maximum of the scale not being exceeded, in consultation 
with the Assistant Chief Executive (Organisational Development People Management 
& Performance).  
 
To award performance related payments to Heads of Service in accordance with the 
authority’s performance appraisal scheme, subject to approval by the Chief Executive.  
Actual payments will be authorised by the Assistant Chief Executive (Organisational 
Development People Management * Performance). 

Tudalen 28



 

9 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
Staffing Structures/Posts 
 
To approve changes to their departmental structures where they are within approved 
budgets in accordance with all relevant HR Policies and Procedures of the County 
Council, following agreement with the Assistant Chief Executive (Organisational 
Development People Management & Performance) where a business case has been 
established. 
 
To approve the deletion of posts or the creation of new posts subject to approval of the 
grade and conditions of service by the Assistant Chief Executive (Organisational 
Development People Management & Performance). 
 

 
Alternative Working Arrangements 
 
To develop and implement alternative working arrangements in line with corporate 
developments and following consultation with the Assistant Chief Executive 
(Organisational Development People Management & Performance). 
 
To determine internal or interdepartmental secondments where operationally desirable 
and in consultation with the Assistant Chief Executive (Organisational Development 
People Management & Performance). 
 
To agree external secondments to recognised partner organisations subject to 
operational exigencies. 
 
 
Temporary Staff 
 
To engage temporary or casual staff for the temporary replacement of existing staff 
absent on long term sickness, maternity leave etc. and in consultation with the Assistant 
Chief Executive (Organisational Development People Management & Performance ). 
 
To engage temporary or casual staff additional to the authorised establishment to meet 
exceptional needs for a period of up to twelve months, subject to the Recruitment and 
Selection Policy and in consultation with the Assistant Chief Executive (Organisational 
Development People Management & Performance). 
 
To approve the creation of temporary posts which are fully funded by external agencies 
e.g. Government Departments, NAFW The Senedd, Welsh Government etc. in 
consultation with the Assistant Chief Executive (Organisational Development People 
Management & Performance). 
 
The above will be subject to evaluation of grades and conditions by the Assistant Chief 
Executive (Organisational Development People Management & Performance). 
 

 
Leave 
 

Tudalen 29



 

10 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

To grant leave, special leave with or without pay and parental leave without pay in 
accordance with National Conditions of Service as supplemented by Local Conditions of 
Service Policies and Procedure 
 
Compassionate Leave 
 
At the discretion of the Chief Officer the provision for compassionate leave for each 
instance of death or serious illness of immediate family be extended up to five days paid 
leave from three days paid leave.  
 
Authority to allow unpaid leave of absence on compassionate grounds of up to three 
months. 
 

 
Payments for Additional Duties 
 
To approve and process for payment, Honoraria or Acting Up Allowances to Officers 
temporarily undertaking high graded duties, subject to consultation with the Assistant 
Chief Executive (Organisational Development People Management & Performance). 
 

 
Relocation and Excess Travel Allowances 
 
To authorise the payment of re-location and excess travel allowances to employees 
appointed to permanent posts in accordance with the Local Conditions of Services. 
 

 
Post Entry Training 
 
To authorise the attendance of employees on courses of study and to authorise the 
payment of course fees etc. in accordance with the Authority’s post entry training 
scheme. 
 

 
Car/Telephone Designations 
 
To approve car/telephone designations in consultation with the Assistant Chief 
Executive (Organisational Development People Management & Performance). 
 
 
Discipline 
 
To initiate suspension of employees, in accordance with the Authority’s Disciplinary 
Procedure or the JNC for Chief Officers Disciplinary Rules in consultation with the 
Assistant Chief Executive (Organisational Development People Management & 
Performance). 
 
 
An individual’s employment with the Authority be terminated following Officer 
Disciplinary Hearings or Member Appeal Hearings subject to the involvement of the 

Tudalen 30



 

11 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

Assistant Chief Executive (Organisational Development People Management & 
Performance) as set out in the Local Conditions of Service Policies and Procedures. 
 
 
Press and Media Enquiries  
 
The Director to be the Department’s nominated officer for press and media enquiries of 
a strategic nature and Heads of Service to be the department’s nominated officers for 
service specific issues. 
 
 

Tudalen 31



 

12 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 

Tudalen 32



 

13 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

The Chief Executive shall be the Head of Paid Service under Section 4 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989, haveing responsibility for the following functions:  
 
General 
 

 the strategic direction and management of the Council; 
 

 the manner in which the discharge of the various functions of the Council are 
discharged; 

 

 the numbers and grades of staff required by the Council to discharge its 
functions; 

 

 the organisation appointment and proper management of the Council's staff; 
 

 acting as Returning Officer and Electoral Registration Officer for local 
government, National Assembly for Wales The Senedd and Parliamentary and 
European elections; 

 

 amending election fees for Local Authority elections following the annual NJC 
pay award or a review of relevant fees by the Home Office; 

 

 those powers and duties relating to election functions that are delegated to the 
Head of Paid Service by the Council, as set out in part D of table 1 in Part 3 of 
this Constitution; 

 

 in consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair of Council, in accordance with 
section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972 to grant approval on behalf of the 
County Council for members’ absence where the reason is related to ill health. 
(However, in the event of a member being absent for a period of 12 months since 
the leave of absence was granted then the situation be reported to the Council 
for consideration.) 
 
 

Tudalen 33



 

14 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
Staffing Issues 
 
To approve and sign Certificates of Opinion to accompany applications to the 
Independent Adjudicator for exempting officers from the application of the political 
restriction rules in the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 
 
To award performance related payments to Directors in accordance with the Council’s 
performance appraisal scheme. Actual payments will be authorised by the Assistant 
Chief Executive (People Management & Performance).  
 
To extend the Council’s Single Status Severance Scheme beyond 31st March 2013, if 
required (CC 07/03/12). 
 
Investigating Panel 
 
To appoint, in consultation with the Leaders of the Political Groups, 5 members to serve 
on the Investigating Panel for JNC Officer disciplinary issues. 
 
Annual Statement of Internal Control 
 
To act as the Council Officer nominated to sign the Annual Statement of Internal Control 
following formal approval by the Audit Committee. 
 
Dispersal Order 
 
Delegated authority be vested in the Chief Executive in respect of Dispersal Orders 
 
Council Diary of Meetings 
 
To prepare and implement the Council’s programme of ordinary meetings. 
(CC09/06/10) 
 
Single Status Severance Scheme (Removed due to Duplication) 
 
The Chief Executive authorised to grant further extension to the scheme if required. 
CC07/03/12 
 
Councillors’ and Co-opted Members’ Allowances  -  Care Allowance Scheme 
 
Delegated authority to increase the reimbursement of care provided by family members 
and friends, in line with increases in the appropriate minimum wage rate per hour and 
the Council’s prescribed rate paid to “responsible siblings” by the same percentage 
level. 
 
Delegated authority in consultation with the Leader to approve and publish the Council’s 
Schedule of Members’ Remuneration.  CC adjourned Meeting 01/06/12 
 
 
Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005 
 

Tudalen 34



 

15 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

Delegated authority to make representations on behalf of the Council acting in its 
capacity as a responsible authority. 
 

 
 
POWERS DELEGATED TO THE HEAD OF ADMINISTRATION AND LAW 
 
The Head of Administration and Law shall be authorised to exercise the following 
functions: 
 
Monitoring Officer 
 
To be the Monitoring Officer for the County Council under Section 5 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989, with power to designate another officer to act as 
Monitoring Officer in the event of his absence. 
 
To be responsible for undertaking Stage 2 determinations on behalf of the Dyfed 
Pension Fund. 
 
Head of Administration and Law 
 
To act as Head of Profession for legal functions. 
 
Legal Agreements and Contracts (excluding land) 
 
To sign or attest the seal of the County Council in respect of any contract or legal 
agreement.   
 
Legal Agreements and Contracts relating to Land 
 
To sign agreements relating to all land transactions and also authority to delegate that 
power to individual officers in other departments or service areas on such terms and 
conditions as may be specified.  
 
Litigation 
 
To defend or arrange for the defence of any actions, claims, or proceedings brought 
against the Council and to incur any necessary expenditure in relation to the legal 
processes involved including (but not limited to) expenditure in relation to the retention 
of external advisers including Counsel, experts and external legal advisers and settle 
claims for damages (including making payments into Court where necessary), subject to 
consultation where time allows with the appropriate service director, with a report on 
action taken being submitted to the appropriate Executive Board Cabinet Member 
meeting where the settlement figure exceeds £100,000. To agree the amount of and 
pay a claimant’s legal costs in relation to claims settled up to £30,000 in respect of any 
one claim. 
 
To authorise the payment of damages and legal costs arising as a result of a Court 
Order against the Council, to the sum or sums specified in the Court Order. 
 

Tudalen 35



 

16 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

To institute any legal proceedings for the furtherance of the Council's functions, 
including proceedings for an injunction, where it is necessary for such proceedings to be 
commenced as a matter of urgency in order to prevent danger or injury to Council staff 
or members of the public, to protect Council land and property, to maintain essential 
services, or for any other purpose where the Council or the public will be seriously 
prejudiced if such action is not taken, and to settle such proceedings subject to 
consultation where time allows with the appropriate service director, with a report on 
action taken being submitted to the appropriate Executive Board Cabinet Member 
meeting where the settlement figure exceeds £100,000. 
 
To provide and accept any undertakings or deal with any other ancillary matter required 
by the Court during the course of such proceedings. 
 
To settle Employment Tribunal cases subject to consultation where time allows with the 
appropriate service director and the Assistant Chief Executive (PMP).  
 
Indemnities 
 
To authorise indemnities where they are required to enable the Council to exercise any 
of its functions provided that where the giving of an indemnity could have exceptional 
financial implications, the matter shall be referred to the appropriate Member of the 
Executive Board Cabinet. 
 
Retention of Counsel 
 
To seek Counsel’s Opinion or other expert advice and to retain Counsel or other experts 
whenever this is considered to be appropriate. 
 
External Legal Advice 
 
To procure external legal advice and support in relation to any proceedings or matter 
involving the County Council, or a company or partnership in which the County Council 
has an interest where that is considered to be appropriate. 
 
Legal Costs 
 
To settle the amount of vendors’ legal costs based on the Solicitors Remuneration 
Order 1972. 
 
Blight Notices 
 
To accept legally binding Blight Notices served on the Council and conforming with the 
requirements of Section 150 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, requiring the 
Council to purchase property and land, and to serve Counter Notices where necessary. 
 
Interest in Land 
 
In consultation with the appropriate Director(s) or Head of Service(s) dealing with the 
matter in respect of which the information is required to serve Notices under Section 16 
of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, on persons requiring 
them to furnish particulars of any interest they may have in land. 

Tudalen 36



 

17 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
Law of Property Act 1925  

Head of Housing Services Homes and Safer Communities, Head of Planning Place 
and Sustainability, Head of Public Protection and Head of Administration and Law to 
instigate the necessary action to bring about an enforced sale, including the disposal of 
the property. 

 
Commons Registration 
 
To consider and determine on their legal merits applications for the registration of 
Common Land and Village Greens brought under the Commons Registration Act 1965 
including the appointment of an inspector and the holding of a public inquiry when 
advised to do so by Counsel.  
 
Court Appearances 
 
Under Section 223 Local Government Act 1972 to prosecute, defend or appear on 
behalf of the Carmarthenshire County Council in proceedings before the Magistrates’ 
Court 
 
Under Section 60 County Courts Act 1984 to conduct on behalf of the Council actions in 
the County Court for both of the following: 
 

 the recovery of possession of houses belonging to the Council; 
 

 the recovery of any rent, mesne profits, damages or other sum claimed by the  
Council in respect of the occupation by any person of such a house. 

 
Local Settlement of Complaints 
 
To approve draft recommendations contained in Ombudsman reports. 
 
To approve suitable and appropriate payments in settlement of complaints against the 
Council and in local settlement of Ombudsman complaints, such payments to be made  
from the appropriate service budget following consultation with the relevant service 
director.  
 
Children Protection at Work Regulations 1998 (as amended) 
 
To take all relevant procedural steps in order to invoke any necessary byelaws. 
 
Traffic Management Act 2004 
 
To reconsider matters referred back to the Council by the Parking Adjudication Service. 
 
School Appeals Panels 
 
To appoint members of an independent appeals panel to determine: 
 
(a) appeals against the permanent exclusion of a child from school; 

Tudalen 37



 

18 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

(b) appeals against refusal to admit a pupil to a school; 
(c) appeals by governing bodies against decisions by or on behalf of the Council to 
admit to the school a child to whom Section 87(2) of the Schools Standards and 
Framework Act 1988 applies. 
 
 
Powers Delegated to the Head of Regeneration  

 
The functions associated with the delivery of the Council’s responsibilities for economic 
development and regeneration including the approval of any grant that falls within these 
functions and, including (but not limited to) the functions described below. 
 
Business Support/Implementation Mechanism 
 
In consultation with the Director of Corporate Services to consider each application 
according to agreed criteria. 
 
Business, Community or Regeneration Related Grants Programmes 
 
To award grants of up to a maximum of £5,000 £10,000 under the above programmes. 
 

Western Valleys Sustainable Hubs Project 

Chief Executive and Head of Regeneration subject to consultation with the Grant 
Advisory Panel, to approve grants of up to £25,000 in relation to applications arising out 
of the Western Valleys Sustainable Hubs Community Regeneration project.  
 
Local Investment Fund 
 
Chief Executive and Head of Regeneration authorised to award grants under the Local 
Investment Fund up to a maximum of £35,000.   
(CC 09/11/11) 
 
Dyfed Welsh Church Fund 
To make grant awards from the Welsh Church Fund. 
 
 
Valuations 
The Head of Regeneration’s certified valuation is accepted for all property transactions 
subject to Council policy as to whether an individual asset is to be disposed, acquired or 
leased. 

 
Acquisitions 

 
To acquire land for any purpose, subject to the policy of the property requirement being 
in place and to instruct the Head of Administration and Law to prepare appropriate 
documentation in relation to any agreement. 
 
Authorised in consultation with the Corporate Management Team and the appropriate 
Executive Board Cabinet Member(s) to purchase small areas of derelict land or derelict 
buildings which have the potential to become saleable assets in the future (or to be 

Tudalen 38



 

19 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

used by the council), or where ownership of the land will enable clearance work to be 
carried out to improve the environment.  (In accordance with the terms of reference of 
the Derelict Land Fund). 

 
Notices 
 
To accept and serve notices required under the Agricultural Holdings or any Landlord 
and Tenants Acts governing the management of rural and urban estates. 
 
Legal Agreements 
 
To complete Wayleave, Easement and tenancy and licence agreements, where it falls 
within a category of transaction agreed with the Head of Administration and Law as 
being appropriate for signing, rather than execution under the Council’s common seal. 
 
Planning Applications 
 
To submit planning applications in respect of land, to assess its development potential 
prior to sale, or to carry out a development on behalf of the Authority. 
 
Appropriation of Land 
 
To appropriate land for any purpose under the provisions of Section 122 of the Local 
Government Act 1972, subject to any statutory limitations and to the written agreement 
of the relevant Director or Head of Service who has responsibility for the land prior to its 
appropriation.  
 
Disposals   

 
To dispose of land and buildings no longer required for Council functions, save that 
decisions relating to the disposal of Strategic land and buildings which will have a major 
effect on the commercial activity of an area shall be reserved to the Executive Board 
Cabinet.   In both cases there shall be a requirement to consult with local members. 
 
To dispose of freehold reversions of residential dwellings as required. 
 
To agree reserve / asking prices and the most appropriate method of property 
marketing / disposal. 
 
To instruct the Head of Administration and Law to prepare appropriate documentation in 
relation to any agreement. 
 
Lettings 
 
To approve requests for the assignment of leases and the underletting and sub-letting 
of property where consent for such requests cannot reasonably be withheld and to 
instruct the Head of Administration & Law to prepare the appropriate documentation in 
relation to any such consents.  

 
To let property (lettings to include seasonal licenses and concessions), such property to 
include commercial, industrial and rural estates, livestock and provisions markets, 

Tudalen 39



 

20 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

surplus or non-operational property etc. and to sign such letting agreements where it 
falls within a category of transaction agreed with the Head of Administration and Law as 
being appropriate for signing, rather than execution under the Council’s common seal.   

 
To instruct the Head of Administration and Law to terminate, repossess and recover 
property and any monies due. 

 
To accept surrender of existing interest and re-grant of longer letting periods at revised 
terms. 
 
To negotiate and agree appropriate tenant’s improvements. 

 
Adverse Possession and boundary disputes 
 
To instruct the Head of Administration and Law to recover possession of trespassed 
land and to resolve boundary disputes affecting Council owned land and property. 
 
 
Disputes 
 
To attend Courts, tribunals and alternative dispute resolution hearings to settle property 
disputes, including statutory land compensation matters. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                             

Tudalen 40



 

21 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
 
 
 
 

                   CORPORATE SERVICES 
 
 
 
 

RESOURCES 
 

 
 

Tudalen 41



 

22 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
The Director of Resources Corporate Services shall have delegated authority for the 
exercise of all Council powers relating to the following matters: 
 
 
PROPERTY RELATED ISSUES – (MOVED TO CEX / HEAD OF REGENERATION) 

Valuations 

 
The Head of Corporate Property’s certified valuation is accepted for all property 
transactions subject to Council policy as to whether an individual asset is to be 
disposed, acquired or leased. 

 
Acquisitions 

 
To acquire land for any purpose, subject to the policy of the property requirement being 
in place and to instruct the Head of Administration and Law to prepare appropriate 
documentation in relation to any agreement. 
 
Authorised in consultation with the Corporate Management Team and the appropriate 
Executive Board Member(s) to purchase small areas of derelict land or derelict buildings 
which have the potential to become saleable assets in the future (or to be used by the 
council), or where ownership of the land will enable clearance work to be carried out to 
improve the environment.  (In accordance with the terms of reference of the Derelict 
Land Fund). 

 
Notices 
 
To accept and serve notices required under the Agricultural Holdings or any Landlord 
and Tenants Acts governing the management of rural and urban estates. 
 
Legal Agreements 
 
To complete Wayleave Easement and tenancy agreements, where it falls within a 
category of transaction agreed with the Head of Administration and Law as being 
appropriate for signing, rather than execution under the Council’s common seal. 
 
Planning Applications 
 
To submit planning applications in respect of land, to assess its development potential 
prior to sale, or to carry out a development on behalf of the Authority. 
 
Appropriation of Land 
 
To appropriate land for any purpose under the provisions of Section 122 of the Local 
Government Act 1972, subject to any statutory limitations and to the written agreement 
of the relevant Director or Head of Service who has responsibility for the land prior to its 
appropriation.  
 

Tudalen 42



 

23 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

Disposals   
 

To dispose of land and buildings no longer required for Council functions, save that 
decisions relating to the disposal of Strategic land and buildings which will have a major 
effect on the commercial activity of an area shall be reserved to the Executive Board.   
In both cases there shall be a requirement to consult with local members. 
 
To dispose of freehold reversions of residential dwellings as required. 
 
To agree reserve / asking prices and the most appropriate method of property 
marketing / disposal. 
 
To instruct the Head of Administration and Law to prepare appropriate documentation in 
relation to any agreement. 
 
Lettings 
 
To approve requests for the assignment of leases and the underletting and sub-letting 
of property where consent for such requests cannot reasonably be withheld and to 
instruct the Head of Administration & Law to prepare the appropriate documentation in 
relation to any such consents.  

 
To let property (lettings to include seasonal licenses and concessions), such property to 
include commercial, industrial and rural estates, livestock and provisions markets, 
surplus or non-operational property etc. and to sign such letting agreements where it 
falls within a category of transaction agreed with the Head of Administration and Law as 
being appropriate for signing, rather than execution under the Council’s common seal.   

 
To instruct the Head of Administration and Law to terminate, repossess and recover 
property and any monies due. 

 
To accept surrender of existing interest and re-grant of longer letting periods at revised 
terms. 
 
To negotiate and agree appropriate tenant’s improvements. 

 
Adverse Possession and boundary disputes 
 
To instruct the Head of Administration and Law to recover possession of trespassed 
land and to resolve boundary disputes affecting Council owned land and property. 
 
 
Disputes 
 
To attend Courts, tribunals and alternative dispute resolution hearings to settle property 
disputes, including statutory land compensation matters. 

Tudalen 43



 

24 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

FINANCIAL RELATED SERVICES 
 
Council Tax and Housing Benefit 
 
To undertake the following: 
 
Local Government Finance Act 1992 (unless indicated otherwise) 
 
· To collect the Council Tax - Para. 1 
· To determine liability to the Tax - Paras. 6,7 
· To determine liability of owners - Para. 8(3) 
· To determine joint and several liability - Paras. 8,9 
· To determine and allow discounts - Para. 11 Schedule 1 
· To determine reductions for disabled people - Para. 1 
· To consider and respond to notices from aggrieved persons (regarding  
· liability and any calculations) - Para.  16 
· To hold the Valuation List on deposit for public inspection and provide information on 

the contents of past lists - Paras.22,28 
· To provide information required by the Listing Officer (Valuation Officer) for the 

purpose of maintaining the List - Para. 27 
· To impose penalties on persons for failure to supply information or to knowingly 

supply false information. Schedule 3. 
· To quash penalties. Schedule 3. 
· To require information from individuals and public bodies  
· To approve individual Council Tax reduction applications in accordance with 

approved guidelines. 
 
Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement Regulations 1992 as amended) 
 
· To notify persons concerned of the valuation of the relevant property 
· To ascertain and determine Exempt Dwellings and to notify the relevant persons 
· To serve demand notices 
· To serve reminder notices 
· To serve adjustment notices 
· To collect penalties 
· To apply for a Liability Order 
· To make an Attachment of Earnings Order 
· To make an Attachment of Allowances Order 
 
Council Tax Valuation & Liability Appeals 
 
To represent the Council at Local Valuation Tribunal hearings dealing with Council Tax 
appeals (Section 16 Local Government Finance Act, 1992). 
 
Housing Benefit & Council Tax Benefit 
 
To undertake all functions relating to the assessment, administration and payment of 
Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit. 

Tudalen 44



 

25 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

Housing Benefit & Council Benefit Payments - Discretionary Housing Payments & 
Irrecoverable Overpayments 
 
To award Discretionary Housing Payments in respect of Housing Benefit & Council Tax 
Benefit (The Discretionary Financial Assistance Regulations 2001 - SI.1167 & 2340). 
 
To determine irrecoverable overpayments of Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit 
[Regulation 100, Housing Benefit (General) Regulations 1987 and Regulation 85 of the 
Council Tax Benefit (General) Regulations 1992]. 
 
Housing Benefit Cheques  
 

 Authorised signatories in respect of Housing Benefit cheques up to a value of 
£400. 

 Authorised to “open” housing benefit cheques up to £400. 
 
Prosecution Proceedings & Fraud Sanctions - Housing Benefit and Council Tax 
Benefit Fraud 
 
To instigate prosecution proceedings in relation to Housing Benefits and Council Tax 
Benefit fraud, in accordance with the authority’s agreed prosecution policy. 
 
To impose formal Cautions or Administrative Penalties in relation to Housing Benefits 
and Council Tax Benefit fraud. 
 
Benefit Appeals 
 
To represent the Council at Appeals Service Benefit Hearings [Housing Benefit and 
Council Tax Benefit (Decisions & Appeals) Regulations 2001]. 
 
Fraud Investigations 
 
To issue Certificates of Authorisation to qualifying officers within the Fraud Investigation 
Unit, to enable them to become authorised officers, in accordance with Section 109 of 
the Social Security Administration Act 1992. 
 
Non-Domestic Rates & Other Revenues  
 
To undertake all functions relating to the assessment, administration, collection and 
recovery of Non-Domestic Rates, and Sundry Debt due to the Authority. 
 

Tudalen 45



 

26 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

Mandatory and Discretionary Rate Relief 
[Local Government Finance Act 1988 (unless otherwise stated)] 
 
To: 
 
· Award mandatory rate relief to those businesses that qualify, Sec. 43(5) & 43(6a) 

 
· Award discretionary Rural Rate Relief in accordance with current Council policy. 

Sec. 47(2a) & (2b) and 47(3a) & (3b) 
 

· Award the appropriate level of discretionary relief to charitable and other non-profit 
making organisations in accordance with current Council policy 

 
· Grant rate reductions for Partly Occupied Property in accordance with Valuation 

Officer certificates Sec. 44a, 
 
Recovery Proceedings at Magistrates' Court 
 
To represent the Council at proceedings at Magistrates’ Court for recovery of Council 
Tax and Non-Domestic Rates (Section 223, Local Government Act, 1972). 
 
To lay a Complaint for Liability Order in respect of unpaid Council Tax, Non-Domestic 
Rates and residual Community Charges under the following Regulations: 
 

Part VI of Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) Regulations, 1992. 
 
Part III of Non-Domestic Rating (Collection and Enforcement) Regulations, 1989. 
 
Part IV of Community Charges (Administration and Enforcement) Regulations, 
1989. 

 
Recovery of Commercial Rents  
 
To instruct bailiffs in the recovery of commercial rents (common law rights). 
 
Recovery Proceedings at County Court 
 
To represent the Council at proceedings at County Court for the recovery of Sundry 
Debts. 
 
Local Government Reorganisation - Dyfed Debts 
 
To write off pre Local Government Reorganisation Dyfed Debts. 

Tudalen 46



 

27 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
Irrecoverable Debts 
 
To write off irrecoverable debts of value less than £1,500.  
 
To write off debts where the debtor is bankrupt, in liquidation or in administrative 
receivership. 
 
Pensions Administration 
 
In accordance with The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 or 
subsequent amending legislation: 
 
To collect employee and employer contributions from participating employers; 
To make payments in respect of scheme benefits; 
To collect and make pension transfer payments as elected by scheme members; 
To determine non policy related discretions as an Employing/Administering Pension 
Authority; 
To undertake Stage 1 determinations on disputes arising form the Local Government 
Pensions Scheme or related legislation. 
 
Treasury Management and Banking 
 
To implement and monitor the Treasury Management Policy and Strategy. 
 
The execution and administration of Treasury Management decisions in accordance 
with the Council's policy statement and Treasury Management Policies and CIPFA's 
Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury Management. 
 
To borrow and invest money in accordance with the Treasury Management Policy and 
Strategy and with the Investment Strategy. 
 
To change the balance between borrowing and other long term liabilities. 
 
To remove organisations from or lower the investment limits stated on the "Schedule of 
Approved Organisations for Investment Purposes" in appendix B of the Treasury 
Management Policy and Strategy where credit ratings change.  
  
To open and close bank and building society accounts for investment purposes, and to 
enter into a banking contract. 
 

Payments made in EUROS or other non-Sterling Currencies 
 
To evaluate the relative advantage of discounts offered for payments made in EUROS 
or other non Sterling currencies and to make decisions on paying in Sterling or Euros 
other currencies based on such evaluations . 

Tudalen 47



 

28 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
Technical and Prudential Indicators 
 
To enter into finance leases, operating leases, loan agreements and other credit 
arrangements on behalf of the Authority. 
 
To monitor the Prudential Indicators in an appropriate manner and to recommend 
revisions to Indicators where appropriate. 
 

Capital Receipts 
 
To switch funding of capital receipts between the Objective 1 schemes and other 
approved schemes as necessary, in order to fulfil the aspirations of Council. 
 
Objective Match 1 Capital Grant Funding  
To amend the Authority’s Capital Programme in accordance with available funding. 
Where additional in year Capital Grant is made available by third parties, 
delegation is provided in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Resources to 
amend the Authority’s Capital programme in accordance with available funding 
(with the additional funds being retrospectively reported to Cabinet)  
 
Authorised Signatories 
 
Authorised signatory for transactions relating to Carmarthenshire County Council. 
 
Cheque Signatories 
 
To sign cheques and other financial instruments on behalf of Carmarthenshire County 
Council. 
 
Renewal of Insurance Policies 
 
To negotiate and agree renewal terms with an Insurer, provided that the Agreement 
does not run longer than the maximum Contract Period (Long Term Agreement) agreed 
at the commencement of the Policy. 
 
Where there is a proposal to extend outside the maximum length of any Long Term 
Agreement, the Director of Resources Corporate Services will seek the approval of the 
Executive Board Cabinet Member.  
 
Insurance Policies and Settlements 
Policies 
 
To arrange appropriate insurance cover to minimise the Authority's exposure to losses. 
 
Liability Claims 
 
To approve offers of "Out of Court" settlements on Liability Claims on the 
recommendation of the Authority's Insurers, nominated Liability Claims Handlers or the 
Solicitors instructed to defend the relevant claim. 
 

Tudalen 48



 

29 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

Property Damage Claims 
 
To approve settlements of Property Claims as recommended by the Authority's Property 
Loss Adjustors. 
 
Small Claims Procedure 
 
To settle Personal Property Damage Claims received from members of the public 
(excluding Members and employees) up to a maximum of £250* per claim. Claims 
involving Personal Injury or claims arising from an incident which may give rise to a 
number of potentially similar claims will be forwarded to the nominated Claims Handlers 
 

 The £250 maximum be subject to an increase in line with RPI. 
 
Approval of Indemnity Claims for Members and Officers up to £5000 
 
In consultation with the Monitoring Officer, to approve indemnity claims that are not 
covered by the Council’s insurance policy, up to a maximum of £5,000. 
 
Employment Tribunal Settlements 
 
To make payments in respect of compromise settlements agreed by the Chief Executive 
/ relevant Directors / Heads of Service in respect of Employment Tribunals. 
 
Welsh Church Fund 
 
Authorised signatory. 
 
Coroners’ Removal Expenses 
 
To increase fees in line with inflation. 
 
Letters of Administration 
 
To apply for Letters of Administration on behalf of the Authority. 
 
Boarding Out Allowances to Foster Carers 
 
Following consultation with the Director of Social Care & Housing Community Services 
to review and agree upon the level of annual increases in boarding out allowances to be 
paid to foster carers. 
 
Business Support / Implementation Mechanism 
 
Following consultation with the Director of Regeneration Head of Regeneration to 
consider each application according to agreed criteria. 
 
Cwm Environmental Limited  
 
To exercise the functions for which the Council are responsible under the Memorandum 
and Articles of Association of the Company. 

Tudalen 49



 

30 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
To jointly agree with the Director of Technical Services the authority for CWM 
Environmental Limited, to annually appoint Auditors and enter into transactions in 
excess of £25,000.00. (now within Shareholders Board)  
 
Llanelli Joint Venture 
 
To negotiate any further interim loans pending targeted and contractually committed 
receipts. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 50



 

31 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

(SOCIAL CARE, HEALTH AND HOUSING) 
 

COMMUNITY SERVICES 
 

Tudalen 51



 

32 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

SOCIAL CARE 
 
The Director of Social Care, Health and Housing* Community Services shall have 
delegated authority for the exercise of all powers relating to the functions of the County 
Council as Social Services Authority and under the enactments specified in Schedule 1 
to the Local Authority Social Services Act, 1970 (as amended) and the Social Services 
Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014. 
 
 
Adult Services 
The powers of the Director of Social Care, Health and Housing Community Services  
for adults shall include: 
 

 The assessment of need of individuals, and the Care Management of all people 
who are eligible for support from public funds, as specified in the NHS and 
Community Care Act 1990 and the Mental Health Act 1983 as amended and 
where applicable the Mental Capacity Act 2005. 

 

 The assessment of need for Carers in accordance with the Carers (Recognition 
and Services) Act, 1995, the Carers and Disabled Children Act 2000 and the 
Carers (Equal Opportunities) Act, 2004.  

 

 Meeting the assessed needs of individuals either through direct provision or by 
commissioning from the independent Sector or other agencies or bodies in 
respect of the following: 

 
Residential Care   
Non Residential Services 
Occupational Therapy 
Provision of Aids and Equipment 
Employment Services 
Social work Services 
Grants to Organisations/Individuals 
Adaptations 
Community Meals 
Transport 
Direct Payments 
Supported Living 
Any other service which is ancillary to the above or which may meet the 
assessed needs of a service user and which is permissible by statute 

 

 Authority to make arrangements and/or enter into contracts for Social Care 
services. 

 

 Responsibility for the day to day management of premises required by the 
Council for the delivery of such services. 

 

 Authorisation and appointment of Approved Social Workers and Approved 
Mental Health Professionals for the purposes of the Mental Health Act 1983 
as amended. 

 

Tudalen 52



 

33 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 Approval and payment of grants to organisations. 

Tudalen 53



 

34 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 Collection and recovery of charges for services provided and/or 
commissioned. 

 

 Acting as agent or broker on behalf of another public body or government 
agency. 

 

 Facilitating and managing services on behalf of National Health Service 
bodies. 

 

 Planning, training and professional development of Social Services 
workforce. 

 

 To make decisions in individual cases where the legislation, regulations, 
statutory guidance allowed discretion or was unclear, and that he/she be 
authorised to delegate that responsibility to suitable senior officers, as 
appropriate, to ensure issues were dealt with efficiently  and without 
unnecessary delay (Residential Social Services – Practice and Policy) 

 
*The Director of Social Care, Health and Housing Community Services has delegated 
all his statutory functions relating to children and young people to the Head of Children’s 
Services. The Director of Education and Children’s Services has also delegated certain 
of his statutory functions relating to children and young people to the Head of Children’s 
Services, as further described in this Scheme.  
 
Care of expectant and nursing mothers and young children. 
 
The Approval and payment of grants to outside bodies organisations. 
 
 
 
PUBLIC PROTECTION FUNCTIONS 
 
All the functions of the Council relating to public protection are delegated to the Director 
of Social Care, Health and Housing Community Services and to the Head of Public 
Protection, Homes and Safer Communities including (but not limited to) all the 
functions listed below. 
 
Authority to the Head of Public Protection to act as a Proper Officer in respect of: 
 

Food Safety Act 1990; 
Local Government Act, 1972 - S’s 112, 204, 213, 234 & Sch 25; 
Public Health Acts, 1936 – 1961; 
Licensing Act 2003. 

 
Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Driver’s Licence or Dual Driver’s Licence   
 
To determine uncontested applications submitted for a hackney carriage or private hire 
driver’s licence or dual driver’s licence. 
 
Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005 
 

Tudalen 54



 

35 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

Delegated authority to make representations on behalf of the Council acting in its 
capacity as a responsible authority. 
 
European Union Regulations 
 
To enforce the provisions of the following EU Regulations: 

 
Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 
Regulation (EC) No 852/2004 
Regulation (EC) No 853/2004 
Regulation (EC) No 854/2004  
(Made under the Treaty establishing the European Community and a number of 
EU Directives)  
 
General Food Regulations 2004  
(Made under the Food Safety Act, 1990 and the European Communities Act, 
1972) 
 
Food Hygiene (Wales) Regulations 2006 
(Made under the European Communities Act, 1972) 

 
Extent of Delegation 
 
Where it is considered to be expedient for the promotion or protection of the interests of 
the inhabitants of the area, the powers contained in Sections 222 of the Local 
Government Act, 1972, to prosecute or defend legal proceedings and to make 
representations at any public inquiry, are delegated to the Director of Social Care, 
Health and Housing Community Services, Head of Public Protection Homes and 
Safer Communities and Officers of the Department that use specific delegated 
authority granted by Council, subject to the agreement of the Head of Administration 
and Law.  
 
Works in Default 
 
To initiate and make arrangements for the execution of works in default. 
 
General Authorisation to Enforce Acts and Regulations or Orders Made Under the 
Acts 
 
Authority to the Director and to the Head of Public Protection Homes and Safer 
Communities to exercise all powers and duties (to include any enforcement powers 
and any decisions relating to the appointment of inspectors) relating to any of the 
following Statutes: 
 

Abandonment of Animals Act 1960 
Accommodation Agencies Act 1953 
Administration of Justice Acts 1970 & 1985 
Agriculture Act 1970 
Agricultural (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1968 
Agricultural Produce (Grading and Marking) Acts 1928 & 1931 
Aids Control Act 1987 

Tudalen 55



 

36 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

Animals Act 1971 
Animal Boarding Establishment Act 1963 

           Animal Health Act 1981 
Animal Welfare Act 2006 
Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 
 
Breeding of Dogs Acts 1973 & 1991 
Breeding and Sale of Dogs (Welfare) Act 1999 
Broadcasting Act 1990 
Building Act 1984 
Business Names Act 1985 
 
Cancer Act 1939 
Caravan Sites Act 1968 
Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 
Celluloid and Cinematograph Film Act 1922 
Children and Young Persons Act 1933 
Children and Young Persons (Protection from Tobacco) Act 1991 
Cinemas Act 1985 
Clean Air Act 1993 
Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 
Companies Act 1985 
Consumer Arbitration Agreement Act 1988 
Consumer Credit Act 1974 
Consumer Protection Act 1987 
Control of Pollution Act 1974 
Control of Pollution (Amendment) Act 1989 
Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 
Copyright etc. and Trade Mark Offences and Enforcement Act 2002 

 
Criminal Attempts Act 1981 
Criminal Justice Acts 1982 
Criminal Justice Act 1988 
Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001 
Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 
Criminal Law Act 1977 Dangerous Dogs Act 1989 & 1991 
 
Dangerous Dogs Act 1991 
Dangerous Dogs (Amendment Act) 1997 
Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976 
Data Protection Act 1984 
Defective Premises Act 1972 
Development of Tourism Act 1969 

 Dogs Act 1906 and the Dogs (Amendment) Act 1928 
 

Education Reform Act 1988 
Energy Act 1976 
Energy Conservation Act 1981 
Enterprise Act 2002 
Environment Act 1995 

Tudalen 56



 

37 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

Environment and Safety Information Act 1988 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 
Estate Agents Act 1979 
European Communities Act 1972 and any Regulations made thereunder 
Explosives Act 1923 
Explosives (Age of Purchase) Act 1976 
 
Fair Trading Act 1973 
Farm and Garden Chemicals Act 1967 
Forgery and Counterfeiting Act 1981 
Food and Environmental Protection Act 1985 
Food Safety Act 1990 
Fraud Act 2006 
 
Game Act 1831 
Gambling Act 2005 
Guard Dogs Act 1975 
 
Hallmarking Act 1973 
Health Act 2006 
Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 
Highways Act 1980 
Home Safety Act 1961 
House to House Collections Act 1939 
Hypnotism Act 1952 
 
Insurance Brokers (Registration) Act 1977 
 
Knives Act 1997 
 
Land Compensation Act 1973 
Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 
Local Government Act 1972 
Local Government Planning and Land Act 1980 
Local Government and Housing Acts 1984 & 1989 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 2003 
Licensing Act 2003 
 
Malicious Communications Act 1988 
Medicines Act 1968 
Mines and Quarries Act 1954 
Misrepresentation Act 1967 
Mobile Homes Act 1983 
Mock Auctions Act 1961 
Motorcycle Noise Act 1987 
Motor Vehicles (Safety Equipment for Children) Act 1991 

Tudalen 57



 

38 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
National Lottery Act 1993 
Noise Act 1996 
Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 1993 
Nurses Agencies Act 1957 
 
Olympic Symbol etc. (Protection) Act 1995 

 
Patents, Designs and Marks Act 1986 
Performing Animals (Regulation) Act 1925 
Pesticides (Fees and Enforcement) Act 1989 
Pet Animals Act 1951 
Petroleum (Consolidation) Act 1928 
Petroleum (Transfer of Licence) Act 1936 
Planning and Hazardous Substances Act 1990 
Poisons Act 1972 
Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 
Police, Factories etc. (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1916 
Pollution Prevention and Control Act 1999 
Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949 
Prices Acts 1974 & 1975 
Property Misdescriptions Act 1991 
Protection from Eviction Act 1977 
Protection of Animals Act 1911 
Protection of Children (Tobacco) Act 1986 
Public Health Acts 1936 & 1961 
Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984  
 
Radioactive Substances Act 1993 
Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978 
Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 
Rent Acts 1957 – 1977 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 
Riding Establishments Acts 1964 &1970 
Road Traffic Acts 1988 & 1991 
Road Traffic (Consequential Provisions) Act 1988 
Road Traffic (Foreign Vehicles) Act 1972 
Road Traffic Offenders Act 1988 
 
Safety of Sports Grounds Act 1975 
Sale of Goods Act 1979 
Scotch Whisky Act 1988 
Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 
Solicitors Act 1974 
Sunbed (Regulation) Act 2010, 
Sunday Trading Act 1994 
Supply of Goods Act 1979 
Supply of Goods and Services Act 1982 

Tudalen 58



 

39 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
Telecommunications Act 1984 
Theft Acts 1968 & 1978 
Timeshare Act 1992 
Torts (Interference with Goods) Act 1977 
Town Police Clauses Act 1847 & 1889 
Trade Descriptions Act 1968 
Trade Marks Act 1994 
Trading Representations (Disabled Persons) Acts 1958& 1972 
Trading Scheme Act 1991 
Trading Stamps Act 1964 
 
Unfair Contract Terms Act 1977 
Unsolicited Goods and Services Acts 1971 & 1975 
 
Vehicle Crime Act 2001 
Video Recordings Act 1984 
Video Recordings Act 1993 
Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006 
Water Industry Act 1991 
Water Resources Act 1991 
Weights and Measures Acts 1976 & 1985 
 
Zoo Licensing Act 1981 

 
Specific Delegated Powers 
 
The following Statutes contain the specific delegated powers required to enable the 
Public Protection function to operate effectively and efficiently.   Each Statute and the 
relevant power has been identified and described on each page, so that the document 
can be consulted or revised with ease. 
 
The Advanced Television Services Regulations 1996 
 
That delegated authority be granted to the officers to enforce The Advanced Television 
Services Regulations: 

 
Regulation 16 and Schedule 2 Paragraph 3(i) Power to test/purchase. 

 
Regulation 16 and Schedule 2 Paragraph 4 Power of search including inspection, 
seizure and detention. 

 
Regulation 16 and Schedule 2 Paragraph 7 Power to apply to the Courts for forfeiture of 
seized goods. 
 
That the following officers be authorised for the purposes of the Advanced Television 
Services Regulations 1996: 

Tudalen 59



 

40 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
Animal Health Act 1981 
 
S.52  To act as an Inspector for the purposes of execution and enforcement of the Act. 
 
S.60  To apprehend a person without warrant for obstruction, impeding or assisting in 
obstruction or impeding an officer in the execution of the Act. 
 
S.63 To use powers of entry as authorised officers of the Council under the provisions 
of the Act. 
 
S.64 To use powers of entry as authorised officers of the Council in relation to 
protecting poultry from unnecessary suffering, under the provisions of the Act. 
 
Animal Welfare Act 2006 
 
S. 51 To appoint a person as an inspector for the purposes of this Act. 
 
 
Animals, Meat etc. (Examination for Residues etc.) Regulations 1991 
 
To act in matters arising under the Animals, Meat etc. (Examination for Residues etc.) 
Regulations 1991. 
 
 
The Bovines and Bovine Products (Despatch Prohibition and Production 
Restriction) Regulations 1997 
 
To appoint Inspectors in relation to the enforcement responsibilities under the above 
regulations. 
 
Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 
 
The Chief Executive delegates the following powers to the Director of Social Care, 
Health and Housing Community Services and the Head of Public Protection Homes 
and Safer Communities 
S. 40 - Closure of noisy premises 
S. 41 - Closure of noisy premises: supplemental 
 
Breeding of Dogs Act 1973 
 
S1 To Issue a Licence in respect of a breeding establishment for dogs. 
S2 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry and inspection under the 
provisions of the Act. 
 
Breeding of Dogs Act 1991 
 
S1 To apply to a Justice of the Peace for a warrant to enter premises for inspection for 
the purposes of the Act. 

Tudalen 60



 

41 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
Building Act 1984 
 
S.59 Issue of Notice in respect of unsatisfactory drainage of premises. 
 
S.60 Issue of Notice in respect of the improper use of rainwater pipes for ventilation of 
soil pipes. 
 
S64 Issue of Notice in respect of disrepair or insufficient provision of water closets in 
buildings. 
 
S.65 Issue of Notice in respect of insufficient provision of water closets in workplaces. 
 
S. 95 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry under the provisions of the 
Act. 
 
S. 76 Issue of Notice in respect of Defective Premises. 
 
S. 79 Issue of Notice in respect of Ruinous and dilapidated buildings and neglected 
sites. 

 
S. 81 Issue of Notice to persons undertaking demolition works. 
 
S. 107 To recover expenses incurred by Authority. 
 
Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 
 
S. 3 To issue Site Licences with respect to caravan sites. 
 
S. 8 To alter conditions attached to a Caravan Site Licence. 
 
S. 10 To transfer Caravan Site Licences, and transmission of the Licence on death. 
 
S. 26 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry under the provisions of the 
Act. 
 
Children and Young Persons (Protection from Tobacco) Act 1979 
 
5(1) (a) To use powers to develop an enforcement programme under the provisions of 
section 7(1) of the Children and Young Persons Act 1933 and under sections 3 & 4 of 
the Act. 
 
5(1) (b) To enforce programmes under the provisions of the Act. 

Tudalen 61



 

42 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
Clean Air Act 1993 
 
S.12 To require information about furnaces and fuel consumed. 
 
S.36 Issue of Notice in respect of obtaining information about air pollution. 
 
S. 56 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry and inspection under the 
provisions of the Act. 
 
S. 58 Issue of Notice in respect of obtaining information. 
 
Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 
 
S.77 – To appoint officers authorised to exercise powers of entry under the Act. 
S.78 – To apply for a Warrant to enter premises. 
 
Control of Pollution Act 1974 
 
S. 60 To serve a Notice under Section 60 of the Control of Pollution Act 1974. 
 
Consumer Credit Act 1974 
 
S. 162 Appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry for the purposes of inspection  
under the provisions of the Act. 
 
S. 164 To test purchase goods, services, facilities and other transactions. 
 
Consumer Protection Act 1987 
 
S. 14 Issue of Suspension Notice. 
 
S. 16 Application to Justices for forfeiture. 
 
S. 28 To test purchase goods, services, accommodation or facilities. 
 
S. 29 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of search under the provisions of the 
Act. 
 
 
Copyright Designs and Patents Act 1988 
 
S. 27 To make test purchases. 
 
S. 28 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry and inspection under the 
provisions of the Act. 
 
S. 107A To enforce Section 107 in relation to infringing copies. 
 
198A(1) To enforce Section 198 in respect of illicit recordings. 
 

Tudalen 62



 

43 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

58A To enforce the provisions of the Act. 
 
Courts and Legal Services Act 1990 
 
S.107 To enforce the provisions of the Act and to appoint officers authorised to use 
powers of entry under the provisions of the Act. 
 
Dangerous Dogs Act 1991 
 
S. 5 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry and powers of seizure in 
respect of dangerous dogs. 
 
Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976 
 
S1 To Issue of a Licence in respect of dangerous wild animals. 
 
S. 3 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry and inspection as authorised 
officers of the Council under the provisions of the Act. 
 
S.4 To use powers of seizure and disposal of animals under the provisions of the Act. 
 
Development of Tourism Act 1969 
 
Statutory Instrument – Tourism (Sleeping Accommodation Price Display) Order 1969. 
 
Regulation 5 To appoint officers to use powers of entry and inspection as authorised 
officers of the Council, in its capacity as a Weights and Measures Authority. 
 
Education Reform Act 1988 
 
Section 215 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry, to search premises,  
to require the production of documents and to make copies and seize anything required 
as evidence relating to the enforcement of section 214 of the Act. 
 
Energy Act 1976 
 
S.18 Schedule 2 Paragraphs 2 & 3 
To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry and to examine documents under 
the provisions of the Act. 
 
Energy Conservation Act 1981 
 
S. 20 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry as authorised officers under 
the provisions of the Act. 
 
Environment Act 1995 
 
S. 108 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry, inspection, examination, 
measurement, photography, to take records, samples and to request information, under 
the provisions of the Act. 
 

Tudalen 63



 

44 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

S. 109 To use powers of seizure of any article or substance and to render it harmless. 
 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 
 
S. 6 Issue of an Authorisation for a prescribed process. 
 
S. 10 Issue of a Variation Notice in respect of a prescribed process. 
 
S. 11 Issue of a Variation in respect of a prescribed process. 
 
S.12 Revocation of Authorisation for prescribed processes. 
 
S. 13 Issue of an Enforcement Notice in respect of a prescribed process. 
 
S. 14 Issue of a Prohibition Notice in respect of a prescribed process. 
 
S. 19 Issue of Notice in respect of obtaining information from persons. 
 
S.59 – To require removal of controlled waste.  
 
S.71 – To obtain information from persons or authorities in relation to Section 59. 
 
S.78E-To require remediation of contaminated land etc.  
 
S. 80 Issue of an Abatement Notice in respect of a statutory nuisance. 
 
80A* Issue of an Abatement Notice in respect of a statutory noise notice nuisance 
emitted from or caused by a vehicle, machinery or equipment in a street. 
 
81A Issue of Notice in respect of expenses recoverable from the owner of premises as 
a result of action taken under the provision of the Act. 
 
S.88 – To issue fixed penalty Notices and appoint officers authorised to exercise 
powers under the Act. 
 
S.92A – To issue litter clearing notices. 
 
S. 149 To Appoint Officers to deal with the discharge of powers relating to the seizure of 
stray dogs. 
 
Schedule 3 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry under the provisions of 
the Act. 
 
Estate Agents Act 1979 
 
Section 11 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry and inspection under 
the provisions of the Act. 
 
Estate Agents (Accounts) Regulations 1981 
 

Tudalen 64



 

45 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

Regulation 8 To use powers for the demand of an Auditor’s report relating to clients’ 
accounts. 
 
European Communities Act 1972 
Construction Products Regulations 1991 
Regulation 10 Issue of Suspension Notice in respect of construction products. 
 
R. 12 To seek forfeiture of construction products. 
 
R16 To make test purchases under the provisions of the Regulations. 
 
Manufacture and Storage of Explosives Regulations 2005 
 
To grant and vary registrations and licences for the storage of explosives and make any 
necessary arrangements for the administration of the registration and licensing system.  
 
To refuse applications and to revoke or modify registrations or licences of premises.  
 
Eggs (Marketing Standards) Regulations 1995 
Reg 4. To enforce the provisions of the Regulations and to appoint officers authorised to 
use powers of entry. 
 
Electromagnetic Compatibility Regulations 1995 
Reg 73 To enforce the provisions of the Regulations. 
 
Electromagnetic Compatibility Regulations 1995 
R. 74 To make test purchases. 
 
R. 75 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry and search. 
 
R. 76 To seek Justices Warrant. 
 
Medical Devices Regulations 1994 
 
R. 19 To enforce the provisions of the Regulations and to issue Notice in respect of 
devices bearing an incorrectly applied EC marking. 
 
Package Travel, Package Holidays and Package Tours Regulations 1992 
R 23 Paragraphs 3 & 4(1) of Schedule 3  
 
To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry and to require the presentation of 
or the seizure or detention of books and documents. 
 
Paragraph 4(2) of Schedule 3 To seek a Justices Warrant. 
 
Personal Protective Equipment (EC Directive) Regulations 1992 
 
R. 3 To enforce the provisions of the Regulations. 
 
 Common Agricultural Policy (Wine) Regulations 1955 
 

Tudalen 65



 

46 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

R7 To enforce the provisions of the Regulations. 
 
8(1) To prohibit movement. 
 
The Aerosol Dispensers (EEC Requirements) Regulations 1997 
 
R. 5 To enforce the provisions of the Regulations. 
 
R.10 To institute legal proceedings. 
 
The Energy Information (Refrigerators and Freezers) Regulations 1994 
R. 14 - To enforce the provisions of the Regulations 
 
Schedule 6 Paragraph 6 To issue Notice of remedial action. 
 
R.9 To require information. 
 
R. 10 To make test purchases. 
 
R.11 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry and search and seek a 
Justices Warrant.  
 
Fair Trading Act 1973 
 
S. 28 To test purchase goods and services. 
 
S. 29 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry for the purposes of 
inspection and the seizure of goods and documents under the provisions of the Act. 
 
Food and Environment Protection Act 1985 
 
Section 19(1)(c) To act as an authorised officer of the Council under the provisions of 
the Act. 
 
For the purposes of the Control of Pesticides Regulations 1986, to appoint officers 
authorised to use powers of entry to premises, vehicles, vessels, aircraft, hovercraft and 
marine structures, to require information, to issue Notices in respect of offences and to 
require remedial action or where a risk of committing an offence exists, to prohibit 
activities. 
 
Food Safety Act 1990 
 
S. 5 To act as an authorised officer of the food authority, to act generally or specially in 
matters arising under the Act and in relation to S. 32 in particular. 

 
S. 6(6) To act as an authorised officer of an enforcement authority. 
 
S. 9(1) To appoint officers authorised to inspect food intended for human consumption. 
 
S. 9(3) Issue of Notice in respect of food not to be used for human consumption and 
seizure of food in order to have it dealt with by a Justice of the Peace. 

Tudalen 66



 

47 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
S. 11 Issue of a Certificate stating that the food authority is satisfied that a health risk 
condition no longer exists at a food business. 
 
S. 29  Authorisation for the procurement of samples of food. 
 
S. 30 Authorisation for food samples to be analysed. 
 
S. 32 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry under the provisions of the 
Act. 
 
S. 42 To act as Proper Officer for the purposes of the Act. 
 
Game Act 1831 
 
S. 18 Issue of a Licence in respect of dealing in game. 
 
Guard Dogs Act 1975 
 
S. 3 Issue of a Licence in respect of the keeping of guard dog kennels. 
 
Hallmarking Act 1993 
 
S. 9 To enforce the provisions of the Act. 
 
Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 
 
S. 19 To appoint Inspectors for implementing the relevant statutory provisions. 
 
S. 20 - Powers of Inspectors to carry out their statutory duties 
 
S. 21 To Issue an Improvement Notice in respect of an infraction of any of the relevant 
statutory provisions.  
 
S. 22 To issue a Prohibition Notice to avert the risk of serious personal injury. 
  
S. 25  To deal with causes of imminent danger. 
 
S. 26 Indemnification of Inspectors. 
 
S.39 Prosecution by an Inspector before a Magistrates Court for an offence under any 
of the relevant statutory provisions. 
 
Health Act, 2006 - Smoke-free premises etc. (Wales) Regulations 2006 
 
To authorise officers to enforce the provisions of the Regulations. 
 
Law of Property Act 1925 
Head of Housing Services Homes and Safer Communities, Head of Planning Place 
and Sustainability, Head of Public Protection and Head of Administration and Law to 

Tudalen 67



 

48 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

instigate the necessary action to bring about an enforced sale including the disposal of 
property. 
 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989  
 
S. 20 Issue of Notice for the provision of sanitary appliances in places of public 
entertainment and other premises. 
 
To appoint officers authorised to exercise powers of entry under the provisions of the 
Act. 
 
S. 33 To make arrangements for the restoration or continuation of supply of water, gas 
or electricity to an occupied dwelling. 
 
S. 35 To Issue a Notice in respect of obstructed private sewer. 
 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976  
 
S.33 To restore the supply of water, gas or electricity. 
 
S.35 To issue a Notice in respect of obstructed private sewer. 
 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 
 
S. 29   Issue of Notice to protect buildings against unauthorised entry or those that are 
likely to become a danger to public health. 
 
Authorisation to use powers of entry as authorised officers of the Council in relation to 
the protection of buildings against unauthorised entry etc. 
 
Paragraph 14 Authorisation to use powers of entry as authorised officers of the Council 
under the provisions of the Act. 
 
Under schedule 3 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 as 
amended by the Policing and Crime Act 2009 to licence a new category of premises 
called Sexual Entertainment Venues. The legislation allows the authority to set fee 
levels which reflect the cost of processing and determining applications, dealing with 
objections and complaints as well as undertaking enforcement.  (CC 07/03/12) 
 
Medicines Act 1968 
 
S. 108 To discharge the Council’s functions as a Drugs Authority in respect of the 
control of medicinal products at non pharmaceutical premises under the provisions of 
sections 53 & 54, the control of animal medicated feeding stuffs under the provisions of 
sections 62(1)(b) & 90 of the Act. 
 
S. 111 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry in respect of premises, 
ships, aircraft or hover vehicles under the provisions of the Act. 
 
S. 112 To appoint officers authorised to inspect, take samples, seize goods and 
documents under the provisions of the Act. 

Tudalen 68



 

49 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
Motor Cycle Noise Act 1984 
 
S. 1 To enforce the provisions of the Act. 
 
Motor Salvage Operators’ Regulations 2002 
 
To operate the Motor Salvage Operators’ Registration Scheme, including authority to 
register non-contentious applications.  
 
Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 1993 
 
S. 2 To Issue Consents for the operation of loudspeakers in streets or roads. 
S. 3 Paragraphs 6 & 7 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry under the 
provisions of the Act. 
 
Animal Meat Products (Examination for Residues and Minimum Residue Limits) 
Regulations 1991 
 
Regulation 20 To inspect medicine records on farms. 
 
Materials and Articles in Contact with Food Regulations 1987 
 
Regulation 12 To enforce the provisions of the Regulations and to appoint officers 
authorised to use powers of entry. 
 
Performing Animals (Regulation) Act 1925 
 
S.1 To issue Certificates of Registration in respect of the exhibiting or training of 
performing animals. 
 
S.2 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry under the provisions of the 
Act. 
 
Pet Animals Act 1951 
 
S.1 To issue a Licence in respect of the keeping of a pet shop. 
 
S.4. To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry and inspection under the 
provisions of the Act. 
 
Petroleum (Consolidation) Act 1928 
 
S.1 To issue a Licence in respect of the keeping of petroleum spirit. 
 
S.17 To use powers of purchase of samples of petroleum for the purpose of testing. 
 
S.18 To make an application to a Court of Summary Jurisdiction for a warrant to search 
for petroleum spirit. 
 
Poisons Act 1972 

Tudalen 69



 

50 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
S.9 To act as an Inspector for the purposes of the Act and to appoint officers authorised 
to use powers of entry under the provisions of the Act. 
 
Pollution Prevention and Control Act 1999 
The Pollution Prevention and Control (England and Wales) Regulations 2000 
 
Reg. 10 – Issuing of a permit 
Reg. 17 – Variation of conditions of permit 
Reg. 18 – Transfer of permits 
Reg. 21 – Revocation of permits 
Reg. 24 – Enforcement Notice 
Reg. 25 – Suspension Notice 
Reg. 26 – Power of regulator to prevent or remedy pollution 
Reg. 28 - Information  
 
Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949 
 
S.4 To issue a Notice in respect of the destruction of rats and mice or the keeping of 
land free from rats and mice. 
 
S.6 To exercise powers in relation to groups of premises. 
 
S.22 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry under the provisions of the 
Act. 
 
Proper Officer for Medical Advice 
 
Authority to appoint a Proper Officer for medical advice. The Proper Officer shall have 
the following delegated powers: 
 
National Assistance Act 1948 - Section 47 BMc 
National Assistance (Amendment) Act 1951 - Section 1 BMc 
Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984 - Sections 21, 22, 24, 26, 28-32, 35-38, 40-
43, 48 and 51 
Public Health (Infectious Diseases) Regulations 1988 
 
Prices Acts 1974 & 1975 
 
Schedule 1 Paragraph 7 To test purchase goods. 
 
Schedule 1 Paragraph 9 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry for the 
purposes of inspection and the seizure of goods and documents under the provisions of 
the Act. 
 
Property Misdescriptions Act 1991 
 
Section 3 and Schedule 1 Paragraphs 3 & 4(1) To appoint officers authorised to use 
powers of entry for the purposes of the inspection of goods and the seizure of 
documents under the provisions of the Act. 
 

Tudalen 70



 

51 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

Public Health Act 1936 
 
S. 45 Issue of Notice in respect of buildings having defective closets capable of repair. 
 
S. 50 Issue of Notice in respect of overflowing and leaking cesspools. 
 
S.78 – Removal of waste from any courtyard, or passage which is used in common by 
occupants of two or more buildings. 

S. 83 Issue of Notice in respect of the cleansing of filthy or verminous premises. 
 
S. 140 Application to Court of Summary Jurisdiction to close or restrict use of water 
from a polluted source of supply. 
 
S. 269 Issue of a Licence in respect of the control of moveable dwellings. 
 
S. 284 Authorisation for the authentication of documents. 
 
To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry under the provisions of the Act. 
 
 
Public Health Act 1961 
 
S. 17* Issue of Notice in respect of the repair of drains and to remedy stopped up 
drains.  
 
S. 34 Issue of Notice in respect of the removal of accumulations of rubbish. 
 
S. 73 Issue of Notice in respect of action to prevent danger from derelict petrol tanks. 
 
Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984 
 
S. 18 Proper Officer for the purpose of this section of the Act, for the requisition and 
receipt of information to be furnished by an occupier of premises in the case of notifiable 
disease or food poisoning. 
 
S. 20 Proper Officer for the purposes of this section of the Act, for the issue of Notice 
requiring a person to discontinue work to prevent spread of disease to which S. 28 of 
the Food Act 1984 applies.  
 
S.23 Proper Officer for the purposes of this section of the Act, for the issue of Notice 
excluding children from places of entertainment or assembly to prevent spread of 
disease. 
 
S.61 Authorisation to use powers of entry as authorised officers of the Council under the 
provisions of the Act. 
 
Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978 
 
S. 6 Issue of Notice in respect of the removal and disposal of other refuse. 
 

Tudalen 71



 

52 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

S.8 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry under the provisions of the 
Act. 
 
Riding Establishments Act 1964 
 
S.1* Issue of a Licence in respect of riding establishments. 
 
S. 2 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry and inspection under the 
provisions of the Act. 
 
Road Traffic Act 1988 
 
S.70 To use powers to prohibit the use of an overloaded vehicle under the provisions of 
the Act. 
 
S.78 To weigh vehicles on behalf of the Highway Authority. 
 
Road Traffic Act 1991 
 
S.47 To determine whether a person is fit and proper to hold a hackney carriage or 
private hire vehicle drivers licence and to submit an application to the chief officer of 
police for his observations. 
 
Road Traffic (Foreign Vehicles) Act 1972 
 
S.1 To use powers to prohibit the use of an overloaded vehicle under the provisions of 
the Act. 
 
S. 2 To make an UK exemption order or to remove a prohibition notice. 
 
Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 
 
S. 6 1964 Act To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry and inspection 
under the provisions of the Act. 
 
the initial assessment of an application received for a scrap metal dealers licence be 
delegated to officers 
 
Sheep Scab Order 1997 
 
To act on behalf of the Local Authority under the provisions of the above order. 
 
Solicitors Act 1974 
 
S. 22 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry under the provisions of the 
Act. 
 
Sunbed (Regulation) Act 2010, and any associated Regulations, particularly the 
Sunbed (Regulation) Act 2010 (Wales) Regulations 2011 from the 31st October 
2011 
 

Tudalen 72



 

53 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

that delegated powers be granted to the Director of Social Care, Health and Housing 
Community Services and the Head of Public Protection Homes and Safer 
Communities to enforce the provisions of the Sunbed (Regulation) Act 2010, and any 
associated Regulations, particularly the Sunbed (Regulation) Act 2010 (Wales) 
Regulations 2011 from the 31st October 2011, including the power to appoint Officers as 
Authorised Officers for the purposes of the Act to exercise powers of entry and use any 
other enforcement measures or actions prescribed in the Act and Regulations. 
 
Telecommunications Act 1984 
 
S. 30 To enforce the provisions of sections 28 & 29 of the Act. 
 
Timeshare Act 1992 
 
Section 10 and Schedule 1 Paragraph 3  
 
To appoint officers authorised to require the production of books and documents and to 
use powers for the seizure of books and documents under the provisions of the Act. 
 
Trade Descriptions Act 1968 
 
S.27 To test purchase goods, services, accommodation or facilities. 
 
S.28 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry for the purposes of 
inspection and the seizure of goods and documents under the provisions of the Act. 
 
Trade Marks Act 1994 
 
S.27 To make test purchases. 
 
S.28 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry and inspection under the 
provisions of the Act. 
 
S. 93 To enforce the provisions of section 92 of the Act. 
 
Video Recordings Act 1984 
 
16A To enforce the provisions of the Act within the County of Carmarthenshire and 
limited offences outside the County with the consent of another Authority. 
 
S. 27 To make test purchases. 
 
S. 28 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry and inspection under the 
provisions of the Act. 
 
Water Industry Act 1991 
 
S. 79 To require a water undertaker to provide a supply of water to premises where 
supplies are insufficient of unwholesome. 
 

Tudalen 73



 

54 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

S. 80 To appoint officers authorised to use powers of entry under the provisions of S. 72 
of the Act.  
 
S. 80 To issue a Notice in respect of improvements to a private water supply. 
 
S.85 To issue a Notice in respect of obtaining information for the purposes of Chapter III 
of the Act. 
 
Schedule 6 Paragraphs 1, 2, 3,6,7,8 & 9 to appoint officers authorised to use powers of 
entry under the provisions of the Act. 
 
Weights and Measures Act 1985 
 
Section 42 To make purchases of goods for the purposes of Parts II, III & IV of the Act. 
 
S. 52 To enforce Part V of the Act. 
 
S.53 and Schedule 8 paragraph 6(1) To make test purchases for the purposes of Part V 
of the Act. 
 
S.72(1) Authorisation to act and appointment as Chief Inspector of Weights and 
Measures. 
 
Authorisation to act as Inspectors for the purposes of the Act. 
 
Zoo Licensing Act 1981 
 
S.4 Issue of a licence in respect of zoos. 
 
 
 
HOUSING FUNCTIONS 
 
All the functions of the Council acting as a Housing Authority are delegated to the 
Director of Social Care, Health and Housing Community Services and to the Head of 
Housing Homes and Safer Communities to include the allocation of Council properties 
and also (but not limited to) the functions specified below. 
 
General Authorisation to Enforce Acts and Regulations or Orders Made Under the 
Acts 
 
To exercise all powers and duties (to include any enforcement powers and any 
decisions relating to the appointment of inspectors) relating to any of the following 
Statutes: 
 
Building Act 1984 
Caravan Sites Act 1968 
Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 
Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 
Housing Act 1985  

Tudalen 74



 

55 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

Housing Act 1988 
Housing Act 1996 
Housing Act 2004 
Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 
Land Compensation Act 1973 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 & 1982 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 2003 
Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949 
Protection from Eviction Act 1977 
Public Health Acts 1936 & 1961 
Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002 

 
Specific Delegated Powers 
 
The following Statutes contain specific delegated powers required to enable the 
Housing function to operate effectively and efficiently.  Each Statute and the relevant 
power has been identified and described on each page, so that the document can be 
consulted or revised with ease. 
 
 
Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 
 
S. 5 to attach conditions to a caravan site licence. 
 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
 
To initiate action against tenants in respect of anti-social behaviour.  
 
Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 
 
S. 77 to Issue Directions to unauthorised campers to leave land. 
 
S. 78 To make complaint to a Magistrates Court for an Order for the removal of persons 
and their vehicles unlawfully present on land. 
 
Proposed group repair programme for 2000/01 for the Inner Ammanford, Garnant, 
Brynaman and South Llanelli Renewal Areas.    
 
Granted delegated authority, in consultation with the Cabinet Member to alter 
sequencing of the schemes to ensure maximum use of resources. 
 
To act in resolving, controlling and managing trespass by travellers. 
 
Traveller Management Arrangements 
 
To let and terminate licences on Pen-y-Bryn Residential Caravan Site.    

Tudalen 75



 

56 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
Housing Act 1985 
 
79 - To grant secure tenancies and licenses of dwelling houses and to grant non-secure 
tenancies and licenses in the circumstances set out in Schedule 1 of the Act. 
 
82 – To issue possession proceedings against secure tenants.  
 
82A – To issue proceedings to demote a secure tenancy.  
 
83 - To serve Notices Seeking Possession on secure tenants. 
 
85 – To apply to the County Court for an order staying or suspending the execution of a 
possession order, to postpone the date for possession, or to amend or set aside a 
possession order. To attend court to make representations in respect of orders sought 
by tenants and tolerated trespassers under section 85.  
 
89 – To select a successor where two or more members of a tenant’s family are entitled 
to succeed to a secure tenancy.  
 
92 – To grant or withhold consent to secure tenants wishing to mutually exchange and 
to serve notice where consent is being withheld. 
 
94 - To grant or withhold consent to secure tenants wishing to sublet or otherwise part 
with possession of a dwelling house. 
 
96 – To take all steps necessary to comply with regulations made pursuant to section 
96(1) of the Act, including the issue a repair notices and payment of compensation in 
respect of qualifying repairs. 
 
97 - To grant or withhold consent to secure tenants wishing to make improvements to 
their dwellings, and to give consent subject to conditions imposed in accordance with 
section 99 of the Act.  
 
99A – Power to compensate for improvements. 
 
100 – Power to reimburse the cost of tenant’s improvements. 
 
102 – Power to vary the terms of Introductory and secure tenancies. 
 
103 – To issue a Preliminary Notice and Notice of Variation of a periodic tenancy.  
 
104 – To publish information about the Council’s secure tenancies. 
 
105 – To consult with tenants on matter of Housing Management. 
 
106 - To publish information about housing allocation. 
 
121A – To apply to the Court for an order suspending the Right to Buy because of anti-
social behaviour. 
 

Tudalen 76



 

57 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

121AA & 121B – To prepare and provide information to tenants to help them to decide 
whether to exercise the right to buy. 
 
124 – To determine applications under the legislation and serve notice admitting or 
denying the Right to Buy. 
 
125 – To serve Notice of the purchase price and other matters. 
 
125E – To serve a notice in default, to extend the period for compliance with the said 
notice. 
 
128 – Powers to require the value of a property to be re-determined by the District 
Valuer and to serve the required notices as appropriate.  
 
138 – To instruct the Council’s Head of Administration and Law to convey the Freehold 
or Grant leases in pursuance of the Right to Buy legislation. 
 
Schedule 5 – To serve Demolition Notices. 
 
138C – To compensate secure tenants where a demolition notice is served. 
 
140 – Power to Serve a landlord’s First Notice to Complete. 
 
141 – Power to Serve a landlord’s Second Notice to Complete. 
 
155A – To demand repayment of such sum as is considered appropriate up to and 
including the maximum amount specified in the legislation, on the first “Relevant 
Disposal” (other than an exempt disposal) of a property. 
 
156 – Power to give Consent for a charge in respect of monies advanced to a purchaser 
and falling within section 156(2A) of the Act to take priority over the Council’s own legal 
charge under section 156(1) of the Act.   
 
156A – To exercise the Council’s rights or first refusal and nomination. 
 
157 - To grant or withhold consent to the disposals of dwellings in National Parks and 
other designated areas falling with in this section of the Act, and to enforce covenants 
restricting the sales of properties in such areas. 
 
S. 189* To Issue of a Notice in respect of an unfit house. (*Amended by Sch. 9, para 1, 
Housing Act 1988 & Sch. 9, para 1, Local Government and Housing Act 1989). 
 
S. 190* To Issue of a Notice in respect of a house in a state of disrepair but not unfit. 
(*Amended by Sch. 15, para 2 Housing Act 1988 & Sch. 9, para 2, Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989). 
 
S.197 Authorisation to appoint authorised officers to use powers of entry as authorised 
officers of the Council under the provisions of Part VI of the Act. 
 
S. 264 Power to make a Closing Order. 
 

Tudalen 77



 

58 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

S. 265 Power to make a Demolition Order. 
 
S. 270 Demolition Orders: to Recovery of possession of a building. 
S.273 Demolition Orders: to Clearing a building before demolition. 
S.274 Demolition Orders: Power to permit reconstruction of a condemned house. 
S. 279 Closing Orders: to Substitution e of a Demolition Order with a closing order. 
 
Authorisation to acquire land for clearance. 
 
S.289 Declaration of Clearance Area. 
 
S.289* Issue of Notice in respect of the Council’s intent to include a building in a 
clearance area. (*Amended by Sch. 9, para 25 Local Government and Housing Act 
1989). 
 
S. 297 Authorisation to remove or alter apparatus of statutory undertaking in connection 
with a Clearance Area. 
 
S.300 Authorisation to purchase houses liable to be demolished or cleared, to be used 
for temporary accommodation. 
 
S.319 Powers of Entry. 
 
S. 319 Authorisation to use powers of entry as authorised officers of the Council under 
the provisions of Part IX of the Act. 
 
S.335 Power to require information about persons sleeping in dwelling. 
 
S.336 Power to require production of rent book. 
 
S.337 Power of entry to determine permitted number of persons. 
 
S.338 Issue of Notice to abate overcrowding. 
 
S.340 Powers of Entry. 
 
S.346 Registration Schemes. 
 
S.350 Power to require information for the purpose of a Registration Scheme. 
 
S.350 Authorisation to introduce Registration Schemes for houses in multiple 
occupation. 
 
S. 352 Issue of Notice in respect of the execution of works to render premises fit for the 
number of occupants. 
 
S.352 Power to require execution of works to render premises fit for number of 
occupants. 
 
S.352A Recovery of expenses of Notice under Section 352. 
 

Tudalen 78



 

59 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

S. 354 Issue of Notice limiting the number of occupants of a house. 
 
S. 354 Power to require information about occupation of house. 
 
S.356 Power to require information about occupation of house. 
 
S. 356 Issue of Notice requiring information about occupation of house. 
 
S.357 Revocation or variation of direction under Section 354. 
 
S.358 Issue of Notice in respect of overcrowding in a house in multiple occupation. 
 
S.363 Revocation and variation of Overcrowding Notice. 
 
S. 364 Power to require information where Overcrowding Notice is in force. 
 
S. 366 Issue of Notice in respect of means of escape from fire in a house in multiple 
occupation. 
 
S.368 Means of Escape from Fire. Power to secure part of house not used for human 
habitation. 
 
S.372 Power to require execution of works to remedy neglect of management. 
 
S.372* Issue of Notice in respect of the management of a house in multiple occupation. 
(*Amended by Sch. 9, para 50, Local Government and Housing Act 1989). 
 
S.375 Authorisation for carrying out of works by Local Housing Authority regarding the 
non-compliance of a Notice under Section 352 or 372. 
 
S.377A Works Notices: Improvement of enforcement procedures.  Authorisation to give 
written notice of intention to serve Works Notices prior to the service of a Notice under 
Section 352 or a Notice under Section 372. 
 
S.379 Making of a Control Order. 
 
S. 379 Issue of Notice in respect of a control order for a house in multiple occupation. 
 
S. 380 Authorisation to rectify Control Order where proprietor resides in part of the 
house. 
 
S.386 Authorisation to prepare management scheme subject to Control Order. 
 
S.388 Authorisation to supply furniture and fittings to a house subject to a Control 
Order. 
 
S.392 Authorisation to revoke a Control Order. 
 
S. 395 Authorisation to use powers of entry as authorised officers of the Council under 
the provisions of Part XI of the Act. 
 

Tudalen 79



 

60 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

S. 395 Authorisation to use powers of entry as Authorised Officers of the Council. 
 
S.397 Authorisation to apply for a warrant to authorise entry (if required). 
 
Schedule 10 Demand for Recovery of Expenses incurred by Local Housing Authority. 
 
Housing Act 1996 
 
124 – To grant Introductory Tenancies or Licenses of dwelling houses pursuant to the 
Councils election to operate an introductory tenancy regime. 
 
125A – To Serve a Notice of Extension and to extend an Introductory Tenancy or 
license for a further 6 months, in accordance with the relevant procedures in the Act. 
 
127 – To issue Possession Proceedings to end an Introductory Tenancy. 
 
128 – To Issue a Notice of Proceedings. 
 
129 – To review decisions to seek possession of a dwelling house, where possession is 
being sought on the basis of rent arrears. 
 
133 - To select a successor where two or more members of a tenant’s family are 
entitled to succeed to an Introductory Tenancy. 
 
136 – To publish information about the Council’s Introductory Tenancies. 
 
137 – To consult with tenants on matter of Housing Management. 
 
143D - To issue Possession Proceedings to end a Demoted Tenancy. 
 
143E – To serve Notice of Proceedings for Possession of a Dwelling held under a 
Demoted Tenancy. 
 
143F To review a decision to seek possession of a dwelling, where possession is being 
sought on the basis of rent arrears. 
 
143H - To select a successor where two or more members of a tenant’s family are 
entitled to succeed to a Demoted Tenancy. 
 
143M – To publish Information about the Demoted Tenancy. 
 
153A – To apply for an Injunction to prohibit/prevent anti-social behaviour. 
 
153B – To apply for an Injunction to prohibit/prevent the unlawful use of premises. 
 
153D – To apply for an Injunction to prohibit/prevent breaches of tenancy. 
 
157 – To apply to Court to vary or discharge an injunction obtained under section 154A, 
153B or 153D of the Act. 
 

Tudalen 80



 

61 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

166 - To provide advice and information to people in the County in accordance with the 
Council’s obligations under this section. 
 
167 – To process Housing Applications and allocate Housing Accommodation in 
accordance with the Part VI of the Housing Act 1996, and the Council’s Allocations 
Policy. 
 
168 – To publish information about the Council’s Allocation Scheme. 
 
171 – To prosecute people who make false statements or withhold information. 
 
179 – To provide advice and information to people in the County about homelessness 
and the prevention of Homelessness.  
 
180 – To provide grants, loans or other assistance to voluntary organisations concerned 
with homelessness or matters relating to homelessness.  
 
181 – To serve Notice on a voluntary organisation where the Council intends to recover 
monies. 
 
184 – To make inquiries to cases of homelessness or threatened homelessness, 
determine applications in accordance with the requirements of Part VII of the Act and 
notify Applicants of the Council’s decision.  
 
188 – To discharge the Council’s duty to provide temporary accommodation to 
applicants in cases of apparent priority pending a decision about the duty owed to them, 
and the Council’s power to provide temporary accommodation pending the decision on 
any review. 
 
To discharge the Council’s duties under section 189, 192, 193 and 195 of the Act, in 
accordance with the requirements of Part VII of the Act. 
 
198 – To refer homelessness cases to another local housing authority.  
 
200 – To discharge the Council’s duties to homeless applicants whose cases are being 
considered for referral to another Authority and to exercise the Council’s power to 
provide temporary accommodation pending the decision on any review. 
 
202 – To carry out Homelessness Reviews.  
 
204 & 204A– To defend any County Court Appeals arising from the Council’s 
homelessness decisions. 
 
206 - Discharge of Functions by Local housing Authorities. 
 
208 - Discharge of Functions: Out of Area Placements. 
 
209 - Discharge of Functions: arrangements with Private Landlords. 
 
210 - Discharge of Functions: Suitability of Accommodation. 
 

Tudalen 81



 

62 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

211 & 212 - To discharge the Council’s duties and exercise the Council’s powers to 
protect property belonging to homeless people and people threatened with 
homelessness. 
 
213 – To seek the applicant’s consent and refer certain matters involving children to 
social services.  
 
214 - To prosecute people who make false statements, withhold information or fail to 
disclose change of circumstances. 
 
Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 
 
S. 13 Renovation Grants: Approval of Applications. 
 
S.18 Common Parts Grants: Approval of Applications. 
 
S. 24 Disabled Facilities Grants: Approval of Applications. 
 
S. 28 HMO Grants: Approval of Applications. 
 
S. 76 Authorisation to give Home Repair Assistance in the form of a grant or the 
provision of materials for the carrying out of works of repair, improvement or adaptation 
to a dwelling. 
 
S. 81 & 82 Power to Serve Deferred Action Notices. 
 
S.84 Power to review a Deferred Action Notice. 
 
S.86 Unfitness for Human Habitation: Power to improve enforcement procedures. 
 
S.87 Unfitness for Human Habitation: Power to change for Enforcement Action. 
 
S.88 Authorisation to recover the charge for Enforcement Action. 
 
Housing Act 2004 
 
To sign all notices/licences relating to Housing Standards. 
 
Law of Property Act 1925  

Head of Housing Services Homes and Safer Communities Head of Planning Place 
and Sustainability, Head of Public Protection and Head of Administration and Law to 
instigate the necessary action to bring about an enforced sale, including the disposal of 
the property. 

 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 
 
S.112 Determination of Approval in respect of house renovation grant applications to 
render certain dwellings fit for human habitation. 
 

Tudalen 82



 

63 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

S.113 Determination of Approval in respect of house renovation grant applications 
arising out of certain statutory notices. 
 
S. 114 Determination of Approval in respect of house renovation grant applications to 
provide certain facilities for the disabled. 
 
S.115 Determination of Approval in respect of discretionary house renovation grant 
applications. 
 
S. 116 Issue of Notices of Approval or Refusal in respect of house renovation grant 
applications. 
 
Appoint authorised officers to exercise powers of entry under the provisions of the Act. 
 
 

LAND COMPENSATION ACT 1973 

 
29 – To make home loss payments and discretionary payments to displaced Council 
tenants. 
 
Protection From Eviction Act 1977 
 
To initiate legal proceedings under Section 6 of the Protection from Eviction Act 1977 
for offences under Section 1(2), 1(3) and 1(3A) and for the Service of Notices under 
Section 7 of the Act. 
 
In severe and urgent cases to apply to the Court for a warrant for the arrest of the 
perpetrator. 
 
Other Powers 
 
To serve Notice to Quit to bring non-secure licenses and tenancies to an end, and to 
lodge copies of notices with the Public Trustee where appropriate.  
 
To serve Notice and Issue Possession Proceedings to remove trespassers from Council 
owned dwellings.  
 
To apply to Court to enforce warrants of possession obtained in respect of Council 
owned dwellings. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 83



 

64 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

REGENERATION AND LEISURE 
(moved to Chief Executive’s, Environment and 

Community Services) 

Tudalen 84



 

65 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005 
 
Delegated authority to make representations on behalf of the Council acting in its 
capacity as a responsible authority. 
 
 
ECONOMIC AND REGENERATION FUNCTIONS 

 
The functions associated with the delivery of the Council’s responsibilities for economic 
development and regeneration are delegated to the Director of Regeneration and 
Leisure including the approval of any grant that falls within these functions and, 
including (but not limited to) the functions described below. 
 
Business Support/Implementation Mechanism 
 
In consultation with the Director of Resources to consider each application according to 
agreed criteria. 
 
Business, Community or Regeneration Related Grants Programmes 
 
To award grants of up to a maximum of £5,000 under the above programmes. 
 

Western Valleys Sustainable Hubs Project 

Director of Regeneration and Leisure/Head of Economic Development, subject to 
consultation with the Grant Advisory Panel, to approve grants of up to £25,000 in 
relation to applications arising out of the Western Valleys Sustainable Hubs Community 
Regeneration project.  
 
Local Investment Fund 
 
Director of Regeneration and Leisure and the Head of Economic Development 
authorised to award grants under the Local Investment Fund up to a maximum of 
£35,000.   
CC 09/11/11 
 
Dyfed Welsh Church Fund 
To make grant awards from the Welsh Church Fund. 
 
PLANNING AND BUILDING CONTROL FUNCTIONS 
 
The functions associated with the Council’s responsibilities for planning and building 
control are delegated to the Director of Regeneration and Leisure and the Head of 
Planning, including (but not limited to) all the functions described below: 
 
Determination of Planning Applications 
 
The Head of Planning has delegated powers to deal with the determination of all 
planning (and other planning related) applications or an application or consent to display 
an advertisement, functions and procedures relating to Town and Country Planning  as 

Tudalen 85



 

66 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

contained within the following Acts (as amended where applicable) and including all 
subordinate legislation:- 

 
• Planning and Compensation Act 2004 
• The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
• The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
• The Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 1990 
 

The exceptions being:- 
 
• Applications where the Local Member submits a request to the Head of 
Planning for it to be considered by the Planning Committee, and this is made in 
writing within 21 days of receipt of the consultation and outlining material 
planning reasons;  
 
• Applications submitted by serving Councillors or their immediate family or 
employees of the Development Control Service or their immediate families; 
 
• Applications submitted by, or on behalf of, the Council or involving land owned 
by the Council and where the Council has a significant financial interest in such 
an application. 
  
• Minor applications where there is more than one letter of objection to the 

proposal from different households and the  recommendation is to approve  the 
application, unless: 

 

 where a material issue had been debated by the committee at the outline 
stage and  there were no changes in material circumstances between 
the outline and detailed application; 

 where persistent objections were received in respect of an on-going 
development which had previously been considered by the Planning 
Committee and which raised no new material planning considerations. 

 
• Major applications where there is more than five letters of objection to the 

proposal from different households or businesses or a petition and the grounds 
of objection are considered to be material planning considerations to the 
proposal and the recommendation is to approve the application, unless  

 where a material issue had been debated by the committee at the outline 
stage and there were no changes in material circumstances between the 
outline and detailed application; 

 where persistent objections were received in respect of an on-going 
development which had previously been considered by the Planning 
Committee and which raised no new material planning considerations. 

All exceptions will be reported to Planning Committee as long as they strictly 
comply with the proposed amended scheme of delegation. 

For the purposes of this protocol “Major developments” are those defined in article 1(1) 
of the General Development Procedure Order 1995 being:- 

(a) minerals development 

Tudalen 86



 

67 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

(b) waste development 

(c) 10 or more dwelling houses or the site concerned is of 0.5 hectares or over 

(d) a building with 1000 square metres or more of floor space 

(e) development on land of 1 hectare or over 

“Minor developments” for the purposes of this protocol are to be defined as meaning all 
other developments. 

CC12/10/11 

To also determine planning applications in the following instances: 

 where a material issue had been debated by the Committee at the 
outline stage and again at the detailed stage and if there were no 
changes in material circumstances between the outline and detailed 
application; 

 where persistent objections were received in respect of an on-going 
development which had previously been considered by the Planning 
Committee and which raised no new material planning considerations. 

 

Administration 

Undertake statutory and non-statutory publicity and consultations. 
 
Add conditions to planning consents once approved by the Planning Committee.  
 
Amend or add reasons for refusals and conditions on approvals by Committee broadly 
consistent with the general tenure of decisions determined by the Planning Committee. 
 
Issue planning decision notices. 
 
Issue building regulations decision notices. 
 
Respond to Hedgerow Removal Notice Orders. 
 
Issue Tree Preservation Orders and Building Preservation Orders. 
 
Serve emergency tree preservation orders and building preservation notices following 
consultation with the appropriate Executive Board Member and the local ward 
member(s).  
 
Determine consent for work on trees covered by Tree Preservation Orders (including 
works on trees in a Conservation Order). 
 
To process procedural matters relating to applications for review of conditions at mineral 
workings.  
 
Approve details of minor developments within mineral workings under the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995. 
 

Tudalen 87



 

68 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

Determine requests for screening opinion under regulation 5 of The Town and Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (England and Wales) Regulations 1999. 
 
Consultation on applications under Section 38 of the Electricity Act 1989. 
 
Head of Planning will have responsibility for the appointment of an independent 
surveyor in the adjudication of disputes relating to The Party Wall Act 1996. 
 
To undertake the necessary investigations into allegations of unauthorised 
development, and to instigate any appropriate enforcement action under Part VII of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
Planning and Building Regulations 

 
Delegated authority to the Head of Planning to consider prior notification of permitted 
developments received by the local planning authority and issuing of the necessary 
notices.  
 
To issue necessary enforcement and other action relating to the enforcement of 
planning and listed building legislation. 
  
To undertake the necessary investigations into allegations of unauthorised 
development, and instigate any appropriate enforcement action under Part VII of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Listed Building Act 1990. 
 
To determine Tree Preservation Order applications made under Sections 198 and 211 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  
 
To enter into planning obligations regulating development or use of land under Section 
106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, and to negotiate, modify or discharge 
such obligations. 
 
To agree minor changes to the Carmarthenshire Unitary Development Plan or any 
subsequent plan which does not fundamentally alter the plan’s basic strategy as agreed 
by County Council.  Authority to the Head of Planning to amend the policies where there 
are cartographical errors, typographical errors, omission of objections or amendments 
to reflect emerging policies and guidelines from WAG.  

 
To determine applications received for a Certificate of Lawful Development. 

 
To determine applications for Certificates of Alternative Appropriate Development, 
Listed Building applications and Conservation Area consents, Tree Preservation 
Notices, Building Preservation Notices, Hedgerow Regulation Notices and amendments 
to the Common Land Register. 
 
Authority to the Head of Planning to appoint officers and elected members to exercise 
the right of entry onto land, as determined by: 
 
Section 196 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990; 
Section 324 and 325 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990; 
Section 11 of the Planning and Compensation Act 1991; 

Tudalen 88



 

69 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

Section 88 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Area) Act 1990; 
Section 95 of the Building Act 1984. 
 

To take action under the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994. 
 

Street naming and numbering under the provisions of Sections 17, 18 and 19 of the 
Public Health Act 1925, Sections 64 and 65 of the Town and Improvement Clauses Act 
1847 and the relevant provisions of the Public Health Act 1875, to include the power to 
erect names of public streets and ensure that names and/or numbers of buildings are 
properly displayed.  

Authority to the Head of Planning to determine applications for a screening opinion 
under the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations 1999 and to screen submitted 
applications. 
 
To act as the Appointing Officer for the purposes of the Party Wall etc. Act 1996. 
 
Law of Property Act 1925  

Head of Housing Services, Head of Planning, Head of Public Protection and Head of 
Administration and Law to instigate the necessary action to bring about an enforced 
sale, including the disposal of the property. 

 

BUILDING REGULATIONS 
 
Delegated authority is granted to the Head of Planning and Building Control Manager to 
determine all building regulation duties, including the determination of building 
regulations’ applications, enforcement and measures relating to dangerous buildings. 
Authorisation to sign the necessary statutory notices.  
 
Hedgerow Regulations  

To issue a Hedgerow Retention Notice and where appropriate to consult with Local 
Member(s), Community Council, Countryside Commission for Wales and Cambria 
Archaeology.  

To issue and enforce Hedgerow Replanting Notices in accordance with agreed County 
Council guidelines. 
 
To grant the removal of a hedgerow in accordance with statutory requirements. 
 
COUNTRYSIDE, RECREATION AND ACCESS 
 
All statutory powers and duties relating to footpaths and bridleways are delegated to the 
Director of Regeneration and the Head of Leisure and Sport (including powers relating 
to enforcement and entry to land), including those relevant powers and duties arising 
under the following enactments: 
 
Countryside Act 1968 
Highways Act 1980 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 

Tudalen 89



 

70 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

Cycle Tracks Act 1984 
Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 
Rights of Way Act 1990 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
Road Traffic Act 1988 
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 90



 

71 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TECHNICAL SERVICES 
 

ENVIRONMENT 

Tudalen 91



 

72 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

Powers delegated to the Director of (Technical Services) Environment 
 

To Manage the County Council's technical and operational direct service 
organisations, in so far as not located within any other department.  To determine all 
matters relating to the Technical Services Environment Department on a day to day 
basis.  

 
To oversee all operational matters in relation to the following functional areas: 
 

 Consultancy. 

 Professional Design Services and Dwr Cymru contracts. 

 Transport. 

 Construction Services - Highway Maintenance,  

 Building Maintenance and Asset Management ,  

 Grounds Maintenance,  

 Waste Management,  

 Land Drainage 

 Sustainable Drainage Approval Body 

 Coastal Protection 

 Flood Mapping 

 Street Cleansing  

 Municipal Services. 

 Planning 

 Building Control 

 Emergency Planning 

 Ammanford Cemetery. 

 Public Rights of Way 
 

 
To nominate officers authorised to sign documents, certificates, letters, invoices, 
orders and all other financial and administrative correspondence and documents, on 
such terms as the Director may specify.  
 
 

Section 104 Agreements - Water Industry Act 1991 
 
To formally adopt sewers under Section 104 of the Water Industry Act 1991. 
  
Annual Tenders 
 
To obtain spot prices for the provision of services when it was considered that this might 
be advantageous to the Authority. 
 
Cwm Environmental Limited 
 
To exercise the functions for which the Council are responsible under the Memorandum 
and Articles of Association of the Company.  
 

Tudalen 92



 

73 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

To jointly agree with the Director of Resources the authority for CWM Environmental 
Limited, the appointment of Auditors and enter into transactions in excess of 
£25,000.(now within Shareholders Board) 
 
Ammanford Cemetery -  (MOVED TO MUNICIPAL SERVICES MANAGER) 
 
To act as the Authority’s Proper Officer under Section 112 of the Local Government Act 
1972 and as the Registrar of Burials. 
 
 

 
Powers Delegated to the Head of Transport and Engineering 

 
To be the Authority’s Traffic Manager 
 
To appoint officers authorised to determine informal challenges and formal 
representations to the issue of Parking Contravention Notices and Notices to Owners.  
 
On and Off Street Traffic Regulation Orders 
 
To commence the statutory process for the making of On and Off Street Traffic 
Regulation Orders. 
 
Temporary Traffic Regulation Orders 
 
To authorise the making of temporary traffic regulation orders, subject to the approval of 
local members. 
 
Residents’ Parking Permits and Access Permits 
 
To sign and issue Residents’ Parking Permits and access permits. 
  
Land Acquisition for Transport Infrastructure Schemes 
 
To instruct the Head of Corporate Property Regeneration to open negotiations for the 
purchase of land required for transport infrastructure schemes provided that the scheme 
is included within the Council’s Local Transport Plan, Regional Transport Plan or within 
a programme approved by Council. 
 
Request from Associations and the General Public for Partial Use of a Car Park 
Owned by the Authority for Alternative Activities 

 
To authorise, in consultation with the Executive Board Cabinet Member of Environment 
and local member(s), to consider requests received for alternative temporary partial use 
of County Council owned car parks. 
 
To authorise the Director of Technical Services Environment and his or her nominated 
officers to lay information and instruct the Head of Administration and Law to conduct 
proceedings in the Magistrates’ Court on behalf of the County Council in relation to 
alleged offences under the Carmarthenshire County Council (Off Street Parking Places) 

Tudalen 93



 

74 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

(Llanelli) (Amendment) Order 2000 and the Carmarthenshire County Council (Off Street 
Parking Places) (Carmarthen) (Amendment) Order 2000. 
 
Home to School Transport 
 
To constitute an Officer Home to School Transport Appeals Panel (comprising 
representation from Legal, Education and Transport and Engineering Divisions) in order 
to hear and determine appeals relating to home to school transport. 
 
Entry onto land for surveys in connection with Transport Infrastructure Schemes 
 
To be authorised to serve notices of entry under Section 289 of the Highways Act 1980 
for the purpose of surveying on land (including boreholes and trial pits) in connection 
with the development of transport infrastructure schemes. 
 
Street Scene 
 
Land Acquisition for Highways, Bridge maintenance and remedial earthworks 
Schemes 
 
To instruct the Head of Corporate Property Regeneration to open negotiations for the 
purchase of land required for highways, bridge maintenance and remedial earthworks 
schemes provided that the scheme is included within a programme approved by 
Council. 
 
Entry onto land for surveys in connection with Highways, Bridge maintenance 
and remedial earthworks Schemes 
 
To serve notices of entry under Section 289 of the Highways Act 1980 for the purpose 
of surveying on land (including boreholes and trial pits) in connection with the 
development of highways, bridge maintenance and remedial earthworks schemes. 
 
Highways Act (1980), New Roads and Street Works Act, Land Drainage Act, 
Traffic Management Act 2004 (Commencement No.1) (Wales) Order 2006, 
Environmental Protection Act 1990, Clean Neighbourhood and Environment Act 
2005. 

 

Powers to deal with all statutory powers under the various sections of the above Acts. 
 
Land acquisition for minor improvement, bridge maintenance, remedial 
earthworks and road safety schemes 
 
To instruct the Head of Corporate Property Regeneration to purchase small parcels of 
land required for small highway improvements, bridge maintenance, remedial 
earthworks and road safety schemes up to a value of £5,000 (subject to valuation), to 
be funded from the revenue maintenance budget. 
 
Highways Act 1980 section 151 

 
Delegated authority to enforce the provisions of the above section of the Act. 
 

Tudalen 94



 

75 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

COUNTRYSIDE, RECREATION AND ACCESS (Moved from Regeneration and 
Leisure) 
 
All statutory powers and duties relating to footpaths and bridleways are delegated to the 
Director of Environment and Head of Transportation and Highways (including powers 
relating to enforcement and entry to land), including those relevant powers and duties 
arising under the following enactments: 
 
Countryside Act 1968 
Highways Act 1980 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 
Cycle Tracks Act 1984 
Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 
Rights of Way Act 1990 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
Road Traffic Act 1988 
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000. 
 
 
 
 
 

Powers Delegated to the Head of Waste and Environmental Services 
 
Charges for the collection of household and commercial waste. 
 
Delegated powers in consultation with the Executive Board Cabinet Member for 
Environment, to set charges for the collection of household and commercial waste as 
described in regulation 4 and schedule 2 and regulation 6 and regulation 4 of the 
Controlled Waste Regulations 1992  
 
Dog Fouling of Pavements 
 
Delegate powers to action the Dog Fouling of Land (Act) 1996 under the terms of 
Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
 
Powers to tackle litter and refuse on land 
 
Delegated powers to investigate and proceed with prosecutions under Section 101 of 
the Local Government Act 1972 in order to tackle litter and refuse on land under Section 
33, 34, 46, 59,60,73, 88, 89, 90, 91, 92, 94,99 of the Environmental Protection Act, 
Section 215 of the Town and Country Planning Act, Section 22(3) and 23 of the Control 
of Pollution Act 1974, Section 78 of the Public Health Act 1936, Section 34 of the Public 
Health Act 1961, Sections 2, 3,4, 6, 7 and 8 of the Refuse Disposal Amenity Act 1978, 
Section 5(9) of the Litter Act, Section 148 and 149 of the Highways Act 
Schedule 3A, Paragraph 7(2) Environmental Protection Act 1990. 
 
Powers to tackle litter, refuse, graffiti and fly posting 
 
Delegated Powers to investigate and proceed with prosecution under: 

Tudalen 95



 

76 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

Section 71 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990. 

Section 5 and 6 of the Control of Pollution (Amendment Act) 1989. 

Sections 43, 45, 47, 48, 49, 55, and 56 of the Anti Social Behaviour Act 2003. 

Section 108 of the Environment Act 1995. 

Section 137, 138, 139, 140,143,143, 154,169, 170, 171 and 180 of the Highways Act 

1980. 

Section 16 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 

Section 4 of the Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949. 

Neighbourhood and Environment Act 
 
Part 2 Nuisance Vehicles - Sections 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16 and 17.  
Part 3 Litter and Refuse - Sections 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26 and 27.  
Part 4 Graffiti and other Defacement - Sections 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33 and 34.  

 
Part 5 Waste - Sections 35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 
52 and 53.  
Part 6 Dogs - Sections 55, 56, 57, 58, 59, 60, 61, 62, 63, 64, 65, 66, 67 and  68.  
Part 9 Miscellaneous - Sections 96, 97, 98, 99 and 100. 
 
Default Works 
 
Where an infraction of legislation continued following the service and expiration of a 
Notice requiring works to be undertaken, delegated powers be granted to the Director of 
Technical Services Environment, the Head of Street Scene Waste and 
Environmental Services and the Street Care Manager to initiate and make 
arrangements for the execution of works in default, to the monetary limit specified in 
Council Standing Orders currently in force. 
 
Bylaws  
 
Delegated authority to enforce the following byelaws: 

1994 Carmarthen District Bylaws for the Regulation of Dogs on land fronting 
the beach at Llansteffan; 
1996 Carmarthen District Bylaws for the Regulation of Dogs on the seashore 
at Llansteffan. 

 
 

Highways Act 1980 section 151 (MOVED TO HEAD OF TRANSPORT AND 
ENGINEERING) 

 

Tudalen 96



 

77 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

Delegated authority to enforce the provisions of the above section of the Act. 
 
 

 
Powers Delegated to the Head of Planning Head of Place and 
Sustainability 
 
The functions associated with the Council’s responsibilities for planning and building 
control are delegated to the Director of Regeneration and Leisure Environment and the 
Head of Planning Place and Sustainability, including (but not limited to) all the 
functions described below 
 
Determination of Planning Applications 
 
The Head of Planning Place and Sustainability has delegated powers to deal with the 
determination of all planning (and other planning related) applications or an application 
or consent to display an advertisement, functions and procedures relating to Town and 
Country Planning as contained within the following Acts (as amended where applicable) 
and including all subordinate legislation:- 
 

• The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
• The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
• The Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 1990 

           *Planning and Compensation Act 2004 
           *Planning (Wales) Act 2015 
           *The Historic Environment (Wales) Act 2016 
           * The Dyfed Act 1987 

 
The exceptions being:- 

 
• Applications where the Local Member submits a request to the Head of 
Planning Place and Sustainability for it to be considered by the Planning 
Committee, and this is made in writing within 21 days of receipt of the 
consultation and outlining material planning reasons.  
 
• Applications submitted by or on behalf of serving Councillors or their 
immediate family or employees of the Development Control Service or their 
immediate families; 
 
• Applications submitted by, or on behalf of, the Council or involving land owned 
by the Council and where the Council has will receive a significant financial 
interest in such an application receipt as a result of the development. 
  
• Minor applications where there is are more than one three  letters of objection 

to the proposal from different households or businesses,  or petitions of  
three signatures from different households or businesses or more,  and 
the grounds of objection are considered to be material planning 
considerations to the proposal and the officer recommendation is to 
approve the application, unless: 

 

Tudalen 97



 

78 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 where a material issue(s) had been debated by the committee at the 
outline stage and  there were no changes in material circumstances 
between the outline and detailed (reserved matters) application; 

 where a material issue(s) had been debated by the Committee at 
the original planning application stage and there were no changes 
in material circumstances between the original and Section 73 
(Removal/  variation) application; 

 where persistent objections were received in respect of an on-going 
development which had previously been considered by the Planning 
Committee and which raised no new material planning considerations. 

 Major applications where there is are more than five seven letters of objection 
to the proposal from different households or businesses, or petitions of 
seven  signatures from different households or businesses or more, and 
the grounds of objection are considered to be material planning 
considerations to the proposal and the officer recommendation is to 
approve the application, unless: 

 where a material issue(s) had been debated by the committee at the 
outline stage and there were no changes in material circumstances 
between the outline and detailed (reserved matters) application; 

 where a material issue(s) had been debated by the Committee at the 
original planning application stage and there were no changes in 
material circumstances between the original and Section 73 
(Removal /Variation) application; 

 where persistent objections were received in respect of an on-going 
development which had previously been considered by the Planning 
Committee and which raised no new material planning considerations. 

 Applications that the Head of Place and Sustainability considers 
should be dealt with by the Planning Committee. 

The above listed exceptions do not apply to the following applications and/or 
consents: 

Prior Notifications 
Applications relating to a Local Development Order 
Non-Material Amendments 
Discharge of Conditions 
Modified / Discharge of Planning Obligations 
Advertisement Consent 
Listed Building Consent 
Conservation Area Consent 
Hedgerow Removal Notices 
Works to Trees in a Conservation Area 
Works to Tree Preservation Orders 
CLEUD (Certificate of Lawful Existing Use or Development) 
CLOPUD (Certificate of Proposed Lawful Use or Development) 
Certificates of Alternative Appropriate Development 
Overhead Line Notifications 

All exceptions will be reported to Planning Committee as long as they strictly 
comply with the proposed amended scheme of delegation. 

Tudalen 98



 

79 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

For the purposes of this protocol “Major developments” are those defined in article 1 
2(1) of the General Development Procedure Order 1995 Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure)(Wales) Order 2012 being:- 

(a) minerals development 

(b) waste development 

(c) 10 or more dwelling houses or the site concerned is of 0.5 hectares or over 

(d) a building with 1000 square metres or more of floor space 

(e) development on land of 1 hectare or over 

“Minor developments” for the purposes of this protocol are to be defined as meaning all 
other developments. 

CC12/10/11 

To also determine planning applications in the following instances: 

 where a material issue had been debated by the Committee at the 
outline stage and again at the detailed stage and if there were no 
changes in material circumstances between the outline and detailed 
application; 

 where persistent objections were received in respect of an on-going 
development which had previously been considered by the Planning 
Committee and which raised no new material planning considerations. 

Determination of Building Regulations Applications 

The Head of Place and Sustainability has delegated powers to deal with the 
determination of all building regulation applications, functions and 
procedures relating to the following Acts and including all subordinate 
legislation 

The Building Act 1984 
The Building Regulations 2010 

 

Administration 

Undertake statutory and non-statutory publicity and consultations. 
 
Add conditions to planning consents once approved by the Planning Committee. 
(duplication – covered by next delegation) 
 
Amend or add reasons for refusals and conditions on approvals by Committee broadly 
consistent with the general tenure of decisions determined by the Planning Committee 
prior to issuing the decision notice. 
 
Issue planning decision notices. 
 
Issue building regulations decision notices. 
 
Respond to Hedgerow Removal Notice Orders. 
 
Issue Tree Preservation Orders and Building Preservation Orders. 

Tudalen 99



 

80 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
Serve emergency tree preservation orders and building preservation notices following 
consultation with the appropriate Cabinet Member and the local ward member(s).  
 
Determine consent for work on trees covered by Tree Preservation Orders (including 
works on trees in a Conservation Order). 
 
To process procedural matters relating to applications for review of conditions at mineral 
workings.  
 
Approve details of minor developments within mineral workings under the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995. 
 
Determine requests for screening opinion under regulations 6 & 8 5 of The Town and 
Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 1999 2017. 
Determine requests for scoping opinion under regulation 14 of The Town and 
Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (Wales) Regulations 2017 
 
Consultation on applications under Section 38 of the Electricity Act 1989. 
 
Head of Planning Place and Sustainability will have responsibility for the appointment 
of an independent surveyor in the adjudication of disputes relating to The Party Wall Act 
1996. 
 
To undertake the necessary investigations into allegations of unauthorised 
development, and to instigate any appropriate enforcement action under Part VII of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
Planning and Building Regulations 

 
To enter into planning obligations regulating development or use of land under Section 
106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and to negotiate, modify or discharge 
such obligations. 
 
To refuse applications where Planning Committee has resolved to approve 
subject to a legal agreement and such an agreement has not been signed within 
12 months from the date of the Planning Committee resolution. 
 
To determine applications received for a CLEUD or CLOPUD 
 
To determine non-material amendment applications. 
 
To determine applications to discharge planning conditions 
 
To determine applications for Advertisement Consent 
 
To determine applications for certificates of Alternative Appropriate Development 
 
To determine Listed Building Applications 
 

Tudalen 100



 

81 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

To determine Conservation Area consents 
 
To consider prior notification of permitted developments received by the local 
planning authority and issuing of the necessary notices.  
 
To determine applications for screening / scoping under the Town and Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment)(Wales) Regulations 2017. 
 
To formulate responses to Development of National Significance under the 
Planning (Wales) Act 2015 and Development of National Significance Procedure 
Regulations 2016 
 
To formulate responses to Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects under the 
Planning Act 2008 
 
To consider and respond to statutory pre-application enquiries under the Town 
and Country Planning (Pre-Application Services)(Wales) Regulations 2016.  
 
To issue necessary enforcement and other action relating to the enforcement of 
planning and listed building legislation. 
  
To undertake the necessary investigations into allegations of unauthorised 
development, and instigate any appropriate enforcement action under Part VII of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Listed Building Act 1990. 
 
To undertake the necessary investigations into complaints in respect of High 
Hedges and issue any appropriate remedial notices under Part 8 of the Anti 
Social Behaviour Act 2003. 
 
To determine Tree Preservation Order applications made under Sections 198 and 211 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  
 
To issue Tree Preservation Notices 
 
To issue Building Preservation Notices 
 
To issue Hedgerow Regulation Notices 
 
To issue amendments to the Common Land Register 
 
To agree minor changes to the Carmarthenshire Unitary Development Plan or any 
subsequent plan which does not fundamentally alter the plan’s basic strategy as agreed 
by County Council.  Authority to the Head of Planning Place and Sustainability to 
amend the policies where there are cartographical errors, typographical errors, omission 
of objections or amendments to reflect emerging policies and guidelines from WG.  
 
Authority to the Head of Planning Place and Sustainability to appoint officers and 
elected members to exercise the right of entry onto land, as determined by: 
 
Section 196 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990; 
Section 324 and 325 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990; 

Tudalen 101



 

82 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

Section 11 of the Planning and Compensation Act 1991; 
Section 88 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Area) Act 1990; 
Section 95 of the Building Act 1984. 
 

To take action under the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994. 

Street naming and numbering under the provisions of Sections 17, 18 and 19 of the 
Public Health Act 1925, Sections 64 and 65 of the Town and Improvement Clauses Act 
1847 and the relevant provisions of the Public Health Act 1875, to include the power to 
erect names of public streets and ensure that names and/or numbers of buildings are 
properly displayed.  

To act as the Appointing Officer for the purposes of the Party Wall etc. Act 1996. 
 
Law of Property Act 1925  

Head of Housing Services Homes and Safer Communities, Head of Planning Place 
and Sustainability, Head of Public Protection and Head of Administration and Law to 
instigate the necessary action to bring about an enforced sale, including the disposal of 
the property. 

 
Building Regulations  
Delegated authority is granted to the Head of Planning Place and Sustainability and 
Building Control Manager to determine all building regulation duties, including the 
determination of building regulations’ applications, enforcement and measures relating 
to dangerous buildings. Authorisation to sign the necessary statutory notices.  
 
Hedgerow Regulations  

To issue a Hedgerow Retention Notice and where appropriate to consult with Local 
Member(s), Community Council, Countryside Commission for Wales and Cambria 
Archaeology.  

To issue and enforce Hedgerow Replanting Notices in accordance with agreed County 
Council guidelines. 
 
To grant the removal of a hedgerow in accordance with statutory requirements. 
 

 
Powers Delegated to the Municipal Services Manager 
 
Ammanford Cemetery 
 
To act as the Authority’s Proper Officer under Section 112 of the Local Government Act 
1972 and as the Registrar of Burials. 

Tudalen 102



 

83 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 103



 

84 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EDUCATION AND CHILDREN’S SERVICES 

Tudalen 104



 

85 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
DIRECTOR 
 
To exercise all powers relating to the functions of the County Council as the Local 
Education Authority.  
 
The Director of Education and Children’s Services is the Lead Director for children and 
young people, as required by the Children Act 2004, and has responsibility for co-
ordinating and overseeing the promotion of local co-operation between the Council and 
other relevant partners and bodies, and also in publishing plans setting out the Council’s 
strategy in relation to children and young people. 
 
In addition, operational responsibility for children, young people and families’ social 
services functions are specifically delegated from the Director of Community Services to 
the Director of Education and Children’s Services. 
 
Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005 
Delegated authority to make representations on behalf of the Council acting in its 
capacity as a responsible authority. 
 
 
Student Support 
 
To determine eligibility for Student Support in accordance with Government, WAG and 
Council regulations and policies. 
 
 
Charitable Trust Funds 
 
To determine, in consultation with Trustees, applications received for financial support 
from Charitable Trust Funds administered by the Authority on behalf of Trustees. 
 
School Closures 
Notice of Closure 
To deal with schools with no registered pupils on the statutory January census date (a 
“small school”) and that such schools be subject to an immediate notice of closure. 
(County Council decision 15 April 2014). 
 
 
 
HEAD OF CURRICULUM AND WELLBEING 
 
Youth Justice under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. 
 
Youth Support under The Learning and Skills Act 2000 – provision, securing the 
provision of, or participating in the provision of youth support services. 
 
Delivery of the Welsh Government Youth Engagement and Progression 
Framework. 
 
 

Tudalen 105



 

86 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

HEAD OF EDUCATION AND INCLUSION SERVICES 
 
Local Management of Schools (LMS) Scheme 
 
To vire funds within the education budget to comply with the LMS Scheme and WG 
Regulations and guidance. 
 
School Reorganisations – Treatment of Balances of Closing Schools 
 
To determine whether new schools should be allocated some additional funding to 
reflect the benefit of the balances of closing schools affected by reorganisations. 
 
Parent Governors 
 
Returning Officer for the election of Parent Governors and to determine the 
arrangements for the elections. 
 
Statements of Special Educational Needs 
 
To authorise Statements of Special Educational Needs in accordance with statutory 
regulations. 
 
Free School Meals and Milk 
 
To determine applications for Free School Meals and Milk in accordance with National 
and Council Policies. 
 
Financial Support 
 
To provide financial support to children and families in need under Section 17 of the 
Children Act 1989 Part 3 and 4 of the Social Services and Wellbeing Act 2014. 
 
 
HEAD OF ACCESS TO EDUCATION SERVICES 
 
Admission of Pupils to Schools 
 
To undertake the role of Admissions Authority for all Community and Voluntary 
Controlled schools, in accordance with published guidelines. 
 
Disposal of Redundant School Sites & Buildings 
 
To instruct the Head of Corporate Property Regeneration to dispose of redundant 
school sites and buildings following closure, in line with agreed Council policy.  
 
21st Century Schools Programme Tranche 3 bids 
  
Authority to determine the most appropriate prioritisation of school modernisation 
projects at Carreg Hirfaen, Ysgol Y Strade and Coedcae and others within the 
Modernising Education Programme for submission under Tranche 3 Band A and Band 
B Outline Funding Programmes following further discussion with Assembly Welsh 

Tudalen 106



 

87 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

Government officials (CC 12/05/10) (Band A – EB 20/06/2016), (Band B – EB 18/12 
2017) 
 
 
HEAD OF CHILDRENS SERVICES 
 
Child Protection 
 
To commence Care Proceedings and other proceedings under the Children Act 1989. 
 
To authorise the detention of a child or young person in secure accommodation for a 
period of up to 72 hours, under Section 25 of the Children Act 1989. 
 
Adoption  
 
To be the Council’s Agency Decision Maker in relation to the approval of adopters, the 
placement of children for adoption, and the matching of children with adopters. 
 
To ensure that there is appropriate representation on the West Wales Regional 
Adoption Panel in consultation with the Executive Board Cabinet and partner 
authorities. 
 
Fostering  
 
To be the Council’s Agency Decision Maker in relation to the approval and de-
registration of foster carers. 
 
To review and decide upon the level of annual increases in boarding out allowances to 
be paid to foster carers, in accordance with the Council’s financial procedures and 
regulations 
 
Looked After Children 
 
To place Looked After Children outside Carmarthenshire, and/or with a non-Local 
Authority provider, when appropriate, and to make provision for any associated costs. 
 
 
Children’s Homes 
 
To ensure that the statutory requirements are met as required by the Care and Social 
Services Inspectorate Wales.  
 
 
Pupils’ Non-Attendance at School 
 
To instigate proceedings, and represent the Council in prosecutions at Magistrates’ 
Courts, in respect of pupils’ non-attendance at school. 
 
Child Employment  
 
To licence the employment of children. 

Tudalen 107



 

88 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
 
To determine applications received for clothing grants.  
 
 

Tudalen 108



 

89 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 109



 

90 
Revised as at Council 14/06/2012 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 110



 

1 
Revised 14/06/2012 

 

 

PART 5 CODES & PROTOCOLS 

 
PART 5.3   REPRESENTATIONS TO THE COUNTY COUNCIL ON PLANNING 

APPLICATIONS 
 

 

PROTOCOL  
  

The authority advise members of the public and Town and Community Councils (the 
correspondent) of the entitlement to address the Planning Committee when objections or 
comments are received, and when acknowledging correspondence.  
  
The correspondent is advised to contact the case officer (the name of which will be provided) 
to discuss the protocol and the likely date and venue of the Committee meeting at which the 
application will be discussed.  
  
The officer’s report will be made available three days before the date of the meeting to all 

interested parties who request a copy.  The officer’s report will also be made available via the 
authority’s internet pages at www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk three days before the date of the 
meeting.  
  
Any objector who raises a material planning consideration will be entitled to address the 

Committee.  A maximum of two objectors from different addresses who have raised 

material planning considerations will be entitled to address the Committee. The Head of 

Place and Sustainability Planning will determine whether the issue raised is a material 
planning consideration.  
 
In the event of a disagreement on this point, the Head of Administration and Law, the Chair 
and Vice-Chair of the Committee will determine whether the correspondent has a right to 
address the Committee.  

 

Should more than two requests be received to address the Planning Committee on a 

planning application it shall be the first two requests received in time that shall be 

given the right to address the Committee.  
  
Two objectors per planning application may address the Committee, and the request is to be 
received in writing by the Head of Planning by mid-day three clear working days before the 
Committee meeting.  
  
Requests by the Town and Community Councils to address the Committee must be received 
in writing by the Head of Planning by mid-day three clear working days before the Committee 

meeting. Requests to speak from objectors shall be received in writing by the Head of 

Place and Sustainability before the Planning Committee meeting as follows: 

 

Committee Day Request to speak deadline (12 noon) 

Monday Preceding Wednesday  

Tuesday Preceding Thursday 

Wednesday Preceding Friday 

Tudalen 111

http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.uk/


 

                                                                        2 

Thursday Preceding Monday 

Friday Preceding Tuesday 

 
  
The applicant or his/her representative has the right to respond to objections; but may not 
speak simply to promote the scheme.  In the absence of any objection the applicant shall not 
have the right to address the Committee.  The applicant will be advised of the method and 
means of appeal if a refusal notice is issued.  
  

The applicant shall be advised at least 24 hours before the meeting that an objector/s wishes 

has registered to speak.  
  
The Local Members shall be advised that a members of the public or Town and Community 
Council wish to address the Committee.  
 

Local Members who may wish to address the Planning Committee (in accordance with 

their rights under Section 2.6 of Part 5.2 of the constitution namely the Code of Conduct 

for Councillors and Officers in Planning Matters) are advised to contact the Case Officer 

and / or Chair of the Planning Committee 24 hours before the meeting. 

 

In the event that an application is to be deferred a maximum of two objectors per 

application will be given the option of either addressing the original Committee or the 

subsequent Committee. Objectors who have already spoken on the application at the 

original Planning Committee will not be able to address the subsequent Committee. 

Tudalen 112



 

                                                                        2 

 

THE ORDER OF PRESENTATION TO THE COMMITTEE SHALL BE:  
  

 Opening remarks, background and report by the officer  
  

 Objector/representative - two speakers per planning application (maximum of 5 minutes 
each)  

  

 Applicant/agent  
  

 Local member(s) - local county councillor(s) and one representative from the local 
town/community council (maximum of 5 minutes each, or 5 minutes per local member 
for a dual/multi ward)  

  

 Committee member question and comment  
  

 Summary by officer  
  

 Decision  
 

 

 

NOTES  
  

The protocol shall be available for the public to view at all meetings and the Chair shall outline 
the process at the beginning of the meeting.  
  
Items on which the public and/or Town and Community Council wish to address the 
Committee shall be brought forward on the Agenda in an order determined by the Chair.  
  

The Chair, Head of Planning Place and Sustainability, and legal representative prior to 
circulation shall vet any late representations.  All late material considerations shall be recorded 
in the minutes and circulated if relevant to the issues being discussed.  
  
Deferral of the proposal on request of the applicant will only occur if the information received 
relates to material/additional issues not covered in the report.  

 
 

Tudalen 113



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



1 

CYNGOR SIR  

9FED CHWEFROR 2022 

 

 

CYNLLUN DEISEBAU SIR GAERFYRDDIN 
 

YR ARGYMHELLION / PENDERFYNIADAU ALLWEDDOL SYDD EU HANGEN: 
 

Argymell i'r Cyngor ei fod yn mabwysiadu cynllun deisebau ar gyfer yr 
Awdurdod.  
 
  
 

 

RHESYMAU:  

Mae'n un o ofynion Deddf Llywodraeth Leol ac Etholiadau (Cymru) 2021 fod pob awdurdod 
lleol yn gwneud cynllun deisebau, a bod y cynllun ar waith erbyn mis Mai 2022.  

 

Ystyriodd CRWG gynllun deisebau drafft ac mae'n argymell y cynllun deisebau i'r Cyngor. 

 

Angen ymgynghori â'r Pwyllgor Craffu perthnasol    Amh. 
Angen i’r Cabinet wneud penderfyniad    NAC OES  
Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad OES 

 

Aelod(au) Perthnasol y Cabinet : Y Cynghorydd Emlyn Dole - Arweinydd 

 

Cyfarwyddwr 

 

Enw Pennaeth y 
Gwasanaeth 

Linda Rees Jones 

 

Awdur yr Adroddiad 

Linda Rees Jones 

Gaynor Morgan 

Prif Weithredwr 

 

Swyddi 

Pennaeth Gweinyddiaeth a’r 
Gyfraith 

 

Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd 

Rhif ffôn 

01267 224012  LRJ 

01267 224026  GM 

 

Cyfeiriad e-bost:- 

Lrjones@sirgar.gov.uk 

gmorgan@sirgar.gov.uk 

 

Tudalen 115

Eitem Rhif  5.2

mailto:Lrjones@sirgar.gov.uk
mailto:Lrjones@sirgar.gov.uk
mailto:gmorgan@sirgar.gov.uk
mailto:gmorgan@sirgar.gov.uk


2 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

COUNCIL  

9TH FEBRUARY 2022 

 

CARMARTHENSHIRE PETITIONS SCHEME 
Part 3 of The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 places a duty on principal 
councils to promote public participation in their decision making.  
 

To that end, amongst other things, requires each principal council to make and publish a 

petition scheme (a “petition scheme”) setting out how the council intends to handle and 

respond to petitions (including electronic petitions). 

A petition scheme must, in particular, set out— 

(a)  how a petition may be submitted to the council; 

(b)  how and by when the council will acknowledge receipt of a petition; 

(c)  the steps the council may take in response to a petition received by it; 

(d)  the circumstances (if any) in which the council may take no further action in response 

to a petition; 

(e)  how and by when the council will make available its response to a petition to the 

person who submitted the petition and to the public. 

This Council’s Council Procedure Rules (Standing Orders) have long since provided a right 

for any member of the Council or any local government elector of the County to submit a  

petition, although to date this has been a paper petition in that no electronic petition facility 

has been available. The threshold is currently 50 signatures or more. Eligible petitions may be 

referred to Council for debate, although petitions on executive functions will ultimately be 

decided by the Cabinet or Cabinet Member. This provision in Standing Orders will now need 

to be drafted as a Scheme, to include an electronic petition facility. 

This gives the Authority an opportunity to revisit its arrangements. No Guidance is currently 

available on the development of a Petition Scheme under the 2021 Act. Guidance in England 

to English Authorities some years ago suggested that the threshold be no more than 5% of 

the County’s population, but encouraged the threshold to be set at less. Senedd Cymru’s 

threshold is 250 for a petition to be discussed by its Petitions Committee (Carmarthenshire 

County Council does not have a Petitions Committee) and 10,000 for it to be debated in the 

Senedd. 

A principal council must review its petition scheme from time to time and, if the council 

considers it appropriate, revise the scheme. 

If a principal council revises or replaces a petition scheme, it must publish the revised or new 

scheme. 

 
This report includes a draft petition scheme considered by  CRWG for recommendation to 

Tudalen 116



3 

Council.  As part of the scheme  CRWG  
 

 Considered  a number for triggering a petition to council (currently 50 registered 
Carmarthenshire electors)  

 a time period for electronic petitions to be open; and  
 a time period during which similar petitions will not be considered. 

DETAILED REPORT 
ATTACHED? 

YES – Draft  Petition Scheme 
CPR10 Part B - Petitions 

 

Tudalen 117



4 

IMPLICATIONS 
 

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this 
report : 

Signed:   Linda Rees Jones, Head of Administration & Law        

Policy, Crime 
& Disorder and 
Equalities 

Legal  Finance  ICT  Risk 
Management 
Issues  

Staffing 
Implications 

Physical 
Assets   

NONE YES NONE NONE NONE NONE  NONE 

Legal   

It is a legal requirement for a principal council to establish a petition scheme in accordance with 
the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021. 

 

Tudalen 118



5 

CONSULTATIONS 
 

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below 

Signed:   Linda Rees Jones, Head of Administration & Law  

1.Scrutiny Committee Not applicable 

2.Local Member(s) Not applicable 

3.Community / Town Council Not applicable 

4.Relevant Partners Not applicable 

5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations Not applicable 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 

List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 

 

THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW: 

Title of Document 
 

File Ref 
No. 

Locations that the papers are available for 
public inspection  

Council Constitution – Part 4.1  http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/202
7081/part4-1.pdf 

Local Government & Elections 
(Wales) Act 2021 

 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asc/2021/1/content
s/enacted 

 

 

Tudalen 119



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Democratic Services, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen.  
01267 224028  /  Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 

Carmarthenshire County Council  

Petition Scheme 

 

 

Helping to increase public participation in Local Government 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Carmarthenshire County Council welcomes petitions and recognises that petitions are one of 
many ways in which people can let us know their concerns and engage in the democratic 
process. 

 

 

 

  

Tudalen 121

mailto:Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


Democratic Services, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen.  
01267 224028  /  Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 

Introduction 

We welcome petitions and recognise that they are just one of many ways in which you can let us 
know about your concerns and participate in the democratic process. This guidance summarises 
our petitions scheme and applies to all petitions submitted that fall within the scheme.  

Petitions are not the only way to resolve an issue or to make your views known. You could also: 

 contact the relevant service or officer directly 

 contact your local ward councillor 

 contact the relevant Cabinet Member 

 ask a scrutiny committee to look into the matter 

 make a complaint to us 

Guidelines and how to submit a petition 

Anyone who lives or works in Carmarthenshire can organise or sign a petition, including those under 
the age of 18. 

There are two types of petitions: 

 Petitions which are signed by fewer than 50 registered electors in respect of paper copies or 
fewer than 300 electors in respect of e-petitions will automatically be referred to the 
department responsible for the service area, who will respond directly to the petitioner. 
 

 Petitions submitted to the Council meeting (under Council Procedure Rule 10B) must include 
50 registered  elector signatures for paper copies and 300 registered elector signatures for 
e- petitions. 
 

 Each petition must state the name, address and postcode of the petition organiser.   In these 
circumstances:   
 
a) The petition organiser must be either a local government elector of the county or a 

Carmarthenshire County Councillor.   If the petition is not accompanied by contact details, 
including an address for the petition organiser we will contact the first signatory on the 
petition to agree who should act as the petition organiser. The contact details of the 
petition organiser will not be placed on the council’s website.  

b) Paper Petitions for a Council meeting must be delivered in writing to the Chief Executive 
no later than 10.00 a.m. 7 clear working days (NB clear days does not include the day the 

Tudalen 122

mailto:Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


Democratic Services, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen.  
01267 224028  /  Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 

petition is received or the day of the meeting) before the day of the meeting it is 
proposed to be presented at.   

c) For e-petitions once 300  registered elector signatures have been received, this petition 
will automatically be included on the agenda of the next available Council meeting if a 
debate at Council was requested  when the petition was created. 

If you submit a petition, it must include: - 

a) a petition title/subject 

b) a short, clear statement outlining what the petition is about and the action you are asking 
the Council to take 

c) the name, address (including post code) email and telephone number of the petition 
organiser 

d) the names and addresses (including post code) of those who have signed the petition 

e) and relate to a function that is within the Council’s powers or duties, or affects the area of 
the Authority or part of it, or the inhabitants of that area or some of them. 

Paper petitions can be submitted to the Chief Executive via the  Head of Democratic Services, 
Chief Executive’s Department, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen. SA31 
1JP.   

E-petitions can be submitted through the Council’s e-petitions website and must clearly include 
the starting and closing date of the petition, and whether there is a paper petition collecting 
signatures in conjunction with the e-petition. Further information on completing an e-petition can 
be found on our e-petition page. (LINK TO BE INCLUDED).  Petitions will not be accepted from 
other on-line petition systems.  E-Petitions will be live on the Authority’s website for two  months. 

  

Tudalen 123

mailto:Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


Democratic Services, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen.  
01267 224028  /  Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 

Exceptions to the Petitions Scheme  

The majority of petitions we receive will be accepted but there are some circumstances where we 
will not be able to deal with your petition under this scheme.  

 Petitions that fall outside of this scheme include:  
 

• Any matter that the Council is not directly responsible for or has no influence over. 
We will return the petition to you and where possible direct you to the correct 
organisation.  

• Any matter relating to a planning decision – These will be dealt with using existing 
planning procedures. For further information about making representations about 
planning decisions, please contact the planning team at  
planningconsultations@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 Any matter relating to a licensing application – These will be dealt with using 
existing procedures. For further information about making representations, please 
contact the licensing team at schlicensing@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 A statutory petition (for example a petition for a directly elected mayor).  

 Any matter where there is already an existing right of appeal or a separate 
complaints process. These will be dealt with using existing procedures.  

 Any specific issues that the Council is carrying out a formal consultation on. These 
will be dealt with under a different process. 

 A petition where we have received another petition on the same issue within the 
previous 12 months. In these circumstances, we will write to the petition organiser 
and include a copy of the response to the first petition received. 

 Petitions which are considered to be vexatious, abusive, repetitive or otherwise 
inappropriate will not be accepted. 

• Any petition that is asking the Council to do anything unlawful.  
• Any petition relating to the subject of any legal action taken by the Council or an 

individual.  

 A petition which contains confidential information for example about a specific 
individual.  

 In the period immediately before an election or referendum we may need to deal 
with your petition differently – if this is the case we will explain the reasons and 
discuss the revised timescale which will apply. 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 124

mailto:Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
mailto:planningconsultations@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
mailto:schlicensing@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


Democratic Services, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen.  
01267 224028  /  Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 

What you cannot put in a petition 

Petitions must not contain 
 

 Language which is offensive, intemperate or provocative.  This not only includes obvious 

profanities, swear words and insults, but any language which a reasonable person would 

regard as offensive 

 Potentially false or potentially defamatory statements 

 Information which is prohibited from being published by an order of a court or a body or 

person with similar power 

 Material which is potentially confidential, commercially sensitive, or which may cause 

personal distress or loss 

 Any commercial endorsement, promotion of any product, service or publication or 

statements that amount to advertisements; 

 The names of officials of public bodies, unless they are part of the senior management of 

those organisations; 

 The names of family members of elected representatives or officials of public bodies; 

 The names of individuals, or information where they may be identified, in relation to 

criminal charges; 

 Issues for which a petition is not the appropriate channel (for example, correspondence 

about a personal issue). 

 

What happens once we receive the petition:- 

 An acknowledgement will be sent to the petition organiser within five working days of 
receiving the petition. It will let them know what we plan to do with the petition and when 
they can expect to hear from us again.  

 

 The petition will be published on the Council’s petitions register on our website. 
 

 If the Council considers it can meet what the petition asks for, the acknowledgement may 
confirm what action has been taken on the request and the petition will be closed. If some 
other action is proposed or intended, the acknowledgement will explain this.  
 

 If the petition has enough signatures to trigger a Council debate then the acknowledgment 
will confirm this and tell you when and where the meeting will take place.  

 

Tudalen 125

mailto:Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


Democratic Services, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen.  
01267 224028  /  Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 

 If the petition has less than 50 registered electors of the County  in respect of a paper copy 
or 300 registered electors of the County on an e-petition then the petition will be referred 
to the service department to respond. 

 

 If a petition does not follow the guidelines as set out, the Council may decide not to do 
anything further with it.  In that case, you will receive a written explanation of the reasons. 
 

 The Council reserves the right to verify signatories as required.  Petitioners should ensure 
that a valid address and postcode is included for all petitioners that relates to a home 
address (if living in Carmarthenshire ) or work address (if working or running  a business in 
Carmarthenshire). These details will be taken into account when identifying if there are 
enough signatories to refer the petition for a debate at Council.  

 

Petitions debated at Council meetings 

In the case of a petition on a Council function the petitioner will be invited to present the petition 
formally to the Council save that in the case of a petition on a Council function delegated to a 
Council Committee (e.g. a planning or licensing matter) where the petitioner will be given a choice 
to elect to formally present their petition to that relevant Committee. Where the petitioner elects 
to present the petition to the relevant Committee, Council shall nevertheless debate the matter at 
its meeting and refer the petition and its deliberations upon it to the next meeting of that relevant 
Committee to inform its decision in the matter 
 
In the case of a petition on an executive function the petitioner will be given a choice to elect to 
formally present their petition to the County Council, the Cabinet or where relevant, the relevant 
Cabinet Member save that the eventual Cabinet decision shall be a matter for the Cabinet or 
Cabinet Member. Where the petitioner elects to formally present the petition to the Cabinet or 
Cabinet Member, Council shall nevertheless debate the matter at its meeting and refer the 
petition and its deliberations upon it to the next meeting of the Cabinet or Cabinet Member to 
inform its decision on the matter.  
 
In the case of a petition being referred to a Cabinet Member, he/she will meet the petitioners, 
accept the petition and make a brief response. He/she will then refer the petition to the relevant 
officers to prepare a report on the matter for consideration at one of his/her decisions meetings 
 
Petitions placed before Council will be discussed at a meeting which all Councillors can attend. 
 
Petitions will be placed on the agenda in the order in which they were received. 
 
The petition organiser will be given five minutes to present the petition at the meeting. The 
petitioner shall be confined to reading out or summarising the prayer of the petition, indicating 

Tudalen 126

mailto:Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


Democratic Services, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen.  
01267 224028  /  Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 

the number and description of the signatories, and making such further supporting remarks to the 
petition as the person presenting it shall think fit  
 
At a meeting of Council or a relevant committee the Leader or the relevant Cabinet Member or 
Committee Chair shall be entitled to make a brief response to the presentation. There will be no 
debate on the petition at full Council. 
 

How long we retain personal information in a petition 

The names and contact information of signatories on a petition will be retained by the Authority 
for 3 months in accordance with our retention period. After that time the information will be 
destroyed.   

 

What can I do if I feel my petition has not been dealt with properly? 

If you feel that we have not dealt with your petition properly, please contact the Monitoring 
Officer who will review your complaint and will advise you of the action which is intended. Please 
provide a short explanation of the reasons in your communication with us. 

Monitoring Officer  

Carmarthenshire County Council 

County Hall  

Carmarthen 

SA31 1JP.    

LRJones@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

Tel 01267 224010 

.  

Tudalen 127

mailto:Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
mailto:LRJones@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


Democratic Services, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen.  
01267 224028  /  Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 

Appendix 1  

Template for Petitions 

Guidance notes: 

Please find a suggested template for your petition, please ensure each page has the petition 
subject at the top of the page. 

The petition organiser must live, work or own a business in Carmarthenshire. 

If you wish to sign this petition, please put down your Carmarthenshire address if you live, 
work or own a business in the County as this will count towards any threshold for debate at 
Council meetings (where all Councillors attend). 

Signatories from outside the County of Carmarthenshire will not be taken into account for 
presenting a petition to a Council meeting for formal debate. 

Contact Details of the Petitioner (the person who has organised the petition and will 

present it at a Council meeting)  

 

Full Name:  
 

Address for Correspondence:  
1st Line:  _______________________________ 

2nd Line: _______________________________ 

3rd Line:  _______________________________ 

Post code:  ____________________________ 

Telephone No:  
 

Email address:  
 

Signature 
 

Tudalen 128

mailto:Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


Democratic Services, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen.  
01267 224028  /  Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 

PETITION TO CARMARTHENSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Petition subject:    

We the undersigned petition Carmarthenshire County Council to:  

 

Summary of action already taken (if applicable) 

  

  

 

 Full Name Home or Work/Business Address 

(including postcode) 

Signature  Email address (if possible) 

1     

2     

3     

T
udalen 129

mailto:Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


Democratic Services, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen.  
01267 224028  /  Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 

 Full Name Home or Work/Business Address 

(including postcode) 

Signature  Email address (if possible) 

4     

5     

6     

7     

8     

9     

10     

11     

12     

13     

14     

T
udalen 130

mailto:Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


Democratic Services, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen.  
01267 224028  /  Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 

 Full Name Home or Work/Business Address 

(including postcode) 

Signature  Email address (if possible) 

15     

16     

17     

18     

19     

20     

21     

22     

23     

24     

25     

T
udalen 131

mailto:Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


Democratic Services, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen.  
01267 224028  /  Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 

 Full Name Home or Work/Business Address 

(including postcode) 

Signature  Email address (if possible) 

26     

27     

28     

29     

30     

31     

32     

*     

 

*Continue as necessary. 

T
udalen 132

mailto:Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


Revised at Council 19/05/21 

CPR 10 - QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC AND PRESENTATION OF 
PETITIONS  PART B – PRESENTATION OF PETITIONS  
 
10.11  Any member of the Council or any local government elector of the County may, 
forward to the Chief Executive a written petition which is relevant to some matter in 
relation to which the authority have functions, or which affects the area of the 
authority, or part of it, or the inhabitants of that area, or some of them provided 
however that such written petition must be signed by not fewer than fifty registered 
electors of the County who are not members of the Council and that it has been 
delivered in writing to the Chief Executive no later than 10.00 a.m. 7 clear working 
days (i.e. clear days does not include the day the petition is received or the day of the 
meeting) before the day of the meeting it is proposed to be presented at. 
  
10.12  The Chief Executive shall indicate the receipt of any request for presentation of 
a petition in the agenda of the relevant meeting of Full Council in the order in which he 
/she received those requests.  
 
10.13.  In the case of a petition on a Council function the petitioner will be invited to 
present the petition formally to the Council save that in the case of a petition on a 
Council function delegated to a Council Committee (e.g. a planning or licensing 
matter) the petitioner will be given a choice to elect to formally present their petition to 
that relevant Committee. Where the petitioner elects to present the petition to the 
relevant Committee Council shall nevertheless debate the matter at its meeting and 
refer the petition and its deliberations upon it to the next meeting of that relevant 
Committee to inform its decision in the matter. 
 
10.14. In the case of a petition on an executive function the petitioner will be given a 
choice to elect to formally present their petition to the County Council, the Executive 
Board, or where relevant, the relevant Executive Board member save that the 
eventual executive decision shall be a matter for the Executive Board or Executive 
Board Member. Where the petitioner elects to formally present the petition to the 
Executive Board of Executive Board Member Council shall nevertheless debate the 
matter at its meeting and refer the petition and its deliberations upon it to the next 
meeting of the Executive Board or Executive Board member to inform its decision on 
the matter. 
 
10.15 In the case of a petition being referred to an Executive Board Member he/she 
will meet the petitioners, accept the petition and make a brief response. He/she will 
then refer the petition to the relevant officers to prepare a report on the matter for 
consideration at one of his/her decisions meetings.  
 
10.16 The presentation of a petition at a meeting of the Council, Executive Board, 
relevant Committee or to the relevant Executive Board Member shall be limited to not 
more than five minutes, and shall be confined to reading out or summarising the 
prayer of the petition, indicating the number and description of the signatories, and 
making such further supporting remarks to the petition as the person presenting it 
shall think fit  
 
10.17 At a meeting of Council or a relevant committee the Leader or the relevant 
Executive Board Member or Committee Chair shall be entitled to make a brief 
response to the presentation  
 

Tudalen 133



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



1 

CYNGOR SIR  

9FED CHWEFROR 2022  

 

STRATEGAETH CYFRANOGIAD Y CYHOEDD SIR 
GAERFYRDDIN FEL RHAN O'R BROSES 

DDEMOCRATAIDD   

YR ARGYMHELLION / PENDERFYNIADAU ALLWEDDOL SYDD EU HANGEN: 
 

Ystyried y canlynol a mabwysiadu strategaeth cyfranogiad y cyhoedd ar gyfer yr 
Awdurdod.  
 
  
 

 

RHESYMAU:  

 
Mae'n un o ofynion Deddf Llywodraeth Leol ac Etholiadau (Cymru) 2021 fod pob prif Gyngor 
yn paratoi ac yn cyhoeddi strategaeth ("strategaeth cyfranogiad y cyhoedd") sy'n pennu sut y 
mae'n bwriadu cydymffurfio â'r ddyletswydd yn adran 39 o'r Ddeddf. 

 
Mae angen i Strategaeth Cyfranogiad y Cyhoedd fel rhan o'r broses ddemocrataidd fod yn 
gyson â'r Strategaeth Cyfranogiad/Ymgysylltu Gorfforaethol.   

 

 

Angen ymgynghori â'r Pwyllgor Craffu perthnasol    Amh. 
Angen i’r Cabinet wneud penderfyniad                    NAC OES  
Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad                     OES 

 

Aelod(au) Perthnasol y Cabinet : Y Cynghorydd Emlyn Dole - Arweinydd 

 

Cyfarwyddwr 

 

Enw Pennaeth y 
Gwasanaeth 

Linda Rees Jones 

 

Awdur yr Adroddiad 

Linda Rees Jones 

Gaynor Morgan 

Prif Weithredwr 

 

Swyddi 

Pennaeth Gweinyddiaeth a’r 
Gyfraith 

 

Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd 

Rhif ffôn 

01267 224012  LRJ 

01267 224026  GM 

 

Cyfeiriad e-bost:- 

Lrjones@sirgar.gov.uk 

gmorgan@sirgar.gov.uk 

 

 

Tudalen 135

Eitem Rhif  5.3

mailto:Lrjones@sirgar.gov.uk
mailto:Lrjones@sirgar.gov.uk
mailto:gmorgan@sirgar.gov.uk
mailto:gmorgan@sirgar.gov.uk


2 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

COUNCIL 

9TH FEBRUARY 2022 

 

CARMARTHENSHIRE DEMOCRATIC PUBLIC 
PARTICIPATION STRATEGY 

The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 provides a duty on principal councils 
to encourage participation in decision making in local government. 
 
Each principal council must prepare and publish a strategy (“a public participation strategy”) 
specifying how it proposes to comply with the duty in section 39. 
 

A public participation strategy must, in particular, address— 

(a)  ways of promoting awareness among local people of the principal council’s 

functions; 

(b)  ways of promoting awareness among local people of how to become a member of 

the principal council, and what membership entails; 

(c)  ways of facilitating access for local people to information about decisions made, or 

to be made, by the principal council; 

(d)  ways of promoting and facilitating processes by which local people may make 

representations to the principal council about a decision before, and after, it is made; 

(e)  arrangements made, or to be made, for the purpose of the council’s duty in section 

62 of the 2011 Measure (bringing views of the public to attention of overview and 

scrutiny committees); 

(f)  ways of promoting awareness among members of the principal council of the 

benefits of using social media to communicate with local people. 

A public participation strategy may address how a principal council proposes to comply with a 

duty imposed by any enactment.   

The Democratic Public Participation Strategy will need to align with Corporate Participation 
Strategy currently being developed. 
 
The report presents a draft public participation strategy for members’ consideration, which can 
then be incorporated within the Corporate document.  
 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES – Democratic Participation Strategy 

 

Tudalen 136



3 

 

IMPLICATIONS 
 

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this 
report : 

Signed:   Linda Rees Jones, Head of Administration & Law    

Policy, Crime 
& Disorder and 
Equalities 

Legal  Finance  ICT  Risk 
Management 
Issues  

Staffing 
Implications 

Physical 
Assets   

NONE YES NONE NONE NONE NONE  NONE 

Policy 

The Democratic Public Participation Strategy needs to align with Corporate Participation Strategy. 

Legal   

It is a requirement of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021  that each principal 
Council  prepare and publish a strategy (“a public participation strategy”) specifying how it 
proposes to comply with the duty in section 39 of the Act. 

 
 CONSULTATIONS 

 

I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below 

Signed:   Linda Rees Jones, Head of Administration & Law   

1.Scrutiny Committee Not applicable 

2.Local Member(s) Not applicable 

3.Community / Town Council Not applicable 

4.Relevant Partners Not applicable 

5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations Not applicable 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 

List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 

 

THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW: 

 

Title of Document 
 

File Ref 
No. 

Locations that the papers are available for 
public inspection  

Council Constitution – Part 4.1  http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/202
7081/part4-1.pdf 

Local Government & Elections 
(Wales) Act 2021 

 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asc/2021/1/content
s/enacted 

 
 

Tudalen 137



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



This document applies from 1st May 2022. 

Democratic Services, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen.  
01267 224028  /  Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

Carmarthenshire County Council  

Democratic Public Participation Strategy 

 

Helping to increase public participation in Local 

Government 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This document forms part of the Carmarthenshire County Council Public Participation 
Strategy which can be viewed here  (ADD LINK) 

 

 

 

  

Tudalen 139

mailto:Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


This document applies from 1st May 2022. 

Democratic Services, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen.  
01267 224028  /  Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 

 

  

This Democratic Public Participation Strategy details how Carmarthenshire County Council 
aims to promote: - 

 awareness among local people of the principal council’s functions; 

 awareness among local people of how to become a member of the principal council, 

and what membership entails; 

 ways of facilitating access for local people to information about decisions made, or to 

be made, by the principal council; 

 ways of promoting and facilitating processes by which local people may make 

representations to the principal council about a decision before, and after, it is made; 

 arrangements made, or to be made, for the purpose of the council’s duty in bringing 

views of the public to attention of overview and scrutiny committees 

 ways of promoting awareness among members of the principal council of the benefits 

of using social media to communicate with local people  

  

Tudalen 140

mailto:Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


This document applies from 1st May 2022. 

Democratic Services, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen.  
01267 224028  /  Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 

 

What are the Council’s functions? 

HOW THE COUNCIL OPERATES  

All councillors meet together as the Council. Meetings of the Council are normally open to the 
public, but occasionally the Council will resolve to go into private session if confidential or 
exempt business is to be transacted. Private sessions of Council are rare.  At Council meetings 
councillors decide the Council’s overall policies and set the budget each year. The Council has a 
Cabinet which is responsible in turn for implementing polices agreed by the Council and taking 
executive decisions on matters which are not the responsibility of the Council or of one of its 
committees.  
 

HOW THE COUNCIL WORKS 

The Council comprises 75 elected Councillors representing 51 Electoral Wards. The Council 
normally meets on a monthly basis and has a list of functions including adopting and changing 
the Constitution, approving and adopting the Budget and Policy Framework, appointing the 
Leader, determining and agreeing Committees and their terms of reference.  

Up to ten of the Council’s members make up the Cabinet (the Executive), including the Leader 
of the Council. The Cabinet is responsible for carrying out all the local authority functions which 
are not the responsibility of the Council.  Cabinet Members are responsible for decision making 
within specific areas of interest, known as portfolios.  

Scrutiny Committees act as a 'critical friend' to the Cabinet and other decision makers in order 
to promote better services, policies and decisions. Working in a similar way to parliamentary 
select committees, scrutiny involves councillors who are not in the cabinet.   

The Planning Committee, Licensing Committees and Governance & Audit Committee make the 
Council’s regulatory decisions. Planning Committee determines planning applications, Licensing 
Committee determines licences to drive a hackney carriage or a private hire vehicle (taxis), 
public entertainment licences for premises amongst others, and Governance & Audit 
Committee reviews and scrutinises the Council’s financial affairs.  Democratic Services 
Committee reviews the adequacy of provision by the Authority to discharge the democratic 
services function and the there is also a Standards Committee to promote high standards of 
conduct and support Councillors to comply with the Code of Conduct.   
 
 
 
 
  

Tudalen 141

mailto:Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
http://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/research-statistics/electoral-ward-county-profiles/


This document applies from 1st May 2022. 

Democratic Services, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen.  
01267 224028  /  Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 

 

Council’s decision making structure:- 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

COUNCIL 
meets monthly 

 Agrees budget 
 Agrees corporate policy framework 
 Decides political management framework 
 Appoints Leader  
 Appoints Chief Executive 

 All other identified non-executive functions 

 

CABINET 

(10 members inc. Leader) 

 
 Appointed by Leader 
 Each Cabinet Member will be  

assigned a thematic portfolio   
 Proposes Policy & budget to the 

Council 
 Implements Council policies under  

the political guidance of the Leader. 
 Takes delegated executive decisions,  

                   in accordance with Council policy  
                   and budget 

 

SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEES (5) 

 
 One Policy and 

Resources Scrutiny 
Committee 

 4 themed Scrutiny 
Committees  

 scrutinise the executive 
 examine performance and 

policy delivery 
 scrutinise Business 

Plans 
 undertake Service 

Reviews in 
conjunction with the 
Cabinet 

COUNCIL 
COMMITTEES & 

PANELS 

 Appeals 
 Appointments 

A&B 
 Democratic 

Services  
 Governance 

& Audit 
 Housing 

Review 
Panel 

 Investment 
Panel 

 Licensing 
 Member 

Appointments 
 Planning 
 Standards 
 Dyfed Pension 

Fund Committee 

& Pension Board 

ADVISORY PANELS 

(established and membership determined  
by Cabinet) 

 
meet as required by brief 

 

 Examine and advise on policy development 
either through standing panels or task & finish 
panels 

 Comprise non-executive members and external 
partners as appropriate 

 Chaired by the relevant Cabinet Member 

TASK & FINISH GROUPS 
 

Established by individual Scrutiny 
Committees  

meet as required by brief 
 

 Examine and review specific service 
areas 

 

Tudalen 142

mailto:Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


This document applies from 1st May 2022. 

Democratic Services, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen.  
01267 224028  /  Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 

 

How to become a member of the Council and what it  entails 

 

HOW TO BECOME A COUNCILLOR 

The next Local Government Elections will be held in May 2027. This section provides you with 
information on how to stand for election and what is expected of you should you be elected 
as a Councillor for Carmarthenshire County Council. 

STANDING AS A CANDIDATE 

A candidate for election must complete a set of nomination papers that must be signed by the 

candidate in the presence of a witness who must attest the signature. You then need to 
win a majority of the votes cast at the ballot box, if there is a contest for the seat. The 

number of votes you need to win depends on the electoral division in which you choose to 
stand for election. Some electoral divisions are two or three member divisions. 

Nomination packs will be available early in 2027. If you would like to register your interest 
please contact Electoral Services on 01267 228609. 

If you are thinking of standing as a candidate for a particular political party, then you should 
first get in touch with that party’s local organisation. If you plan to stand for election as an 
independent Councillor, contact us and we will be pleased to give you more information. 

Councillors receive a salary which is determined annually by the Independent Remuneration 
Panel for Wales and can also claim travel and subsistence costs (subsistence is paid for ‘out of 
county’ meals and accommodation only) when undertaking official duties. Councillors can also 
claim towards the costs of care and personal assistance in order for them to carry out their 
approved duties. 

The Welsh Government has approved funding for a pilot scheme to fund reasonable 
adjustments and support for disabled candidates seeking election to the 2022 Local 
Government elections. Further information can be found here. 

Further information on allowances can be viewed by clicking on the following Independent 
Remuneration Panel for Wales web page: 

Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 

  

Tudalen 143

mailto:Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/elections-voting/
https://www.disabilitywales.org/projects/access-to-elected-office-fund-wales/
https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales


This document applies from 1st May 2022. 

Democratic Services, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen.  
01267 224028  /  Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 

 

 
WHAT HAPPENS IF I AM ELECTED? 

The Council is composed of 75 Councillors who are elected every five years. Councillors are 
democratically accountable to residents of their electoral division. The overriding duty of 
councillors is to the whole community, but they have a special duty to their constituents, 
including those who did not vote for them.  

Councillors are entitled to a basic salary (currently £14,368 per annum 2021-22)). Senior 
Salaries and other allowances/expenses are paid dependant on the roles and responsibilities 
you may have following election.  Further information on payments can be obtained from 
the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (IRPW). A copy of the draft determinations 
for 2022-23 can also be found on the IRPW website. 

Councillors are also entitled to travel allowances and those with caring responsibilities can 
also receive reimbursement of costs of care. 

Once elected Councillors are expected to attend various training and development sessions 
during their term of office. An induction session is provided for all new and returning 
Councillors during the first 12 months in office with further training provided on an ongoing 
basis through member development events. 

If you are elected, you should be prepared to set aside the first two weeks after the election 
for the member Induction Session in May/June 2027 

Councillors are expected to attend meetings and committees and are bound to observe the 
provisions of the Councillor’s Code of Conduct.   

As local representatives, councillors have responsibilities towards their constituents and local 
organisations. These responsibilities and duties often depend on what the councillor wants to 
achieve and how much time is available and may include: attending governing body meetings 
of schools within their ward, attending meetings of local organisations such as tenants' 
associations, bodies affecting the wider community, raising issues on behalf of members of 
the public, holding surgeries for residents to raise issues and meeting with individual residents 
in their own homes. 

HOW MUCH TIME DOES IT TAKE UP?  

If you are in employment and intend to stand as a candidate you may wish to ask your employer 
what provisions they may have in place to allow you to attend to Council business.  It is 
estimated that on average, councillors spend the equivalent of three to four days a week on 
council business. Obviously, there are some councillors who spend more time than this - and 
some less. 

The Welsh Local Government Association has produced a Be a Councillor Be the Change  in 
association with local authorities which is an useful guide for prospective candidates. 

  

Tudalen 144

mailto:Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/Independent%20Remuneration%20Panel%20for%20Wales.
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/3218/part51.pdf
https://www.beacouncillor.wales/


This document applies from 1st May 2022. 

Democratic Services, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen.  
01267 224028  /  Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

COUNCILLOR FACILITIES AND SUPPORT  

The Democratic Services Unit administers meetings of the Council and provides a dedicated 
support service, providing advice on the law and practice of meetings to Councillors, officers 
and the public and assistance to all Councillors with queries and admin related requests.   

Councillors, once elected, will be provided with a tablet device, laptop and an 
@carmarthenshire.gov.uk email address which must be used when conducting Council 
business.  All Council meetings are paperless and it is recommended that all candidates are 
able to use IT confidently or are willing to undertake training. 

The Council is a bilingual Authority and, as a Councillor, you will be able to operate in your 
chosen language, be that Welsh or English, and interpretation facilities are available at all 
Council meetings to facilitate this. Welsh language training is also available for any Councillors 
wishing to learn the language. 

How to access information about decisions that are or have been made by 
the Council  

NOTICES OF MEETING  

The Council will give at least three clear days’ notice of any meeting by posting details 
electronically on the  Council’s web site. However, an exception will arise where the Council 
has received an application from the Police under section 53A of the Licensing Act 2003 for 
the summary review of a premises licence (The Council being required to decide on whether 
to take any preliminary measures within 48 hours of receiving the application), the Council 
may give less than 3 clear days’ notice of the meeting of the Licensing Committee meeting 
called to consider the application.  

ACCESS TO AGENDA AND REPORTS BEFORE THE MEETING  

The Council will make copies of the agenda and reports open to the public available for 
inspection on the Council’s website. If an item is added to the agenda later, the revised 
agenda (where reports are prepared after the summons has been sent out, the Chief 
Executive will make each such report available to the public as soon as the report is 
completed and sent to Councillors) will be open to inspection for the time the item was  
added to the agenda.  
 

 

 

 

Tudalen 145

mailto:Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


This document applies from 1st May 2022. 

Democratic Services, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen.  
01267 224028  /  Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 

 

ACCESS TO MINUTES ETC. AFTER THE MEETING  

The Council will make available to view on its website copies of the following for a period of 
six years after a meeting: (a) the minutes of the meeting or record of decisions taken by the 
Cabinet , excluding any part of the minutes of proceedings when the meeting was not open to 
the public because exempt or confidential information was being considered; (b) a summary 
of any proceedings not open to the public where the minutes open to inspection would not 
provide a reasonably fair and coherent record; (c) the agenda for the meeting; and (d) reports 
relating to items when the meeting was open to the public.  A decision note which details, 
attendance, any interests declared and decisions will be published on the Authority’s website 
within 7 days of the meeting. 

ACCESS TO VIEW MEETINGS* 

The Council will ensure members of the public can attend or view meetings that are open to 
the public either:- 

 in person (social distancing regulations permitting and part of the meeting includes 
physical attendance)  

 through video conferencing if making representations /asking questions 

 by watching a meeting live via our webcast page or in archive (the webcast will be 
available to view for 6 months) Requests for copies of archived webcasts beyond 6 
months can be made through Democratic Services – a small administrative charge may 
apply for this service. 

(*This does not apply when exempt or confidential information is being discussed). 

  

Tudalen 146

mailto:Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


This document applies from 1st May 2022. 

Democratic Services, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen.  
01267 224028  /  Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 

 

How to participate and make representations to the Council before and 
after a decision has been made;  

COUNCIL & CABINET 

Members of the public, provided that they are residents of the County, own a business 
located within the County or are employed within the County can ask questions at Full Council 
Meetings, meetings of the Cabinet and at Scrutiny Committee meetings.   

To ask a question you need to deliver your question  in writing or by electronic mail to the 
Chief Executive (e-mail chiefexecutive@carmarthenshire.gov.uk ) no later than 10.00 a.m. 7 
clear working days before a meeting (NB clear days does not include the day the question is 
received or the day of the meeting). 
 
When submitting your question, you must include your name and address (include your 
business name and address if you own a business located in Carmarthenshire or work in 
Carmarthenshire but live elsewhere) and you must name the member of the Council to whom 
it is to be put. 
 
The Council also welcomes petitions and recognizes that petitions are one of many ways in 
which people can let us know their concerns and engage in the democratic process.  A copy of 
the Council’s petition scheme can be found here. (ADD LINK) 

SCRUTINY 

Getting involved in scrutiny is one of the best ways to influence decision making at the 
Council, as Councillors will hear your experiences first hand. There are a number of ways you 
can get involved in the work of scrutiny at the council: 

 Asking a question or attending a Scrutiny meeting 

 Keeping up-to-date with what's happening in scrutiny 

 Suggesting a topic for review 

 Contribute evidence for scrutiny reviews 

Further information on participation in Scrutiny can be found later in this document and or/on 
our Scrutiny pages . 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 147

mailto:Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
mailto:chiefexecutive@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1220848/scrutiny-topic-suggestion-form-pdf-version.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-democracy/committees-meetings/scrutiny/#.X8YlN577TIU


This document applies from 1st May 2022. 

Democratic Services, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen.  
01267 224028  /  Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 

 

REPRESENTATIONS AT PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

The Council has a set process for making representations at both Planning and Licensing 
Committees:- 

To find out more about making representations at Planning and Licensing Committee 
meetings please click on the following links:- 

Representations at Planning Committee meetings. 

Representations at Licensing Committees 

How to bring the views of the public to attention of scrutiny committees 

HOW CAN I BECOME INVOLVED IN SCRUTINY? 

The involvement of local residents, community organisations and partners is an important 
part of the Carmarthenshire scrutiny process and our Councillors are committed to 
responding to the views and concerns of residents. 

Getting involved in scrutiny is one of the best ways to influence decision making at the 
Council, as Councillors will hear your experiences first hand. There are a number of ways you 
can get involved in the work of scrutiny at the council: 

 Attending a Scrutiny meeting 

 Keeping up-to-date with what's happening in scrutiny 

 Suggesting a topic for review 

 Contribute evidence for scrutiny reviews 

All scrutiny meetings are open to the public except where exempt information has to be 
discussed. A list of meeting dates and agenda items can be found on the council's meeting 
diary.  If you would like to attend a meeting simply come along to the meeting venue (stated 
on the front of the agenda). 

Scrutiny provides the opportunity for the public to become involved in the Council's activities. 
You can request that an item be placed on the agenda and if you are a resident of 
Carmarthenshire or own a business or are employed within Carmarthenshire you may 
ask questions at Scrutiny meetings. Further information is included in our Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules 10. (3) and (4) or contact us for further information 

 

KEEPING UP-TO-DATE WITH WHAT'S HAPPENING IN SCRUTINY 

There are a number of ways you can keep up to date with what is happening in Scrutiny, you 
can:- 

Tudalen 148

mailto:Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/planning/
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/business/organising-events/community-toolkit/licensing-for-events/#.YeZ7bWjP3IU
https://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&amp;amp;bcr=1
https://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&amp;amp;bcr=1
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1223687/part4-5-scrutiny-procedure-rules-oct-20.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1223687/part4-5-scrutiny-procedure-rules-oct-20.pdf


This document applies from 1st May 2022. 

Democratic Services, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen.  
01267 224028  /  Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 

 

 Subscribe to RSS feed on our website which will automatically update you when 
agendas and minutes are published. RSS stands for "Really Simple Syndication" and is a 
easily way to keep updated on Scrutiny Committee work. The subscribe button is at 
the top of this page. 

 Download the mod.gov app which will allow you to automatically download and view 
meeting papers. 

 Check our Facebook and Twitter feeds for regular updates. 

SUGGESTING A TOPIC FOR REVIEW 

 If you think there is an issue that scrutiny should look at, then let us know. You can 
suggest a topic for review by emailing us, or by downloading and posting our topic 
suggestion form. 

CONTRIBUTE EVIDENCE FOR SCRUTINY REVIEWS 

When undertaking in scrutiny work, especially in depth reviews, Councillors hope to receive a 
wide-range of evidence from a number of sources. Submitting evidence will help ensure that 
your voice is heard and that the Councillors make recommendations that will improve the 
services from an user’s perspective. If you are interested in any issues and would like to 
submit evidence, please contact us:- 

Democratic Services Unit, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen,  
SA31 1JP 
Tel: 01267 224028 | E-mail: scrutiny@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

  

Tudalen 149

mailto:Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
https://www.moderngov.co.uk/our-solutions/tablet-app-paperless-meetings
https://www.facebook.com/CarmsCouncil
https://twitter.com/Carmscouncil
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1220848/scrutiny-topic-suggestion-form-pdf-version.pdf
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/media/1220848/scrutiny-topic-suggestion-form-pdf-version.pdf
mailto:scrutiny@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


This document applies from 1st May 2022. 

Democratic Services, Carmarthenshire County Council, County Hall, Carmarthen.  
01267 224028  /  Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk 

 

 

The benefits to Councillors of using social media to communicate with 
local people. 

Social media has become a powerful tool for councillors, helping them to engage with 
communities, raise awareness of community issues, events, or council initiatives and to seek 
views and receive feedback.  

Social media has changed how politics works, it makes politicians and public institutions more 
accessible, allows individuals to have their voices heard and helps share ideas or promote 
campaigns.   

By using social media you can:- 

 Learn about  local issues, and concerns within your ward. 
 Find the latest news and publications from Carmarthenshire County Council, other 

local authorities, the Welsh Government and organisations such as the Welsh Local 
Government Association. 

 Promote your role and what you do on a day to day basis. 
 Social media is instant, you can share information quickly and gain opinions of your 

constituents.  

Many councillors already use social media however as a councillor, there are additional things 
to consider when using it, including the Code of Conduct and managing expectation.   

 

Once elected, Councillors are invited to attend an induction session on using social media and 
the Council also has an e-learning module available.  As a Councillor you will be personally 
responsible for the content you publish and you must abide by the Code of Conduct when 
posting information as the Code of Conduct applies to online and social media content, and  
by referring on line to your role as Councillor you will be deemed to be acting in your ‘official 
capacity’ and the Code will apply,.  

 

The Welsh Local Government Association has provided free guidance for Councillors along 
with some tips and advice in terms of handling on-line abuse. 

 

WLGA Information on Social Media and Online Abuse 

 

 

Tudalen 150

mailto:Democraticservices@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
mailto:https://www.wlga.wales/social-media-and-online-abuse


 

 

CYNGOR SIR 

9 CHWEFROR 2022 
 

AELODAETH PWYLLGORAU CRAFFU, PWYLLGORAU RHEOLEIDDIO A 

PHWYLLGORAU ERAILL Y CYNGOR A PHENODI AELODAU I 

WASANAETHU ARNYNT 
ADOLYGIAD YN DILYN MARWOLAETH TRIST Y CYNGHORYDD MAIR STEPHENS 

Yr Argymhellion / Penderfyniadau Allweddol Sydd Eu Hangen: 

 

O ganlyniad i newidiadau i aelodaeth wleidyddol gyffredinol y Cyngor:  

 

1. Mabwysiadu'r newidiadau i nifer y seddi sy'n cael eu dal gan y Grŵp Annibynnol 

fel y nodir yn Nhablau 1, 2 a 3 yr adroddiad. 

 

2. Nodi y bydd dwy sedd wag ar y Cyngor tan yr Etholiadau Llywodraeth Leol ym 

Mai 2022. 

 

3. Yn unol â Rheol Gweithdrefn Gorfforaethol 2 (2) (n) i gymeradwyo'r newidiadau i 

aelodaeth y Pwyllgorau o ganlyniad i argymhelliad 1 uchod (fel y nodwyd yn yr 

adroddiad). 

 

4. Nodi nad oes dim newidiadau i nifer y seddi sy'n cael eu dal gan Grŵp Plaid 

Cymru, Grŵp Llafur, y Grŵp Annibynnol newydd a’r Aelodau heb gysylltiad 

pleidiol ar y Cyngor.   

 

5. Yn unol â Rhan 6 o Fesur Llywodraeth Leol (Cymru) 2011, nodi bod y trefniadau 

presennol ar gyfer dyraniad y 5 Cadeirydd Craffu yn aros yr un fath. 

 

Y Rhesymau:  
Adolygiad o'r trefniadau ar gyfer dyrannu seddi i grwpiau gwleidyddol, o dan adran 15 o 
Ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol a Thai 1989.  
 

Ymgynghorwyd â'r pwyllgor craffu perthnasol AMHERTHNASOL                                            

Angen i’r  Cabinet wneud penderfyniad NAC OES  

Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad OES  
YR AELOD O'R CABINET SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:-    
Y Cynghorydd Emlyn Dole (Arweinydd) 

Tudalen 151

Eitem Rhif  6



 

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth: 

Enw Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth: 

Linda Rees Jones 

Awdur yr Adroddiad: 

Gaynor Morgan 

Adran y Prif Weithredwr 

Swyddi:  Pennaeth 

Gweinyddiaeth a’r Gyfraith 

 

Rheolwr Gwasanaethau 

Democrataidd 

Rhifau ffôn:  

01267 224012 LRJ 

01267 224026  GM 

Cyfeiriadau E-bost: 

LRJones@sirgar.gov.uk 

GMorgan@sirgar.gov.uk 

 

Tudalen 152

mailto:LRJones@sirgar.gov.uk
mailto:GMorgan@sirgar.gov.uk


 

  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

COUNTY COUNCIL 

9TH FEBRUARY 2022 
 

COMPOSITION OF THE COUNCIL’S SCRUTINY, REGULATORY 

AND OTHER COMMITTEES AND THE APPOINTMENT OF 

MEMBERS TO SERVE UPON THEM 

REVIEW FOLLOWING THE SAD PASSING OF   COUNCILLOR MAIR STEPHENS 

In accordance with the Constitution, the Council is required to appoint members to serve 
on its committees and to allocate those seats so that they reflect the overall political 
composition of the Council. 

The allocation of seats on the Council’s regulatory, scrutiny and other committees should 
therefore be made to reflect as closely as possible the political composition of the Council 
as a whole. 

Councillor Mair Stephens the Deputy Leader of the Authority and a member of the 
Independent Group sadly passed away on Sunday 9th January 2022. In accordance with the 
requirements of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 the Local Government 
(Committees and Political Groups) regulations 1990, as amended, and the Local Government 
Wales (measure) 2011, the Council is required to review the membership of committees and 
to allocate those seats so that they reflect the overall political composition of the Council, as 
far as possible.  

The attached report sets out the suggested revised Committee allocations together with 
changes in Committee membership put forward by the Independent Group. 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES  

 

IMPLICATIONS 
 

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / Heads 

of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this report: 

Signed:   Linda Rees Jones, Head of Administration & Law      

                

Policy, Crime & 
Disorder and 
Equalities 
 

Legal  Finance  ICT  Risk 
Management 
Issues  

Staffing 
Implications 

Physical 
Assets   

NONE YES NONE NONE NONE NONE  NONE 

Legal   

Committees are to be appointed in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989, the Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) regulations 
1990, as amended, and the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011. 
The Council is required to appoint members to serve on its committees and to allocate those 
seats so that they reflect the overall political composition of the Council. 
The Council’s constitution sets out arrangement for appointment to fill vacancies on Committees. 

Tudalen 153



 

 

CONSULTATIONS 

 
I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below: 

Signed:   Linda Rees Jones, Head of Administration & Law                      

1.Scrutiny Committee - Not applicable 

2.Local Member(s) - Not applicable 

3.Community / Town Council  - Not applicable 

4.Relevant Partners - Not applicable 

5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations - Not applicable 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 

List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
Title of Document 

 

File Ref 

No. 

Locations that the papers are available for public 

inspection  

Local Government and Housing Act 1989 
– Sections 15 and 16   

 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/pa
rt/I/crossheading/political-balance-on-
committees-etc  

The Local Government (Committees and 
Political Groups) Regulations 1990 

 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1990/1553/c
ontents/made  

The Local Government Act 2000  
 
The Local Government (Wales) Measure 
2011 

 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/4/cont
ents 

 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/co
ntents  

 

 

Tudalen 154

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/part/I/crossheading/political-balance-on-committees-etc
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/part/I/crossheading/political-balance-on-committees-etc
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/42/part/I/crossheading/political-balance-on-committees-etc
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1990/1553/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1990/1553/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/4/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/4/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/contents


 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

COUNCIL MEETING 9TH FEBRUARY 2022 

REVIEW OF THE COMPOSITION OF THE COUNCIL’S COMMITTEES AND THE 

APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS TO SERVE UPON THEM 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

Councillor Mair Stephens the Deputy Leader of the Authority sadly passed away on Sunday 
9th January 2022. As a result and in accordance with the requirements of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989 the Local Government (Committees and Political 
Groups) regulations 1990, as amended, and the Local Government Wales (measure) 2011, 
the Council is required to appoint members to serve on its committees and to allocate those 
seats so that they reflect the overall political composition of the Council, as far as possible. 
Councillor Stephens passed away within 6 months of the Local Government elections in May 
2022, whilst the Authority will publish a notice of vacancy there is no legal requirement on the 
Council to convene an  election therefore the political balance  will be considered by Council 
once the new Council is in place and the vacancy has been filled. 

2. POLITICAL BALANCE AND COMPOSITION OF COMMITTEES 

2.1. Composition of Committees and Panels of the Council 

The membership of the political groups as at 10th January 2022  is as follows :- 

  

Political Group Number of Members 
(+/- seats in brackets) 

%of Council 
Membership 

Plaid Cymru 37  50 

Labour 17  22.97 

 

Independent 13 (-1) 17.57  

New Independent 
Group  

4  5.41 

Unaffiliated 2  2.70 

Vacancy 1 1.35 

TOTAL 74 100% 

 

Council at its meeting held on the 24th May 2017 decided that the total number of 
seats available on Committees is 168 and these seats must be distributed amongst 
the political groups and unaffiliated member on a politically balanced basis with the 
seats on committees also being allocated to reflect, as far as possible, the political 
balance of the Council as a whole.   

Tudalen 155



 

The Council democratic structure comprises: 

Cabinet 10 members 

5 X Scrutiny Committees 68 Members  

(Non Executive Members) 

Regulatory and other 
Committees  

100 Members 

 
Note: 

  Executive Members cannot serve on Scrutiny Committees, the remaining  64 
members must  therefore be allocated the 68 Scrutiny seats. 

 The members serving on the Standards Committee do not need to reflect the 
political balance of the Council as a whole but they have been included within the 
above figures. 

 It is not a statutory requirement to ensure that the Governance & Audit Committee 
is politically balanced however the Authority has chosen to include the Governance 
& Audit Committee in its calculations Only one member of the Cabinet can serve on 
the Governance & Audit Committee and this must not be the Leader of the Council. 

 Only one member of the Cabinet  can serve on the Democratic Services Committee 
and this must not be the Leader of the Council. 
 

TABLE 1 

 

ALLOCATION OF SEATS ON 

REGULATORY, SCRUTINY AND OTHER 

COMMITTEES AND THE PENSION 

COMMITTEE 

% 

COUNCIL MEMBER-SHIP 

168  

(+/- Seats in brackets) 

Plaid Cymru 50 84 

 

Labour 22.97 

 

39 (38.59) 

Independent 17.57 30 (-2) 

(29.51) 

 

New Independent Group 5.41 9 (9.08) 

 

Unaffiliated Member 2.70 4** (4.54) 

 

Vacancy 1.35 2 (+2) 

2.27 

TOTAL NO OF SEATS 100% 168 

Tudalen 156



(**seats rounded down as there is no requirement to ensure proportionality to unaffiliated 
members but they have historically been included in the calculation)  
 
 
Note: 

1. If the allocation of seats on committees is not made on a politically balanced basis 
then the decision by council to do this must be unanimous “without any member of the 
authority or committee voting against them.” S17(b) of the Act. 

 
2. In accordance with the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, there is a 

requirement to ensure proportionality across political groups, this does not extend to 
members who have chosen to be unaffiliated. The Authority has however historically 
assigned any remaining unallocated seats to the unaffiliated members.   
 

2.2. Allocation of Seats 

In order to reflect the new arrangements, the Independent Group’s representation 
on Committees will be reduced by 2 seats from 32 to 30, and there will be two 
vacant seats on the Council. There is no change to the Plaid Cymru, Labour, New 
Independent Group or unaffiliated member allocations.   

To accommodate the Independent Group reduction in membership and the change 
in the political composition of the Council,  the Independent Group will need to 
relinquish 1 Scrutiny and 1 regulatory seat.  

It is suggested that the composition of Committees within the democratic decision 
making structure be amended as shown in Tables 2 and 3 below with the Seats 
allocated, to reflect as far as possible, the political balance of the Council as a 
whole. Resultant membership changes put forward by the Independent Group are 
included within this report. 

Tudalen 157



 

TABLE 2a -  Scrutiny Committees (68 seats)  

 

5 SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEES 
(+/- seats in brackets)  

Political Group Number of Seats  

68 

  Allocation of seats on 

scrutiny Committees  

Plaid Cymru 34  4 X 7 SEATS & 1 X 6 SEATS 

Labour 16 1 X 4 SEATS AND 4 X 3 
SEATS 

Independent 12 (-1) (11.95) 

 

2 X 3 SEATS & 3 X 2 SEATS 

New Independent 4  

(3.68) 

 

4 X 1 SEAT  

Unaffiliated Member 1** 

(1.84) 

1 SEAT 

 

Vacancy 1 (0.92) 1 SEAT 

 68   

(** rounded down)  

 

It therefore suggested that the allocation of elected member seats on the Scrutiny 

Committees should remain unchanged. 
 

TABLE 2B 

SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 
 

 

 

TOTAL NO 

OF SEATS 

 

 

 

PLAID 

CYMRU 

GROUP 

 

 

 

LABOUR 

GROUP 

 

 

 

INDEPENDENT 

GROUP 

 

 

 

 

NEW 

INDEPEN

D- 

ENT 

GROUP 

UNAFFIL- 

IATED 

 

 

 

 

VACANCY 

Community & 
Regeneration 

13 7 3  2 0 0 1 

Education & 
Children 

14 
+ 5 (co-
opted) 

7 3  2 1 1 0 

Environmental & 
Public Protection 

14 7 3  3  1 0 0 

Policy & 
Resources 

13 6 3  3 1 0 0 

Social Care & 
Health 

14 7 4  2 1 0 0 

Total 68 34 
 

16 12 4 1 1 

Tudalen 158



 

Following discussion, the Independent Group have agreed to relinquish 1 x Seat on the 
Community & Regeneration Scrutiny Committee (Seat previously held by Councillor Irfon Jones) 
 
There will therefore be a vacant seat on the Community & Regeneration Scrutiny Committee until 
the Local Government Elections in May 2022 

 

 

Tudalen 159



TABLE 3 - REGULATORY AND OTHER COMMITTEES (100 SEATS) 

 
It is therefore suggested that the allocation of elected member seats on the Regulatory/Other Committees should be amended as 
follows:- 
 

COMMITTEE/ 

PANEL 
 

 

 

TOTAL 

NO OF 

SEATS 

 

 

 

PLAID CYMRU 

GROUP 

 

 

 

LABOUR 

GROUP 

 

 

 

IND GROUP 

 

 

 

 

NEW 

INDEPENDENT 

GROUP 

UNAFFILIATED VACANCY 

Appeals  6 

  

3 
 

1    
 

1 

 
1 0 

 
0 

Appointments A 
Directors (Leader + 
6 EBM’s + 9 non 
executive members) 

16 8 5  
 

3 
 

0 0 
 

0 

Appointments B 
Heads of Service (4 
EBM’s + 6 non-
executive members) 

10 

 

5 
 

2  
 

2 
 

1 0 
 

0 

Governance & Audit  8 4 
 

2     
 

1 
 

1 0 
 

0 

Democratic Services  5 3 
 

1 
 

1 
 

0 0 
 

0 

Housing Review 
Panel 

+1 sub per group 

8 
 

4 
 

1      1 
 

1 1 
 

0 

Dyfed Pension Fund 
Committee 

+ 1 permanent sub 

3 1 
 

1 
 

1 
 

0 0 
 

0 

Licensing 14 7  
 

4 
 

3 

 
0 0 

 
0 

 

T
udalen 160



Members’ 
Appointments 

7 

 

3  
 

1     
 

1   (-1) 
 

1 0 
 

1 (+1) 

Planning 20 

 

10 
 

4     
 

4 
 

0  2 
 

0 

Standards (+ 4 
Independent & 1 
Community Rep) 

3 2   
 

1 
 

0  

 
0 0 0 

TOTAL 100 50  

 

23  18 (17.57) 

 19  

 

5 3  

 

1 (1.35)  

(+1) 

 
Following discussion, the Independent Group have agreed to relinquish 1 x Seat on the Member Appointments Committee (Seat previously 
held by Councillor Anthony Davies). 
 
There will therefore be a vacant seat on the Member Appointments Committee until the Local Government Elections in May 2022 

 
 

 

T
udalen 161



3. POLITICAL BALANCE AND APPOINTMENT OF PERSONS TO CHAIR OVERVIEW 

AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 

Part 6 of the Local Government Wales 2011 Measure deals with sets out the 
requirements for the appointment of Persons to Chair Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees. 
 
The Measure states that in respect of Council’s with two or more political groups and 
multiple scrutiny committees the political groups represented in the executive can only 
appoint as many chairs as are proportionate to their combined share of the council’s 

overall membership, rounding down if this does not equal a whole number of chairs. 
It is for the executive groups together to decide upon the allocation of their entitlement 
to chairs between them. The rest of the Scrutiny Chairs are the “property” of those 
groups not represented in the Executive. If there is only one such group, that group is 
entitled to all the remaining Chairs, if there is more than one non-executive group, 
each gets a share of the chairs in proportion to their membership, rounding to the 
nearest whole number including zero. 
 

Allocation of the 5 Scrutiny Chairs:- 
 

Plaid Cymru and Independent Executive 67.57%  = 3 
(3.38 - rounded down) 
 

Labour  22.97%        =  1 
(1.15 % rounded to nearest whole number)  
 

New Independent Group  5.41%     =  0 

(0.27 – rounded to nearest whole number)  
 
 
As there is one unallocated Chair following the above calculation, then, under the 
Measure, the Chair is appointed by the members of that Committee.  
 
Having taken into account the revised political composition, the allocation of the 5 

Scrutiny Chairs is unchanged. 
 

Tudalen 162



 

CYNGOR SIR 

9FED CHWEFROR 
 

PENODI AELODAU I WASANAETHU AR BWYLLGORAU 
YMGYNGHOROL Y CYNGOR AC AR GYRFF ALLANOL YN AMODOL 

AR Y GOFYNION O RAN CYDBWYSEDD GWLEIDYDDOL 
ADOLYGIAD YN DILYN YMDDISWYDDIAD Y CYNGHORYDD S. NAJMI  O’R  GRŴP ANNIBYNNOL 

NEWYDD   

ARGYMHELLION / PENDERFYNIADAU ALLWEDDOL SYDD EU HANGEN: 

 

O ganlyniad i newidiadau i gyfansoddiad gwleidyddol cyffredinol y Cyngor:  

 

1) bod dyraniad y seddi ar y Panel Ymgynghorol ynghylch Polisi Cyflogau (6) yn cael ei newid 
fel a ganlyn:- 

 
Plaid Cymru (3) Llafur (2) Annibynnol (1) 
 

2) O ganlyniad i argymhellion 1 uchod, mae’r Grŵp Annibynnol Newydd wedi ildio’i sedd i’r 
Grŵp Llafur fel y cyhoeddwyd yn yr adroddiad. 
 

3) Nodi nad oes angen gwneud newidiadau mewn cydbwysedd gwleidyddol i nifer a dyraniad y 
seddi ar gyfer y canlynol: 

Panel Heddlu a Troseddu Dyfed Powys, Awdurdod Parc Cenedlaethol Bannau Brycheiniog, 
Awdurdod Tân ac Achub Canolbarth a Gorllewin Cymru,  a Gweithgor Adolygu'r 
Cyfansoddiad 

 

Y RHESYMAU:  
Mae adran 15 o Ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol a Thai 1989 yn nodi ei bod yn ofynnol i awdurdodau unedol 
benodi Cynghorwyr Sir yn ôl cydbwysedd gwleidyddol yr awdurdod unedol unigol.  

Ymgynghorwyd â'r Pwyllgor Craffu Perthnasol AMHERTHNASOL                                            

Angen i’r Cabinet wneud penderfyniad NAC OES  

Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad OES  

YR AELOD O'R CABINET  SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:   Amh  
 

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth: 

Enw Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth: 

Linda Rees Jones 

Awdur yr Adroddiad: 

Gaynor Morgan 

Adran y Prif Weithredwr 

Swyddi:  Pennaeth 
Gweinyddiaeth a’r Gyfraith 

 

Rheolwr Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd 

Rhifau ffôn: 01267 224012 LRJ 

01267 224026  GM 

Cyfeiriadau E-bost: 
LRJones@sirgar.gov.uk 

GMorgan@sirgar.gov.uk 

 

Tudalen 163

Eitem Rhif  7

mailto:LRJones@sirgar.gov.uk
mailto:GMorgan@sirgar.gov.uk


 

  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

COUNCIL 

9TH FEBRUARY 2022 

APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS TO SERVE ON COUNCIL 
ADVISORY PANELS AND OUTSIDE BODIES SUBJECT TO  

POLITICAL BALANCE REQUIREMENTS  

As a result of the decision by Councillor Shahana Najmi to resign from the New Independent 
Group the Authority is required to review membership of the Council Advisory Panels and 
Outside Bodies, which are  subject to political balance requirements. 
 
There is no change in seat allocation  to the Dyfed Powys Police & Crime Panel, Brecon 
Beacons National Park Authority, Mid and West Wales Fire and Rescue Authority, and the 
Constitutional Review Working Group however there is a requirement for the New 
Independent Group to relinquish a seat on the Pay Policy Advisory  Panel to the Labour 
Group. 
 
Following discussion with the Groups, the New Independent Group has relinquished the seat 
held by Councillor Jeff Edmunds and the Labour Group have nominated Councillor Deryk 
Cundy to take this seat. 

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? NO 

 
IMPLICATIONS 

 

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with this 
report: 

Signed:   Linda Rees Jones, Head of Administration & Law   

Policy, Crime & 
Disorder and 
Equalities 

Legal  Finance  ICT  Risk 
Management 
Issues  

Staffing 
Implications 

Physical 
Assets   

NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE  NONE 

CONSULTATIONS 
I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed below: 

Signed:   Linda Rees Jones, Head of Administration & Law                      

1.Scrutiny Committee - Not applicable 

2.Local Member(s) - Not applicable 

3.Community / Town Council - Not applicable 

4.Relevant Partners  - Not applicable 

5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations  - Not applicable 

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
THERE ARE NONE 

 

Tudalen 164



 

 
 
 
 

CYNLLUN CYFLAWNI ECONOMAIDD RHANBARTHOL  

DE-ORLLEWIN CYMRU 

Argymhellion y Cabinet: 

Fod Cynllun Cyflawni Economaidd Rhanbarthol De-orllewin Cymru yn cael ei 

fabwysiadu fel polisi adfywio economaidd cyffredinol y Cyngor. 

Y Rhesymau:  
Sicrhau bod y Cyngor yn mabwysiadu'r Cynllun Cyflawni Economaidd Rhanbarthol newydd ar 
gyfer De-orllewin Cymru (yn lle Strategaeth Adfywio Economaidd Dinas-ranbarth Bae 
Abertawe 2013).  

 

Angen ymgynghori â'r Pwyllgor Craffu perthnasol  Nac Oes   

Angen i’r Cabinet wneud penderfyniad                           OES  

Angen i’r Cyngor wneud penderfyniad                            OES 

YR AELOD O'R CABINET SY'N GYFRIFOL AM Y PORTFFOLIO:- 
 
Y Cynghorydd Emlyn Dole - Arweinydd y Cyngor 

Y Gyfarwyddiaeth: 

Enw Pennaeth y Gwasanaeth: 

Jason Jones 

Awdur yr Adroddiad: 
 
Jason Jones 

Swyddi: 

 
Pennaeth Adfywio 

 
 
 
 

Cyfeiriad e-bost: 

 

JaJones@sirgar.gov.uk 

 

 
 
 

 
Cyngor Sir 

9 Chwefror 2022 
 

Tudalen 165

Eitem Rhif  8.1

mailto:JaJones@carmarthenshire.gov.uk


 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
COUNCIL 

9TH FEBRUARY 2022 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 It has been eight years since the publication of the Swansea Bay City Region Economic 

Regeneration Strategy in 2013, and the economic and policy context has changed 
considerably at the Welsh and UK level since then, particularly in light of the UK’s decision 
to leave the European Union and the impact of the covid-19 pandemic.  In addition, the 
regional landscape is changing with the advent of the new Corporate Joint Committees, 
and the preparation of new Regional Economic Frameworks by Welsh Government that 
set out visions and high level priorities for each region in Wales. 
 

1.2 To respond to changing circumstances, the four local authorities in South West Wales, in 
partnership with Welsh Government, commissioned SQW to produce a new Regional 
Economic Delivery Plan (REDP). This will replace the previous Swansea Bay City Region 
Economic Regeneration Strategy.  
 

1.3 The REDP commission included: 

 A thorough analysis of the evidence base on the region’s economy, labour market and 
infrastructure to determine its strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats  

 Interpretation of the strategic policy context at local, regional and national level 

 Development of detailed strategic aims and objectives that respond to the economic 
opportunities for the region and complement the shared regional vision as articulated 
in the Regional Economic Framework 

 Preparation of Regional Economic Delivery Plan that includes actions that need to be 
taken to achieve the vision and objectives 

 
1.4 The Regional Economic Delivery Plan is attached at Appendix A 

 
1.5 The REDP complements the new Welsh Government Regional Economic Framework 

(REF) and provides a further layer of detail below the REF, outlining the objectives and 
actions that will deliver against the high level vision in the REF. 
 

1.6 The REDP also complements the Carmarthenshire Economic Recovery & Delivery Plan 
(April 2021) 
 

1.7 The REDP sets out an ambitious ‘route map’ for the development of the region’s economy 
over the next ten years, identifying priorities for intervention and setting out how business, 
government, education, voluntary/ community organisations, social enterprises and other 
partners can work together to bring them forward.  

 
2. South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 
 
2.1 The REDP identifies that South West Wales has a diverse economy and a unique set of 

natural and cultural assets, underpinned by the quality of its coastal and rural environment, 
industrial heritage and university presence.  

 

Tudalen 166



 

2.2 The economic analysis shows:  

 In the years leading up to the Covid-19 pandemic, the South West Wales economy 
performed strongly in generating new jobs: by 2019, there were 322,000 jobs in the 
region, an impressive increase of 20,000 on the 2013 figure.  

 The productivity gap with the rest of the UK has narrowed slightly over time but is still 
substantial, with regional productivity (GVA per filled job) standing at 80% of the UK 
level in 2018. 

 Economic activity rates in South West Wales have improved at a faster pace than the 
rest of the UK over the past 15 years, but the rate continues to fall behind the UK 
average: the economic activity rate in South West Wales was 73.8% in 2018, 
compared with 78.9% across the UK.  

 There has been a steady improvement in qualification levels with 35% of the working 
age population qualified to NVQ level 4+ (degree level) compared to 22% in 2004, and 
the proportion with no qualifications has halved over the same period, but in relative 
terms there is a still a gap with the rest of the UK  

 The business base grew in the years leading up to the pandemic but the number of 
enterprises relative to the working age population (enterprise density) and start up 
rates remain lower than the rest of the UK.  

 There is a widely recognised gap between demand and supply for industrial premises, 
with low rental levels affecting the viability of private sector led developments.  

 Across the region concentrations of disadvantage are significant, principally in the 
urban centres of Swansea, Llanelli, Neath, Port Talbot, Pembroke Dock and upper 
Western Valleys.  
 

2.4 Overall, the review of economic performance suggests good progress over recent years, 
especially in terms of job creation, but there is a persistent gap in outcomes between the 
region and the rest of the UK. This reflects the ‘structural’ nature of many of the region’s 
challenges linked to the long-term processes of industrial change (which in some respects 
are still ongoing), and are shared with other regions in Wales and the UK.  

 
2.5 The review has also identified a series of distinctive strengths and opportunities in South 

West Wales, especially linked with the region’s energy potential (particularly green energy 
and the net zero opportunity), university-industrial links, strong cultural identity, 
environmental assets and quality of life offer. The REDP aims to build on these distinctive 
regional strengths and opportunities to develop a more prosperous and resilient South 
West Wales economy. 

 
2.6 Unlike the previous Economic Regeneration Strategy, which was predominantly focused 

on improving productivity, the REDP recognises that ‘Transformational’ growth 
opportunities need to be balanced with the conditions for incremental improvements in 
resilience, capacity and capability across the whole of the economy. This was a key theme 
that emerged from consultation with regional partners during the preparation of the Plan. 
While there are distinctive opportunities to pursue at the ‘leading edge’, long-term 
employment resilience and wage growth is going to depend on the sustainability, 
productivity and expansion of the wider stock of regional businesses.  

 
2.7 To help plan for the future, the REDP sets out three ‘Ambitions’ which set out the nature 

of the South West Wales economy that we want to work towards. These are: 

 Resilient and sustainable 

 Enterprising and ambitious 

 Balanced and inclusive 

Tudalen 167



 

 
2.8 The ambitions are supported by three complementary Missions, which will guide activity 

over the next ten years: 

 Mission 1 – Establishing South West Wales as a UK leader in renewable energy and 
the development of a net zero economy: Taking forward the region’s major energy 
related projects and driving the benefits through the region (via industrial 
decarbonisation, supply chain opportunities, university-linked innovation, etc.).  

 Mission 2 – Building a strong, resilient and embedded business base: Understanding 
and growing the business stock, supporting widespread social and commercial 
entrepreneurship, creating stronger supply chain and innovation networks, making 
public sector support sustainable; driving forward technology adoption and diffusion.  

 Mission 3 – Growing and sustaining the ‘experience’ offer: Linking environmental 
quality, quality of life and community character to create a region that retains and 
attracts talent and investment, and to promote this consistently and powerfully to the 
outside world 

 
2.9 The REDP sets out some initial key action areas to deliver against the ambitions and 

missions. These actions will form the basis of a ‘living’ action plan document that will be 
regularly reviewed by regional partners and will evolve to embrace new investment 
proposals as they emerge.  

 
2.10 The new Regional Economic Delivery Plan will be owned and overseen by the new South 

West Wales Corporate Joint Committee (CJC). Once the CJC is formally constituted, it is 
proposed that the REDP will be presented for adoption as the regional strategy for 
economic wellbeing. Supporting the CJC, the Regional Regeneration Directors will keep 
track of progress and will be responsible for developing business cases, securing 
investment and ensuring delivery on the CJC’s behalf. 

 
3. Recommendation 

 
3.1      It is recommended that the South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan is adopted 

as the Council’s over-arching economic regeneration policy. 
DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? Yes - South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery 

Plan (September 2021) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 168



 

IMPLICATIONS 

  
CONSULTATIONS 

 
I confirm that the appropriate consultations have taken in place and the outcomes are as detailed 
below 

Signed:  Jason Jones                                                                Head of Regeneration    

1. Scrutiny Committee  N/A 

2.Local Member(s)  N/A 

3.Community / Town Council N/A 

4.Relevant Partners   

Proposals have been developed in partnership with Neath Port Talbot County Council, 
Swansea City Council, Pembrokeshire County Council and Welsh Government. 

5.Staff Side Representatives and other Organisations  N/A 

CABINET PORTFOLIO HOLDER(S) 
AWARE/CONSULTED  

YES 

 
Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 – Access to Information 
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report: 
THERE ARE NONE 

 

I confirm that other than those implications which have been agreed with the appropriate Directors / 
Heads of Service and are referred to in detail below, there are no other implications associated with 
this report: 

Signed:        Jason Jones                                                           Head of Regeneration           
Policy, Crime & 
Disorder and 
Equalities 

Legal 

 
Finance 

 
ICT 

 
Risk 
Management 
Issues 

Staffing 
Implications 

 

Physical 
Assets  

 
YES NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE 

Policy 

The Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015 requires public bodies in Wales 
to consider the long-term impact of their decisions across all aspects of wellbeing. The Act 
outlines seven ‘wellbeing goals’ – and public policy should contribute to all of them, not 
just one or two. Delivering on the ambitions of the regional economic delivery plan and 
delivering “a prosperous region”, means that we should also contribute to a region that is 
more resilient, equal, healthy, cohesive and globally responsible, and which enjoys a vibrant 
culture and Welsh language. 
 
One of the plans 3 strategic missions is to establish South West Wales as a UK leader in 
renewable energy and the development of a net zero economy, which will support this 
Council’s ambition of becoming net zero carbon by 2030 and the UK and Welsh Government 
commitments to decarbonisation and the achievement of ‘net zero’ by 2050.  
 
The plan complements the Carmarthenshire Economic Recovery & Delivery Plan (April 2021), 
providing the platform for future growth opportunities beyond our recovery horizon. 

Tudalen 169



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



 

 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

South West Wales Regional 

Economic Delivery Plan 

 
 

September 2021

Tudalen 171



 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

Contents 

Executive Summary ........................................................................................................................... 1 

1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 4 

2. South West Wales: The economic landscape ............................................................................ 8 

3. Our ambitions to 2030 ................................................................................................................. 22 

4. Mission 1:  A UK leader in renewable energy and the net zero economy ............................ 25 

5. Mission 2: Building a strong, resilient and embedded business base .................................... 30 

6. Mission 3: Growing and sustaining the South West Wales ‘experience’ offer........................ 35 

7. Moving forward: Delivering the Plan.......................................................................................... 39 

 

 

 

Tudalen 172



1 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

Executive Summary 

Background 

1. South West Wales has a diverse economy and a unique set of natural and cultural assets, 
underpinned by the quality of its coastal and rural environment, industrial heritage and 
capacity and university presence.  In 2014, partners in South West Wales jointly published an 
Economic Regeneration Strategy, setting the strategic groundwork for the Swansea Bay City 
Deal, a £1.3 billion investment package supported by the UK and Welsh Governments.  

2. Seven years on, much has been achieved. However, there is more to be done to unlock the 
region’s potential and to ensure that growth is resilient, sustainable and inclusive. In 
December 2020, the South West Wales local authorities, working closely with the Welsh 
Government, commissioned a new Regional Economic Delivery Plan. Looking ahead to the 
next ten years, this sets out an ambitious ‘route map’ for the development of the region’s 
economy, identifying priorities for intervention and articulating how business, government, 
education, voluntary, community and social enterprise organisations and other partners 
should work together to bring them forward.  

The economic and policy context 

3. In the years leading up to the Covid-19 pandemic, the South West Wales economy performed 
strongly in generating new jobs: By 2019, there were some 322,000 jobs in the region, an 
impressive increase of 20,000 on the 2013 figure. However, there is still a large and persistent 
productivity gap with the rest of the UK.  

4. Analysis of the region’s economy highlights that:  

 The region’s economic weaknesses are largely structural, linked with long-term 
processes of industrial change (which in some respects are still ongoing), and are shared 
with other regions in Wales and the UK.  

 However, the region has a series of distinctive strengths and opportunities. These 
are especially linked with the region’s energy potential, university-industrial links, strong 
cultural identity, environmental assets and quality of life offer..  

 There is a ‘window of opportunity’ to build on and capture some of these, especially 
in relation to the green energy and net zero opportunity, where the region has specific 
advantages, but where other parts of the UK (and beyond) also have ambitious plans and 
technology and the dynamics of investment are changing rapidly. Having the capacity to 
exploit these opportunities will be important and the timing of this matters greatly.  

 The region contains much diversity, especially within the rural/ urban dimension. 
Despite diversity across the region, there is substantial commonality, and some of the big 
opportunities have a region-wide footprint. However, some of them extend beyond the 

Tudalen 173



2 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

region itself, and ‘out-of-region’ links (for example, the South Wales Industrial Cluster and 
the links through to Cardiff Capital Region) will be of relevance.  

 ‘Transformational’ growth opportunities need to be balanced with the conditions 
for incremental improvements in resilience, capacity and capability across the 
economy. This was a key theme emerging from consultation as part of this Plan. There 
are distinctive opportunities at the ‘leading edge’ – but long-term employment resilience 
and wage growth will depend on the sustainability, productivity and expansion of the 
wider stock of regional SMEs. 

5. The Plan has also been developed against the backdrop of a rapidly evolving policy context, 
as the region recovers from the Covid-19 pandemic and adjusts to a new trading and funding 
landscape following Brexit. However, looking to the next ten years, the climate emergency, 
the pace of (and adaption to) technology change and the need to ensure that the benefits are 
captured locally and are widely distributed will be central to economic strategy. 

Our Ambitions and Missions for the next ten years 

6. Over the next ten years, we will build on our distinctive strengths and opportunities 
summarised above to develop a more prosperous and resilient South West Wales economy.  

7. To help plan for the future, we have identified three Ambitions (statements about the nature 
of the South West Wales economy that we want to work towards), supporting three 
complementary Missions: 

Figure 1: Our strategic framework 

 

Source: SQW 2021 

Tudalen 174



3 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

8. Our three ‘Missions’ will guide future activity over the next ten years and beyond. They are 
designed to give a clear direction of travel, while remaining sufficiently broad to 
accommodate a wide range of potential investments that will come forward over time. The 
three high-level Missions are as follows:  

 Establishing South West Wales as a UK leader in renewable energy and the 
development of a net zero economy: Taking forward the region’s major energy related 
projects and driving the benefits through the region (via industrial decarbonisation, 
supply chain opportunities, university-linked innovation, etc.).  

 Building a strong, resilient and embedded business base: Understanding and growing 
the business stock, supporting widespread social and commercial entrepreneurship, 
creating stronger supply chain and innovation networks, making public sector support 
sustainable; driving forward technology adoption and diffusion. 

 Growing and sustaining the ‘experience’ offer: Linking environmental quality, quality 
of life and community character to create a region that retains and attracts talent and 
investment, and to promote this consistently and powerfully to the outside world. 

Delivering the Plan 

9. To translate our Missions into practical interventions, we have prepared a project pipeline. 
This sets out a schedule of interventions, describing how they contribute to our Ambitions 
and Missions, their current development status and the actions that need to be taken to bring 
them forward. This will be kept ‘live’: it will regularly be reviewed by regional partners and 
will evolve to embrace new investment proposals as they emerge.  

10. Currently, the projects within the pipeline have a combined value of around £3 billion. While 
some are at an early stage of development, and costs will be determined through the business 
case process, this gives an indication of the scale of the opportunity ahead. Building on the 
success of the current Swansea Bay City Deal, we will pursue the creation of a further, flexible 
Investment Fund to co-invest alongside the private sector in projects that will deliver our 
Missions, where business cases are robust.  

11. To oversee the strategic direction of the Plan, a new South West Wales Corporate Joint 
Committee (CJC) has been established, enabling the four local authorities to work closely 
together alongside the Welsh Government and to share resources. Building on our recent 
success, and alive to the immediacy of our current challenges and opportunities, the CJC will 
drive forward our Delivery Plan – building a South West Wales that is “resilient and 
sustainable; enterprising and ambitious; and balanced and inclusive”.  

 

Tudalen 175



4 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

1. Introduction 

Welcome to the Regional Economic Delivery Plan for South West Wales. Looking 
ahead to 2030, this Plan sets out our ambitions for a resilient, broad-based and 
sustainable economy – and outlines where we will focus our efforts in the next few 
years to realise them.   

 

Introducing South West Wales 

1.1 Extending from Neath Port Talbot in the east to Pembrokeshire in the west, via Swansea and 
Carmarthenshire, South West Wales has a diverse economy and a unique set of natural and 
cultural assets.  

1.2 Economically, our industrial heritage combines with some of the UK’s most significant marine 
energy potential, driving major opportunities for decarbonisation and the growth of the UK’s 
Green Economy. Environmentally, the coastline and countryside – including the 
Pembrokeshire Coast and Brecon Beacons National Parks and the Gower Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty – contribute to a superb visitor offer and quality of life. Culturally, the region 
encompasses the dynamic, growing university city of Swansea, a diverse and distinctive 
network of rural towns and an increasingly vibrant Welsh language.  

Figure 1-1: South West Wales in context 

 
Source: Produced by SQW 2021. Licence 100030994. Contains OS data © Crown copyright [and database right] (2020) 

Tudalen 176



5 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

A bold and inclusive new economic delivery plan 

1.3 In 2014, partners in South West Wales jointly published an Economic Regeneration 
Strategy, setting the strategic groundwork for the Swansea Bay City Deal, a £1.3 billion 
investment package supported by the UK and Welsh Governments.  

1.4 Seven years on, much has been achieved. The region’s knowledge and research capacity has 
been supported through the delivery of major facilities such as the Swansea Bay Campus and 
continued investment in industry-academic links. The economic opportunities associated 
with the growth of the health economy have been reinforced through the development of the 
new Institute of Life Sciences and the start of work on the Pentre Awel health and wellbeing 
campus in Llanelli. S4C’s new headquarters has opened in Carmarthen, accompanied by a 
concentration of creative media businesses; substantial investment has continued to flow into 
Pembrokeshire’s offshore renewable opportunities; and Swansea city centre’s ambitious 
regeneration programme is well underway. There has been major investment in our digital 
connectivity, with exciting plans for a more sustainable regional transport system through 
Swansea Bay and South West Wales Metro. 

1.5 This provides a strong platform for future growth. However, as the analysis in Chapter 2 
makes clear, there is more to be done to unlock the region’s potential and to ensure that 
growth is resilient, sustainable and inclusive. Looking to the next ten years and beyond, the 
South West Wales local authorities, working closely with the Welsh Government, have 
prepared this Regional Economic Delivery Plan to ensure that we make the most of the 
exciting growth opportunities that are ahead of us. 

Combining strategic clarity with delivery flexibility  

1.6 In developing the Plan, we have followed a sequential approach. First, we started with a fresh 
view of the evidence, considering the ‘state of the region’ and the outlook for the future. This 
informed our high-level objectives, setting out “what we want our economy to be (more) like”. 
These provided a framework for a series of clearly-defined missions: key areas of focus for 
the next ten years, and the interventions, or project activities, needed to achieve them: 

Figure 1-2: Regional Economic Delivery Plan logic sequence 

 
Source: SQW 

1.7 However, we live an uncertain and dynamic world, and over the lifetime of this Plan, we will 
need to respond to new challenges and opportunities (and new ideas and investments that 
are yet unforeseen). A resilient plan is a flexible and agile plan: while this document 

Tudalen 177



6 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

provides strategic clarity and focus on our priorities, we anticipate that project actions and 
investments will evolve over time.  

Navigating the changing strategic context  

1.8 This Plan is developed in the context of (and contributes to) a range of plans and strategies 
developed at local, national and UK level. Looking across the strategic landscape, a number of 
themes are especially relevant to this Plan:  

 First, the Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015 requires public bodies in Wales 
to consider the long-term impact of their decisions across all aspects of wellbeing. The Act 
outlines seven ‘wellbeing goals’ – and public policy should contribute to all of them, not 
just one or two. For an economic plan, that means that in delivering “a prosperous region”, 
we should also contribute to a region that is more resilient, equal, healthy, cohesive and 
globally responsible, and which enjoys a vibrant culture and Welsh language1. The 
principles of the Act are explicitly embedded in the Welsh Government’s Economic 
Resilience and Reconstruction Mission2 (and its principles of “Prosperous, Green and 
Equal”) and are central to this Delivery Plan.  

 Second, there is an overarching and firm commitment to decarbonisation and the 
achievement of ‘net zero’ by 2050. The UK and Welsh Government is legally committed 
to net zero carbon emissions (over a 1990 baseline) by 2050, a process that will involve 
far-reaching changes in industrial processes, transport networks and heating systems. 
The Welsh Government’s Programme for Government commits to “acting decisively to 
tackle the nature and climate emergency”3, and this is reinforced in the establishment of 
the Minister of Climate Change portfolio and (for example) in the clear prioritisation of 
sustainable and active travel within Llwybr Newydd, the new transport strategy. From an 
economic strategy perspective, the decarbonisation imperative creates opportunities for 
innovation and technology development, as well as an urgent need for adaptation to 
support industrial resilience.  

  Third, a broader policy focus on the opportunities and challenges presented by 
technological and demographic change featured in the UK Government’s former 
Industrial Strategy and remains prominent in its successor, the Plan for Growth. A series 
of reports to the Welsh Government have also set out approaches to digitalisation4 and 
the adoption of an innovation strategy focused around meeting societal need5. 

 Fourth, the response to the UK’s exit from the European Union. Over the coming years, 
we will need to adapt to changing patterns of trade. The impact of this is not yet fully 

                                                             
1 Future Generations Commissioner for Wales, Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 
2 Welsh Government (February 2021), Our Economic Resilience and Reconstruction Mission 
3 Welsh Government (June 2021), Programme for Government, p.3 
4 Welsh Government (September 2019), Wales 4.0: Delivering economic transformation for a better 
future of work  
5 Rick Delbridge, Dylan Henderson and Kevin Morgan (May 2021), Scoping the future of innovation 
policy in Wales 

Tudalen 178



7 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

apparent, although for some sectors will be far-reaching (for example, the adaption of 
agriculture to the new Environmental Land Management system). Brexit also means a 
significant change for South West Wales in terms of the public investment available for 
economic development: historically, the region has been one of the UK’s largest 
beneficiaries from EU funding. Looking to the future, it is likely that we will need a new, 
perhaps more ‘investment and return’ based approach.  

 Finally, this Plan is developed in the context of a wider approach to regional economic 
development in Wales, with South West Wales forming one of the regional ‘building 
blocks’ of Future Wales, the new national spatial development plan6. Plans have also been 
advanced for new approaches to regional governance and delivery (described in Chapter 
5), as well as the Regional Economic Framework, which has been developed by the Welsh 
Government in conjunction with the local authorities alongside this Plan.  

Plan structure 

1.9 The remainder of this Plan is structured in six chapters:  

 Chapter 2 sets out the economic landscape within which the Plan has been developed, 
outlining the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats facing the regional 
economy and the key issues that need to be addressed.  

 Chapter 3 introduces our strategic framework, setting out our ambitions for the future 
and the type of economy that we want to help develop.  

 Building on this, Chapters 4-6 explain our three key ‘missions’: the specific goals that we 
want to achieve over the next decade.  

 Finally, Chapter 7 sets out how we will deliver the Plan, including the role of the 
Corporate Joint Committee and options for future implementation arrangements.  

1.10 In addition, Annex A provides a summary SWOT analysis. Annex B provides an assessment 
of this Plan against the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015. Annex C explains 
the process of developing the Plan, and how partners were engaged and priorities identified.  

1.11 Two supplementary documents support the Plan:  

 First, an Evidence and Policy Landscape Review provides further detail in support of 
the narrative in Chapter 2 

Second, while this Plan takes a long-term view, specific actions will evolve over time as 
business cases are progressed and new investment opportunities come forward. 
Alongside the Plan, we have prepared a supplementary Project Pipeline document, 
setting out known and emerging interventions and the next steps involved in taking them 
forward.  

                                                             
6 Welsh Government (February 2021), Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 

Tudalen 179



8 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

2. South West Wales: The economic landscape 

South West Wales has performed strongly in recent years in generating new jobs and 
driving forward priority investments. Despite continuing productivity challenges, 
there are major opportunities ahead for sustainable growth, linked with our energy, 
innovation, business and community assets. This chapter sketches a picture of the 
region’s economy, outlining recent economic performance, key strengths and assets, 
and the major ‘transformational’ trends that will impact on future growth.  

 

Places and connections: The region’s economic geography 

A distinctive heritage and a diverse economy… 

2.1 With a population of around 705,000 across four counties, South West Wales is a diverse 
region. Historically, much of the area was an industrial pioneer, driven initially by the coal 
and metals industries and later by petrochemicals and manufacturing. Over the past 40 years, 
economic change has meant a challenging period of readjustment, which is to some extent 
still underway. But our industrial heritage has bequeathed an important legacy, including 
some of our leading research and innovation capabilities, our large advanced manufacturing 
sector and the character and form of our towns and cities. 

2.2 Reflecting the region’s population distribution and historic industrial development, the 
largest concentrations of employment are in the east, around Swansea Bay, as Figure 2-1 
illustrates. Swansea itself accounts for around 40% of jobs in South West Wales (and is its 
main commuter destination), and the area around Swansea Bay and Llanelli is defined in 
Future Wales as a ‘National Growth Area’ for new jobs and housing7. The east of the region 
also contains a distinctive and extensive concentration of manufacturing activity at Port 
Talbot, including the UK’s largest steel plant and the Port Talbot Waterway Enterprise Zone.  

2.3 Further west, around 20% of national energy supplies enter Britain via Pembrokeshire, with 
the Haven Waterway a major centre for existing energy infrastructure and the exploitation of 
new opportunities. More broadly, Carmarthen and Haverfordwest have important roles as 
regional centres, supporting an extensive rural economy and food production industry. 
Reflecting the environmental quality highlighted in Chapter 1, the region enjoys extensive 
environmental designations, including the two National Parks and AONB and special 
protections along much of the coast. This environmental quality supports a large, important 

                                                             
7 Welsh Government (February 2021), Future Wales: The National Plan 2040, Policy 28. Policy 29 
defines Carmarthen and the Haven Towns (Haverfordwest, Milford Haven, Pembroke and Pembroke 
Dock) as ‘Regional Growth Areas’ 

Tudalen 180



9 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

and growing visitor economy as well as delivering significant wellbeing benefits to our local 
residents.   

Figure 2-1: Major concentrations of employment 

Source: Produced by SQW 2021. Licence 100030994 Contains OS data © Crown copyright [and database right] [2020] 

2.4 Across the region, around 208,000 people speak Welsh – about 31% of the total population, 
and an increase of around 23% in the decade to 20208. The Welsh Government’s Cymraeg 
2050 strategy sets out a positive strategy to develop “a thriving, sustainable economy in rural 
areas” and to promote the Welsh language through the media and the growth of the cultural 
sector – a goal recently reinforced by investment in S4C’s headquarters presence in 
Carmarthen. 

… with important links beyond the region 

2.5 Connections beyond the region are important too. The ports at Fishguard and Pembroke Dock 
provide the main gateway between the south of the UK and Ireland.  Looking east, there are 
strong links (and important commuter flows) between the manufacturing clusters at Port 
Talbot and neighbouring Bridgend; shared issues across the Western and Central Valleys and 
the South Wales industrial base; and relatively easy access to opportunities in Cardiff and 
beyond. While our Plan focuses on what is needed for the region and within the region, 

                                                             
8 Reflecting the region’s diversity, the proportion of Welsh speakers is substantially higher in 
Carmarthenshire, at over 50% of the population.  

Tudalen 181



10 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

economic boundaries are fluid: the key point is that South West Wales is not self-contained 
and homogeneous; it is outward facing and diverse, and it makes sense to work together.  

The medium-term economic outlook 

2.6 This Plan has been developed following the substantial economic shock precipitated by the 
Covid-19 pandemic. The UK economy contracted by 9.9% in 2020 – an unprecedented fall in 
annual output in modern times – as public health restrictions effectively closed some sectors 
(notably hospitality, a key industry in South West Wales). Across the region, the claimant 
count was 74% higher in December 2020 than it had been at the start of the year, with the full 
employment impact mitigated by the furlough scheme and the extensive series of business 
grant, loan and rates relief measures brought in by the Welsh and UK Governments. 

2.7 At the time of writing, the outlook for economic recovery from the pandemic is positive. 
In July 2021, independent forecasters anticipated UK GDP growth of 6.9% in 2021 and 5.5% 
in 2022, sufficient to restore the economy to its pre-pandemic size9. In South West Wales, the 
percentage of employments furloughed fell from 12.5% in December 2020 to around 5% in 
June 202110,   the claimant count had started to fall, and many employers were reporting staff 
shortages. 

2.8 However, the pandemic has accelerated disruptive trends that are likely to have longer-term 
impacts. Structural changes in the retail sector have impacted on town and city centre uses. 
Remote working has expanded and is likely to become more permanent – presenting 
opportunities for people to access a wider range of jobs, but also potentially creating 
additional housing and service delivery pressures in rural and coastal areas. At the time of 
writing, the Covid crisis has not come to a conclusion and its consequences are still not yet 
fully known – but they are likely to have a longer-term influence over the period of this Plan.  

The state of the region: Recent economic performance 

2.9 Looking back over a longer period, the regional economy has grown since the previous 
Economic Regeneration Strategy was prepared. But on many indicators, there is still a 
significant gap between outcomes in South West Wales and the rest of the UK. The Economic 
and Strategic Landscape Review which accompanies this Plan explores our recent economic 
performance in more detail: the following paragraphs provide a snapshot of the ‘state of the 
region’.  

We have seen growth in jobs and economic activity, but there is capacity for more 

2.10 The 2014 Strategy anticipated a relatively slow recovery in employment terms from the 
recession following the 2008/09 financial crisis. However, performance has been much 

                                                             
9 HM Treasury (July 2021), Forecasts for the UK Economy: A comparison of independent forecasts 
10 Slightly below the Wales and UK averages, and accounting for around 14,400 employments 
furloughed.  

Tudalen 182



11 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

stronger than anticipated. By 2019, there were some 322,000 jobs in the region, an increase 
of 20,000 on the 2013 figure. Despite some net job losses in 2016, growth until the start of the 
pandemic was stronger than in the rest of Wales.  

2.11 However, there is still ‘spare capacity’ in the labour market. Although the ‘jobs density’ 
(the number of jobs per working age resident) has grown steadily, it is still lower than the UK 
and Wales averages11. Notably, despite Swansea’s importance as a regional centre and 
inbound commuter destination, the city’s jobs density is low relative to Cardiff and Newport12.  

2.12 There have been steady improvements in the economic activity rate over the past 15 years – 
at a faster pace than in the rest of the UK. However, South West Wales’ economic activity 
rate continues to fall behind the UK average (and slightly behind the Wales average). If the 
gap between the 2019 regional economic activity rate (73.8%) and the UK rate (78.9%) could 
be bridged, it would bring an additional 21,000 people back into the labour market.  

Economic output has grown, within the context of structural change 

2.13 Economic output (measured in gross value added) was around £13 billion in 2018 – 
equivalent to 21% of total Welsh output. The region’s GVA increased by around £630 million 
in 2013-18 (representing growth of about 5% over the period). Within this overall expansion, 
some sectors grew strongly: combined, wholesale and retail; warehousing; real estate; 
information and communications; and health and care contributed an additional £689 million 
to GVA. But some sectors contracted over the period, with the metals, electrical products and 
machinery sector reducing its output by around £322 million.  

2.14 This suggests a continuing process of adjustment within the economy, which is also reflected 
in employment growth (and a strengthening share of employment) in hospitality, health, 
distribution and administrative activities. Nevertheless, manufacturing is of fundamental 
importance to the regional economy, accounting for 13.6% of total output (and over 25% of 
output in Neath Port Talbot).  

There is still a large productivity gap, which impacts on local prosperity  

2.15 Productivity (the amount of GVA generated for every filled job) was around £45,100 in South 
West Wales in 2018. The gap with the rest of the UK has narrowed slightly over time. But it is 
still substantial: in 2018, productivity was around 80% of the UK level. 

2.16 Our analysis of productivity in South West Wales leads to three observations, which are 
critical to the strategy advanced within this Plan:  

 Productivity growth isn’t ‘everything’…. But it is necessary for long-term economic 
wellbeing, even if it isn’t sufficient. More ‘productive’ activities ought to lead to higher 

                                                             
11 0.75 jobs per resident aged 16-64 in South West Wales in 2019 (compared with 0.77 in Wales 
overall and 0.86 in the UK).  
12 Swansea’s jobs density was 0.8 in 2019, compared with 0.98 in Cardiff and 0.91 in Newport.  

Tudalen 183



12 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

average pay13 and more opportunities for people to build careers and businesses in the 
region. But productivity can be seen as a somewhat abstract measure: a highly 
‘productive’ economy might not necessarily be a sustainable or equitable one, and not 
everything that society values generates high levels of monetised output. So, as well as 
generating higher output per worker, the key challenge is ensuring that the 
productivity gain is captured locally in pay, conditions and business opportunities.    

 Productivity growth is 
not just about growing 
‘more productive’ 
sectors, or those firms at 
the leading edge. The 
structural shift in South 
West Wales from relatively 
high value-added 
manufacturing to lower 
value services has 
presented a long-term 
challenge. Part of the gap is 
also explained by the type 
of activities that take place 
in different locations 
within the same industry – 
with headquarters activities, research and development and so on typically contributing 
to higher value output per worker14. But recent research also highlights the gains that can 
be made in all sectors (including those within the ‘foundational economy’ as well as within 
‘export’-like industries) through investment in management capacity, technology 
adoption, supply chain capabilities, skills development and so on15. This is likely to be 
especially important in South West Wales: in a region with relatively few large firms, a 
broad-based approach that supports SME growth and entrepreneurship across the 
board and increases the local ‘stickiness’ of investment is likely to be important.  

 Productivity growth is likely to be gradual over time.  It may be accelerated by major 
transformational investments – but ‘narrowing the gap’, and ensuring the gain is captured 
regionally in higher pay and local business growth, is a long-term endeavour, demanding 
sustained investment across the economy16.  

                                                             
13 Currently, gross median pay in the South West Wales local authority areas ranges between 86% 
and 92% of the UK average. 
14 Welsh Government (2018), Welsh Budget 2018: Chief Economist’s Report, p.12 
15 Jurgen Maier (2017), Made Smarter Review: Report to the UK Government; Institute for Government 
(2021), Productivity: Firing on all cylinders – why restoring growth is a matter for every UK sector 
16 Note also the challenges in ‘narrowing the gap’: other regions will also grow at the same time, and 
some (principally London and the Greater South East) will have more favourable starting-points.  

Figure 2-2: Productivity: GVA per filled job (£), 2010-
18 
 

ONS, Subregional productivity: labour productivity by local authority district and 
labour productivity by UK NUTS2 and NUTS3 subregions, 2010-18 

Tudalen 184



13 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

The evidence reveals mixed progress against wider drivers of productivity 

2.17 Linked with the region’s overall productivity performance, there has been mixed progress in 
relation to wider ‘drivers of productivity’:  

In relation to skills… 

2.18 Recent years have seen a strong emphasis on strengthening links between providers and 
employers, with the Regional Learning and Skills Partnership playing an increasingly 
important role in brokering relationships, identifying employer need and providing better 
labour market intelligence17.  

2.19 Over time, there has been a steady improvement in qualification levels: in 2019, 35% of 
the working age population was qualified to NVQ4+, compared with 22% in 2004, and the 
proportion with no qualifications halved over the same period (partly as new entrants to the 
labour market gradually replace those who leave). But in relative terms, there is still a gap 
with the rest of the UK18, and substantial variation across the region19.  

In relation to connectivity… 

2.20 There has been transformational progress in the delivery of digital connectivity since 
the 2014 Regeneration Strategy. Commercial investment and public support through 
Superfast Cymru and successor programmes have increased access to superfast broadband 
to over 90% of premises. However, beyond superfast, there is still a still a significant rural/ 
urban digital divide, with ultrafast penetration in Pembrokeshire among the lowest in the 
UK20. The Digital Infrastructure programme across South West Wales aims to address this – 
but applications for new technology continue to advance rapidly: staying ahead of the curve 
will be important as digital technology transforms working practices and business models.  

2.21 The picture is perhaps less positive in relation to transport connectivity. There has been 
some disappointment in the scaling back of plans to electrify the South Wales Mainline to 
Swansea. However, proposals are being advanced to take forward the Swansea Bay and 
South Wales Metro as the core of a better-integrated regional transport system (highlighted 
further in Chapter 4); Transport for Wales plans to increase services between Swansea and 
Manchester from 2022; and work progresses in taking forward active travel measures across 
the region. While the future policy presumption is against new strategic road schemes, 
investment has started on much-needed improvements to the A40 in Pembrokeshire and 

                                                             
17 See South West Wales RLSP (2019), Regional Employment and Skills Plan 2019 
18 Between 2004 and 2019, the gap between South West Wales and the UK actually widened, from 
3.6pp to 4.8pp.,  
19 For example, in 2019, only 29% of the Neath Port Talbot 16-64 population was qualified to NVQ4+, 
compared with 37% in Swansea.  
20 In September 2020, around 77% and 58% of premises in Swansea and Neath Port Talbot 
respectively were able to access ‘ultrafast’ download speeds of up to 300 Mbps, although this is 
largely confined to urban areas where it is commercially viable.  

Tudalen 185



14 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

beyond the region, major improvements on the A465 Heads of the Valleys road are improving 
connectivity with the English Midlands.  

In relation to the business stock…  

2.22 The size of the region’s business base grew in the years leading up to the start of the 
pandemic. In 2020, there were around 23,800 active enterprises in South West Wales, a 
number that had steadily increased over the preceding five years – and survival rates keep 
pace with the rest of Wales and the UK. But the region’s ‘enterprise density’ (the number of 
enterprises relative to the working age population) and the start-up rate remain lower than 
in the rest of the UK21.  Recent research has highlighted that while overall entrepreneurial 
activity in Wales is broadly in line with the rest of the UK, there is a shortfall in perceptions of 
the availability of good start-up opportunities22.  

In relation to sites and premises for business growth… 

2.23  South West Wales benefits from some substantial sites for industrial expansion, including the 
large strategic site at Baglan Energy Park, future phases of the Cross Hands development in 
Carmarthenshire, and key sites at Felindre and Fabian Way in Swansea and the Haven 
Waterway. However, there is a widely-recognised gap between demand and supply for 
industrial sites and premises, as low rents (and in some cases high remediation and 
infrastructure costs on ex-industrial land) make viability challenging, especially west of 
Swansea. The evidence is that this acts as a brake on business expansion, both to new 
investors and to existing local businesses seeking ‘grow-on’ space23. 

Inequalities remain significant 

2.24 Despite jobs growth over time and improvements in economic activity, recent research 
highlights the extent to which rising living costs (especially housing costs) have impacted on 
the real incomes of the lowest paid, a situation which has accelerated during the pandemic24.  

2.25 Across the region, concentrations of disadvantage are significant, principally in the main 
urban centres of Swansea, Llanelli, Neath, Port Talbot and Pembroke Dock, and in the upper 
Western Valleys. Many of these concentrations are persistent over time and reflect the long-
term impact of industrial change: while they highlight the importance of ‘supply-side’ 
measures to reduce economic inactivity and bring people back into the labour market, most 

                                                             
21 In 2020, there were 11 business starts to every 100 active enterprises, compared with 14 in the UK 
overall.  
22 Karen Bonner et al (2018), Global Entrepreneurship Monitor UK: Wales report 2018 
23 SQW/ Welsh Government (March 2020), Commercial Property: Market analysis and potential 
interventions  
24 Bevan Foundation (June 2021), A snapshot of poverty in spring 2021 

Tudalen 186



15 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

households on low incomes are already in work25. For a regional economic strategy, driving 
demand and creating “better jobs, closer to home” is a key goal and challenge26. 

Building on strengths: Key assets 

2.26 Overall, the review of economic performance over recent years suggests good progress, 
especially in terms of job creation. But there is a persistent gap in outcomes between the 
region and the rest of the UK.  This is partly because most change is incremental: the 
investment secured through City Deal (for example) will not yet have translated into 
improvements in the economic data. It also reflects the ‘structural’ nature of many of the 
region’s challenges, some of which (including the productivity deficit) are shared with other 
parts of Wales and the North of England.  

2.27 However, South West Wales contains some distinctive economic strengths and 
opportunities which provide a good platform for future growth. Realising each of these 
presents a challenge for future strategy, which we have set out below.  

We have nationally and internationally significant university research assets 

2.28 There is a strong higher education presence in the region, anchored by Swansea University 
and University of Wales Trinity St David’s campuses in Carmarthen and Swansea27. Both 
universities have expanded in recent years, have made an important contribution to the 
region’s physical regeneration (e.g., through the Swansea Bay campus and the SA1 
development in Swansea city centre) and are key economic ‘drivers’ in their own right.  

2.29 Beyond this, Swansea University’s research is ranked as ‘world leading’ in several (mostly 
STEM-related) subjects28. Across both universities, key research capabilities relate to:  

 Advanced data science, where Swansea’s assets include the Computational Foundry 
(bringing together computer science and mathematical expertise, and working with 
industry) and the CHERISH-DE Digital Economy Centre.   

 Health and medicine, with a strong focus on the application of data science in health, 
linked with wider computer science expertise, and including one of six Health Data 
Research UK (HDR-UK) sites nationally. 

 Engineering and manufacturing, especially in materials research, and with relevance to 
the energy and decarbonisation opportunities discussed further below.  

                                                             
25 Joseph Rowntree Foundation (November 2020), Briefing: Poverty in Wales 2020 (Annex A) 
26 “Better jobs, closer to home” is a stated Welsh Government objective, as set out in the Economic 
Action Plan  and the Valleys Task Force strategy Our Valleys, Our Future. 
27 In addition to a smaller University of South Wales presence at the Hydrogen Centre in Baglan. 
28 Swansea University is assessed as ‘world-leading’ in 14 units of assessment within the 2014 
Research Excellence Framework. 

Tudalen 187



16 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

2.30 There is a long history of collaboration between both universities and local industry, 
especially in the manufacturing sector. Examples of recent programmes include ASTUTE 
2020, supporting industrial research, development and innovation in manufacturing 
businesses; and UWTSD’s Manufacturing for Advanced Design Engineering (MADE) 
programme, designed to support collaboration with SMEs.  Many industrial collaboration 
initiatives have been supported with European funding: as this draws to a close, it will be 
important to maintain the momentum and capacity that has been built up in recent 
years, while expanding opportunities for collaboration across the wider regional SME 
base.  

2.31 The commercial research base is somewhat smaller. But there has been investment in recent 
years (for example, TWI’s Technology Centre Wales and Advanced Engineering Materials 
Research Institute at Baglan), adding value to the university-based presence. 

Our energy infrastructure is extensive, and we have some of the UK’s greatest low carbon 

energy generation potential  

2.32 South West Wales has long had an important energy sector, especially associated with 
Pembrokeshire’s oil and gas industry. The infrastructure and skills associated with this will 
be important in taking advantage of the region’s vast potential in renewable energy. Several 
opportunities are currently being developed through the emerging South West Wales 
Regional Energy Strategy. These include:  

 Wave and marine energy off the Pembrokeshire coast, with a series of commercial 
and pre-commercial projects underway and in the pipeline  

 The proposed Dragon Energy Island scheme in Swansea Bay, offering scope for tidal, 
wave and potentially solar energy generation  

 Onshore capacity, including the UK’s largest onshore wind farm at Pen-y-Cymoedd and 
a range of opportunities in wind, biomass and waste-to-energy.  

2.33 There is also substantial research and development capacity to support the region’s 
renewable energy potential. The Offshore Renewable Energy (ORE) Catapult has a presence 
at Pembroke Dock and, with several other universities, is engaged in progressing new 
opportunities off the Pembrokeshire Coast. Swansea University’s SPECIFIC Innovation and 
Knowledge Centre has expertise in the capture and storage of solar energy, while the 
University of South Wales’ Hydrogen Centre at Baglan is supporting the experimental 
production of hydrogen energy storage systems.  

2.34 Our energy potential is therefore a key asset to exploit – both for South West Wales and indeed 
the rest of Wales and the UK. The challenge over the next few years will be in realising 
the opportunity, recognising that some technologies remain relatively nascent – and in 
ensuring that the benefits can be captured locally.  A long-term perspective will also be 
important in developing business cases for some of the region’s major energy projects – 

Tudalen 188



17 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

recognising that while they have the potential to be transformational, the full benefits may 
take several years to be realised 

Our business community offers scope for growth  

2.35 We noted earlier the region’s relatively low levels of enterprise density and its relatively low 
start-up rate. But business is central to future economic strategy – put simply, 
employment is either created by existing businesses expanding, new businesses starting up, 
or businesses from elsewhere deciding to locate in the region.  

2.36 Recent years have seen the loss of some larger, externally-based firms (note, for example, 
recent job losses in some of the region’s automotive supply chain). We retain relative 
strengths in manufacturing, food production and hospitality, with evidence of start-up and 
inward investment activity linked with the data science strengths highlighted above29.  
However, the region’s business stock is broadly-based: ‘high growth’ SMEs are quite widely 
distributed across sectors (and across the region)30; ownership models are diverse31; and 
there are opportunities for productivity growth across the sectoral landscape32.  Following 
our analysis of the ‘productivity deficit’ above, the challenge is to strengthen the ‘breadth 
and depth’ of the business base, recognising scope for growth across the economy, 
including (but not just) in those activities at the ‘leading edge’ of technology and 
innovation.  

Environmental quality and ‘sense of place’ are key assets  

2.37 South West Wales’ combination of ‘place-based’ assets is distinctive and rich, including the 
National Parks, the coastline, the sport and leisure offer and a university city offering both 
‘compactness’ and a wide range of metropolitan amenities. 

2.38  Beyond this range of functions and amenities, the region’s distinctive identity forms an 
important part of the offer. There are two aspects to this:  

 First, ‘quality of life’ offer clearly forms part of the proposition to visitors, investors 
and potential new residents, and one which plays a key economic role. There is an 
important balance to be struck between environmental quality and community and 
environmental sustainability. 

Second, the region’s identity relates to the importance of ‘community’, the 
associations that businesses and other institutions have with the places in which 
they are based, and the stake that they have locally. This is harder to pin down in 
conventional economic terms, but relates to the extent to which value and ownership can 

                                                             
29 See the Evidence and Strategic Landscape Review for further examples.  
30 SQW analysis of regional distribution of FastGrowth 50 award winners, 2009-20; Beauhurst 
records of ‘fast growth’ firms in South West Wales  
31 Consultation as part of the development of this Plan. See also Co-operatives Wales 
32 Institute for Government (2021), Productivity: Firing on all cylinders – why restoring growth is a 
matter for every UK sector 

Tudalen 189



18 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

be captured or embedded locally and the challenges in growing the business and 
employment base highlighted above33.  

Looking to the future: Key transformational trends  

2.39 Future strategy will also be influenced by wider ‘transformational’ factors that will impact all 
aspects of economic life. While these apply to all advanced economies, the way in which they 
are addressed and how they interact with our existing economic structure and strengths will 
be fundamental. Three ‘macro trends’ are especially important, relating to decarbonisation,  
digitalisation and demographic change. We consider each in turn below.   

Decarbonising South West Wales 

2.40 As we highlighted in the earlier overview of the policy context, the UK and Welsh 
Governments’ commitment to net zero by 2050 will have an impact on all aspects of policy.  

2.41 In headline terms, Wales has been successful in 
reducing carbon emissions while maintaining 
economic growth: between 1990 and 2018, total 
CO2 emissions fell by 20%, and the country was 
on track to meet its 2020 carbon reduction 
targets34. However, around 85% of the cut in 
emissions came from the power sector35. While 
most other sectors also achieved reductions 
(especially manufacturing), these were 
substantially smaller, and the surface transport 
sector actually generated a net increase. Looking 
to the future and the net zero commitment, the 
Climate Change Committee recommended a 
“leadership driven pathway” requiring far-
reaching action over the next thirty years36.    

2.42 This presents South West Wales with some distinct challenges. Currently, regional carbon 
emissions are much higher than the Wales and UK average. These mostly reflect the role 
of the huge Tata works at Port Talbot, an industrial installation of national significance that 
remains reliant on coal inputs. The challenge for future strategy is enabling the transition 
of the region’s industrial base, while ensuring wider action to decarbonise the 
transport, housing and manufacturing systems – and making sure that South West Wales 

                                                             
3333 This is also at the centre of discussions about the concept and role of the foundational economy. 
See Joe Earle et al (2017), What Wales Can Do: Asset-based policies and the foundational economy 
(CREW/ Foundational Economy) 
34 Climate Change Committee (December 2020), Progress Report: Reducing emissions in Wales 
35 Principally through the decommissioning of the Aberthaw coal-fired power station 
36 Climate Change Committee (December 2020), Advice Report: The path to a net zero Wales 

 
The actions required to achieve the 
targets – including full 
decarbonisation of the power sector, 
full switchover to electric vehicle 
sales, installation of low-carbon 
heating, and decarbonisation of 
manufacturing – go beyond those 
required from the world on average, 
in line with Wales’ responsibility as a 
richer nation with larger historical 
emissions. 

 
Climate Change Committee 

Tudalen 190



19 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

remains competitive with other regions. Our renewable energy potential will play an 
important role in this, which we explain further in Chapter 4.  

Digital transformation  

2.43 ‘Digitalisation’ refers to the transformation of the economy through massively increased use 
of data and the development of digital technologies such as artificial intelligence, machine 
learning and robotics. Digitalisation isn’t about change within a single industry; rather, it is 
about the use of ‘general purpose’ technologies with a wide range of applications across 
industries.  

2.44 Digital transformation is not new: the period since the publication of the last Swansea Bay 
Economic Regeneration Strategy has seen a transformation in the everyday use of new digital 
technologies, and it has been recognised as a key driver of economic strategy for some time. 
Three aspects of the transformational impacts of digitalisation are especially relevant:  

 Disruptive effects on industry: Use of digital technology leads to greater efficiency, with 
firms that have the capacity and capability to invest and adopt more likely to benefit from 
productivity gains and improved competitiveness. But its ‘transformative’ power is in the 
convergence of technologies to drive entirely new industries (wearable devices or 
gaming, for example), which in turn drive applications elsewhere. A consequence is the 
breakdown of traditional industry sectors and markets, leading to a recognition of 
digitalisation as the ‘fourth industrial revolution’.  

 Impacts on the labour market: Estimates of the potential impact of automation on jobs 
vary greatly, although most studies suggest that while new technologies will substitute 
for labour in some sectors, this is likely to be more than offset by job creation37. However, 
technology is changing the way in which work is done, with the potential for positive and 
negative impacts on working conditions; the need and opportunity for job changes over 
the course of the working life; changing demand for skills; and the ability to work 
remotely.  

 Impacts on services, potentially helping to overcome relative remoteness, and including 
the development of new ways of accessing health and care, which in turn impact on the 
development of new goods and services and demand for jobs.  

2.45 Across all of these, the message for future strategy is that responding to digitalisation is not 
just about ensuring the ‘supply’ of new technology and connectivity (although that is 
important). It is also about driving economic demand for new skills and technologies – 
both at the ‘leading edge’ of innovation and throughout the economy.   

                                                             
37 Welsh Government (September 2019), Wales 4.0: Delivering economic transformation for as better 
future of work (Professor Philip Brown’s review of digital innovation for the economy and the future 
of work in Wales), pp.22-26 

Tudalen 191



20 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

Responding to demographic change  

2.46 South West Wales has a growing population. However, the ‘working age’ population has fallen 
slightly over the past decade. Over the next 20 years, the  ‘working age’ population is expected 
to fall by around 1%, representing a net loss of around 4,700 people aged 16-64 over the 
period38.  

2.47 The gradual ageing of the 
population is a long-term trend. 
Key implications for future 
economic strategy include:  

 Changing working lives: The 
concept of ‘working age’ is 
becoming increasingly fluid, 
as people work for longer, and 
more flexibly (although 
individuals’ ability to work for 
longer will depend on job type 
and conditions and the ability 
to adapt to new roles and 
technologies over time).  

 Changes in service demand: 
As the analysis of recent economic performance demonstrates, there has been strong 
growth in employment and output associated with health and social care, as demand 
increases from an ageing population. Changing demographics will support changes in 
wider demand for goods and services as well.  

 Rising dependency ratios: While changing demographics are driven by life expectancies 
and birth rates, they also partly reflect the balance of migration, with gradually falling 
populations in some post-industrial and rural communities, and in-migration, especially 
from older people, along parts of the coast39. This is a gradual process – but retaining and 
attracting younger people also helps to support community resilience and sustainability, 
and itself depends on generating local economic activity and demand.  

Bringing it together: key issues for the Delivery Plan 

2.48 Summarising the ‘state of the region’, our key assets and the long-term ‘macro’ trends that 
will impact across the economy, we can see that:  

                                                             
38 Although note that the picture varies across the region, with a sharp projected fall in the working 
age population in Pembrokeshire, but continued growth in Swansea.  
39 Gerald Holtham (June 2021)), Rejuvenating Wales (Hodge Foundation/ CLEC) 

Figure 2-3: Population change (compound annual 
growth rates) by age group, 2018-38 
 

                                   Source: StatsWales, 2018-based population projections 

Tudalen 192



21 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

 The region’s weaknesses are largely ‘structural’. They are linked with processes of 
long-term industrial change, are shared with many other parts of the UK, and map onto 
the region’s relatively low productivity.  

 Set against this, there has been strong progress in recent years, especially in creating 
new jobs and in driving forward transformational projects. This provides a strong 
foundation on which to build.  

 South West Wales enjoys some distinctive strengths and opportunities – especially 
linked with the region’s renewable energy potential, university - industrial links and its 
quality of life offer. These also have the potential to make a positive impact in relation to 
the long-term environmental, technological and demographic trends.  

 There is a ‘window of opportunity’ to build on and capture some of these strengths. 
Some are still at a relatively early stage (for example, elements of the renewable energy 
opportunity and the potential for industrial decarbonisation), but the technology is 
developing fast, and some other regions will offer fierce competition for investment. 

 We are a very diverse region, with a distinctive balance of urban, rural, national park, 
coastal and industrial assets. But there is substantial commonality across South West 
Wales, and some of our big opportunities have a region-wide footprint. Some also extend 
beyond the region itself, and outward-facing links will be important. 

 ‘Transformational’ growth opportunities need to be balanced with the conditions 
for incremental improvements in business resilience and capacity across the 
regional economy. There are some distinctive opportunities at the ‘leading edge’ – but 
long-term employment resilience and wage growth will depend on the sustainability, 
productivity and expansion of the wider stock of regional SMEs – not just the ‘pioneer’ 
firms.   

2.49 Based on this understanding of our economy and its potential, the next chapter introduces 
our strategic framework, to guide our actions over the next decade.  

Tudalen 193



22 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

3. Our ambitions to 2030 

Building on the evidence base, this chapter introduces our ambitions for the South 
West Wales economy. It explains the changes that we want to see over the next 
decade and introduces the three ‘Missions’ that will guide our shared activity.    

 

From the evidence to a strategic framework… 

3.1 Over the next ten years, we seek to build on the distinctive strengths and opportunities 
identified in the previous chapter to develop a more prosperous and resilient economy. To 
help plan for the future, we have identified three Ambitions (statements about the nature of 
the South West Wales economy that we want to work towards), supporting three Missions 
(priority areas on which our shared Delivery Plan actions will be focused):  

Figure 3-1: Our Ambitions and Missions 

 

Source: SQW 2021 

Unpacking our Ambitions  

3.2 Our three Ambitions are broadly cast. They recognise that achieving sustainable, long-term 
prosperity and the “South West Wales we want” is about more than the pursuit of economic 
growth as a goal for its own sake – and that prosperity will itself be enabled by progress across 
a number of fronts.  

3.3 Our Ambitions seek an economy that is, over the long term, more resilient and sustainable; 
enterprising and ambitious; and balanced and inclusive.  

Tudalen 194



23 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

Table 3-1: Unpacking our Ambitions: The economy we want 
Resilient and sustainable  

 Resilient to technology change and the impacts of digitalisation:  
 Supporting firms in adopting and adapting to new technology 
 Building labour market resilience through the skills system from schools through to adult 

learning 
 Resilient to climate change and decarbonisation:  

 Increasing the resilience of the region’s manufacturing base (including in its (currently) 
relatively carbon-intensive foundation industries) 

 Supporting adaption and adoption throughout the economy (across sectors and through 
the building stock and transport system) 

 Delivering robust digital connectivity to support changing working practices and better 
access to employment. 

 Supporting resilient and more ‘embedded’ firms and supply chains  
 Developing the local business base through access to support, finance, networks and 

procurement 
 Embedding best practice and resilience throughout the supply chain 
 Continuously building management capacity and capability.  

Enterprising and ambitious 

Enterprising and ambitious 
 Ambitious in relation to our long-term energy opportunity 

 Ensuring capacity to drive forward our potential 
 Integrating our natural renewable energy advantages with our university and industrial 

strengths 
 Enterprising in relation to changing market conditions, technology and opportunities 

 Investing in the skills system across the economy and driving demand for higher level and 
technical skills, as well as influencing supply 

 Investing in the commercial property stock – for local businesses scaling up as well as new 
investors 

 Driving new investment, innovation and funding models  
 Developing sustainable alternatives to European funding  
 Promoting the region as a location to invest, work and visit 

Balanced and inclusive 

Balanced and inclusive 
 Balanced between innovation at the leading edge and sustainable growth across the 

economy  
 Developing opportunities for ‘new to the firm’ innovation, as well as R&D and new 

technology and product development 
 Recognising the opportunity for a diverse range of business and ownership models 

 Balanced spatially, across the region 
 Celebrating regional diversity and a wide distribution of opportunity 

 Creating long-term growth, while sustaining and enhancing core environmental and 
community assets 
 Recognising and enhancing the inherent value of the environment to the quality of life and 

quality of place proposition 
 Supporting community ownership of economic assets, where this can support local 

opportunity and generate a sustainable return.  

Tudalen 195



24 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

Realising our Ambitions  

3.4 The Ambitions set out above are extensive, and are consistent with the Wellbeing of Future 
Generations Act. They are also all interlinked: they are not so much ‘themes’ as a vision of how 
we want the economy to evolve. Over the next ten years, all the actions that the South West 
Wales local authorities take in support of regeneration and economic development will 
contribute to achieving them – whether they are delivered at regional scale, or are more 
locally focused.  

3.5 But to deliver our overall goal of a more “resilient and sustainable; enterprising and 
ambitious; and balanced and inclusive” economy, there are clear actions on which we will 
need to focus over the next decade. We have called these our three Missions, which we will 
use to guide delivery. These are:  

 Establishing South West Wales as a UK leader in renewable energy and the development 
of a net zero economy 

 Building a strong, resilient and ‘embedded’ business base 

 Growing and sustaining the experience offer.  

3.6 The following chapters explain each Mission, setting out what we seek to achieve, the 
opportunities, challenges and risks that we need to address, and the solutions and projects 
that we aim to progress. Although we explain each Mission in turn, they should be seen as 
integrated: establishing South West Wales as a UK leader in renewable energy and a net zero 
economy is, for example, a key aspect of the other two Missions.  

Tudalen 196



25 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

4. Mission 1:  A UK leader in renewable energy 
and the net zero economy 

Looking to 2030, we aim to make South West Wales a UK leader in renewable energy. 
That means taking advantage of our natural assets and our industrial and R&D 
capabilities to build an internationally-significant presence in future fuel 
technologies and to drive the decarbonisation of our industrial base and the wider 
economy.   

Figure 4-1: Summary of assets, opportunities, challenges and actions  

 

Understanding the case for the Mission: the core rationale 

4.1 As set out in the evidence base the decarbonisation imperative is global, and in Wales is 
mandated by the UK and Welsh Governments’ net zero commitments and the need to take 
urgent action now. There is a clear overall policy direction, which has been reinforced by the 
emerging suite of strategies at UK Government level ahead of COP26 in autumn 202140 and 
by the renewed and re-emphasised climate change focus of the Welsh Government. With a 
clear and compelling direction of travel, there is an opportunity for South West Wales to 
capitalise on its renewable energy assets and ensure that it is on the ‘front foot’ in adapting to 
change.  

Delivering the region’s low-carbon energy projects at scale 

4.2 In South West Wales, our potential is clearly articulated, and is linked with both our natural 
environmental assets and infrastructure and skills base resulting from our long history in 
energy-related activity. The range of existing and emerging projects and assets is extensive, 
as illustrated in Figure 4-2: 

                                                             
40 For example, the new UK Hydrogen Strategy (August 2021) 

Tudalen 197



26 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

Figure 4-2: Key energy assets  

 
Source: Produced by SQW 2021. Licence 100030994 Contains OS data © Crown copyright [and database right] [2020] 

4.3 Key renewable energy assets include the combination of marine energy activity associated 
with Pembroke Dock Marine and the proposed tidal, wind and potentially solar energy 
scheme at Dragon Energy Island in Swansea Bay. They also include a range of onshore wind 
and waste-from-energy schemes across the region, and a potential nuclear fusion prototype 
scheme in Pembrokeshire. The Hydrogen Centre at Baglan focuses on experimental 
development of renewable hydrogen production and storage, as well as R&D in hydrogen 
vehicles, fuel cell applications and energy systems. The  Flexible Integrated Energy Systems 
(FLEXIS) project is delivering a smart energy demonstration zone in Port Talbot, focused on 
local energy systems, heat recovery and the adoption of low emission vehicles.  

4.4 However, while the scale of activity is substantial, there is a risk that the potential may not be 
fully realised, for three reasons:  

 Technologies are, in some cases, at a relatively early stage. They are also complex, 
and in many cases will require long-term funding, commercially or from Government. 
Some of this will need to come forward in conditions of some uncertainty: for example, 
the Welsh Government’s Hydrogen Pathway notes that “there is uncertainty regarding the 
exact role hydrogen will have in supporting decarbonisation in Wales…. [but despite this], 
there is still an urgent need to take the first steps to develop the skills, expertise and supply 
chain for hydrogen scale-up in Wales”41.  

                                                             
41 Welsh Government (January 2021), Hydrogen in Wales: A pathway and next steps for developing the 
hydrogen energy sector in Wales, (consultation document), p,11 

Tudalen 198



27 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

 Competing areas and technologies may move faster within this dynamic technology 
environment. South West Wales has distinctive assets – but if additional capacity and 
investment is directed elsewhere, some of these advantages could diminish. 

 Local benefits are not automatically captured through the energy generation 
process. The good news is that there is a solid R&D base in South West Wales to capitalise 
on the opportunity (see, for example, the Hydrogen Centre referred to above; Swansea 
University’s SPECIFIC Centre), as well as schemes (such as the Marine Energy Engineering 
Centre for Excellence project at Pembroke Dock) to build supply chain opportunities with 
SMEs. It will be important that these are driven hard, to ensure that the region benefits 
from the added value of renewable energy investment.  

4.5 Delivering the region’s renewable energy opportunities at scale – and ensuring that they are 
integrated with wider policy and maximise local benefits for local businesses and 
communities will be central to regional strategy over the coming years:  

Key action areas 

 We will build capacity and expertise to maximise South West Wales’ renewable 
energy and net zero potential.  

There are several public bodies with knowledge and expertise, including (for example) 
the Welsh Government Energy Service and Marine Energy Wales, as well as UK 
Government agencies such as the ORE Catapult. But the agenda is complex: 
establishing a regional ‘decarbonisation system’ could help to address region-wide 
goals (including in relation to skills and infrastructure) and coordinate investment 
priorities beyond the delivery of specific initiatives.  

 We will seek to secure new investment in renewable energy infrastructure 

Linked with the capacity building described above, we will work with the Welsh and 
UK Governments and with the private sector to make the case for investment in 
‘nationally significant’ schemes such as Dragon Energy Island and the Pembrokeshire 
marine proposition, as well as smaller-scale schemes, including on public land.  

 We will work to deliver the Regional Energy Strategy 

The Regional Energy Strategy has been developed in parallel with this Plan and will be 
published in 2021. We will work to take forward pilot and successor Local Energy 
System projects (such as the pilot currently underway at Milford Haven Energy 
Kingdom), and we will seek to link the energy system objectives of the Energy Strategy 
with opportunities for local business engagement and supply chain development.  

 

Tudalen 199



28 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

Decarbonising our industrial base 

4.6 The high carbon intensity of some of South West Wales’ industrial activity is a vulnerability: 
while the region’s relatively high carbon emissions in the data is largely caused by the steel 
industry, oil and gas are also important to the region, as well as our large manufacturing base.  

4.7 Work is currently underway to develop a programme for industrial decarbonisation through 
the South Wales Industrial Cluster (SWIC) initiative, funded by UK Research and 
Innovation and including several energy and heavy industrial firms in South West Wales 
(including Tata, Valero and RWE, the operator of the Pembroke refinery)42. The focus of the 
programme is on the production and use of hydrogen and on mechanisms to secure large-
scale industrial decarbonisation through ‘fuel switching’: as with some of the initiatives 
discussed above, the proposition is in its relatively early days, although achieving large-scale 
change will be important for the region’s future competitiveness. More broadly, there is an 
opportunity to attract additional investment into the region, beyond the decarbonisation of 
the existing stock: ‘transformational’ projects such as the forthcoming Global Centre for Rail 
Excellence provide examples of investments supported with public funds, but the existing 
combination of energy-related activity will be an important factor in attracting new business 
locations. 

4.8 Building on the region’s growing presence in renewable energy and the current focus on 
industrial decarbonisation:  

Key action areas 

 We will progress the opportunity presented by SWIC and seek to secure future 
investment to support the region’s future industrial competitiveness 

As with other aspects of the low carbon agenda, technology is developing rapidly and 
the scale of investment in demonstration projects and initiatives such as SWIC is 
substantial. Through our increased capacity to drive forward the decarbonisation 
agenda, we will seek to secure sequential investment, working with the UK and Welsh 
Governments as appropriate.  

 We will grow the wider low carbon industrial base and promote the region’s 
potential to new investors 

Linked with actions to promote the region as an investment destination, we will 
highlight our potential to new investors (including our university presence, skills base 
and access to sites and premises) and will press forward major proposed investments 
such as the GCRE.  

 

                                                             
42 https://www.swic.cymru/news  

Tudalen 200



29 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

Decarbonising the wider economy  

4.9 Decarbonisation will extend beyond the industrial base, and will impact on housing and 
domestic heating, non-domestic properties and the transport network. Much is already 
underway:  

 In relation to the housing stock, Pobl Housing is leading one of the UK’s largest 
community-based retrofit, energy generation and smart energy management projects at 
Penderry, Swansea, the outcomes of which will inform the larger, City Deal-funded Homes 
as Power Stations scheme.  

 In relation to transport, all the local authorities are engaged in programmes of fleet 
decarbonisation, and the Swansea Bay and South West Wales Metro will be at the core 
of the region’s lower carbon, more sustainable transport system. 

 In relation to re-using and preventing waste, Wales already has some of the world’s 
highest municipal recycling rates – with all South West Wales authorities (and Wales as a 
whole) experiencing a rapid increase in recycling rates over the past twenty years43. 

4.10 Linked with the Regional Energy Strategy, over the coming years:  

Key action areas 

 Building on existing schemes, we will progress the decarbonisation of the 
housing and business stock 

From an economic development perspective – and our wider ambitions to secure a 
more ‘embedded and resilient’ business base, this should provide opportunities for 
local supply chain development and community-based employment solutions (as well 
as, in some cases, local community ownership). 

 We will press forward the development of Swansea Bay and South West Wales 
Metro 

As well as the Metro itself, this will lead to a better integrated and more sustainable 
transport network through the incorporation of bus and active travel services and the 
development of opportunities to work and access services closer to home.  

 We will work to achieve a circular economy  

Building on our performance in reducing waste and transforming recycling rates, there 
are opportunities to increase re-use of goods and materials offering potential for 
community-based solutions to increase repair and the use of technology to increase the 
scope for re-use of materials and reduced food waste. 

                                                             
43 Welsh Government (2019), Beyond Recycling: A strategy to make the circular economy in Wales a 
reality; StatsWales (2021), Combined municipal re-use, recycling and composting rates 

Tudalen 201



30 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

5. Mission 2: Building a strong, resilient and 
embedded business base 

Business is at the centre of our strategy to 2030: it will be through the expansion of 
existing firms and the start up and attraction of new ones that new employment will 
be generated and productivity growth secured. That means supporting sustainable 
business growth– both at the ‘leading edge’ of technology and innovation and across 
the economy. 

 

Figure 5-1: Summary of assets, opportunities, challenges and actions 

 

Understanding the case for the Mission: the core rationale 

5.1 The review of the evidence in Chapter 2 highlighted positive employment outcomes in recent 
years, growth in the business stock, and a strong record in translational research activities 
between the university knowledge base and industry.  

5.2 However, the economy remains to some extent in a process of ‘restructuring’, away from 
traditional strengths in parts of the manufacturing sector and towards growth in areas such 
as information and communications and health care (as well as in activities linked with the 
growing energy sector highlighted in Mission 1).  Changing trading relationships also present 
challenges (notably, but not only, in agriculture and food production), some of which have yet 
to fully work through)44.  

5.3 This transition will bring opportunities within those sectors that are growing – and as 
highlighted earlier, opportunities for growth and productivity gain are cross-sectoral. 
However:  

                                                             
44 Janet Dwyer (2018), The implications of Brexit for agriculture, land use and rural areas in Wales 
(Wales Centre for Public Policy) 

Tudalen 202



31 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

 Even where job losses in one industry are replaced with jobs in another, there is the risk 
that they may not generate the same level of output (and therefore command the same 
pay).  

 The wider economy of South West Wales has a relatively narrow business base: business 
density is relatively low, and there are few indigenous large or larger medium-sized 
businesses. However, the prospect of inward investment at scale has reduced over the 
past twenty years. The risk is that as the economy evolves, losses may not be fully offset 
by gains, and the ‘productivity gap’ remains or widens.  

5.4 In response, our Mission to create a “strong, resilient and embedded business base” seeks 
to encourage a continued focus on innovation and the growth of capabilities at the ‘leading 
edge’, balanced with an approach aimed at achieving greater resilience, growth potential and 
capacity for sustained employment across the region’s wider business base, linked with the 
decarbonisation imperative in Mission 1. 

Growing the innovative edge and accelerating diffusion  

5.5 Innovation policy in Wales is at a point of transition, as the European funding that has 
sustained several major programmes (including the ‘core’ SMART programmes delivered via 
the Welsh Government45 and the wide range of sector or thematic schemes (such as, in South 
West Wales, ASTUTE and RICE46) come to an end; and the range of actors involved in 
innovation policy (including, potentially, a more active role for UK Government), increases.  

5.6 At the same time, there is a consensus, highlighted 
in a recent review for the Welsh Government,  that 
the role of innovation policy has evolved, to be 
less narrowly focused on technology, and more 
embracing of actions focused on addressing social 
challenges (perhaps especially important given 
the growth of the health and care sector and the 
long-term demographic challenges highlighted in Chapter 2) and the impact of climate 
change47. The review also emphasises a need to further develop translational research 
activities and to link innovation support activity more clearly with the range of finance, 
advisory, networking and other programmes that contribute to a successful innovation 
‘ecosystem’.   

                                                             
45 SMART Innovation (advice and support to business); SMART Cymru (financial assistance to 
business); and SMART Expertise (financial support to higher education). 
46 Reducing Industrial Carbon Emissions (RICE) is led by University of South Wales and Swansea 
University and works with Welsh supply chain companies to test how CO2 produced from heavy 
industrial processes can be used to make high value products and industrial chemicals. 
47 See Kevin Morgan, Dylan Henderson and Rick Delbridge (May 2021), Scoping the future of 
innovation policy in Wales (Cardiff University, Centre for Innovation Policy Research) 

 
Today, innovation is about so much 
more than science and technology 

 
Future of Innovation Policy report 

Tudalen 203



32 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

5.7 It will be important that regional activity in South West Wales adds value to and aligns with 
evolving Welsh national policy (and the wide range of programmes and institutions at UK 
level). Over the next few years:  

Key action areas 

 We will explore a better-integrated regional innovation offer, in the form of a 
‘virtual Research and Technology Organisation’ for South West Wales 

The universities are key regional assets and have a strong history of translational 
research with industry. However, the wider landscape is somewhat fragmented, and 
may become increasingly so as current programmes come to an end. We aim to 
achieve a model where there is “no wrong door”, making the most of our university 
capabilities and enabling them to meet industry need. This could extend across a 
range of sectors and technologies, linked with (for example) future plans for the 
development of the research and development offer linked with Pentre Awel at 
Llanelli, and the close involvement of University of Wales Trinity St David and the 
development of Yr Egin and its associated creative cluster. It may also embrace wider 
innovation capabilities, including support in management skills and capacity and 
(linked with our wider approach to regional skills development) access to talent to 
enable innovative SMEs to reach their potential.  

There may be several options in taking this proposal forward – but the key point is 
that we maximise the value of our shared assets to deliver a joined-up service across 
government, higher education and the private sector.  

Growing productivity and resilience across the economy 

5.8 Across the wider business stock, there have been changes in the support landscape since the 
last Regeneration Strategy was produced. Nationally, Business Wales provides a central 
gateway to a range of support products, and since 2017, the Development Bank of Wales has 
consolidated publicly-backed loan and equity support into an ‘arms-length’ and widely-
recognised vehicle. In addition, the Welsh Government provides some direct investment 
(generally in relation to larger, often manufacturing firms), and all the South West Wales local 
authorities offer support services (in addition to the often university-linked innovation 
services highlighted above).  

5.9 A recent review of the Welsh business support landscape highlighted three challenges, which 
are relevant to the strategy set out in this Plan48: 

 First, Wales’ relative vulnerability to economic shocks: a function of the continuing 
process of restructuring highlighted in the evidence base. This has contributed to the 

                                                             
48 Jack Watkin (February 2021), A Better Balance: Business support policy for the foundational 
economy (CREW/ Institute of Welsh Affairs) 

Tudalen 204



33 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

more recent policy focus on indigenous business growth. However, while economic 
‘shocks’ are often seen through large ‘one-off’ events (plant closures, redundancy 
programmes, and so on), economy-wide technology-driven transformation is larger in its 
overall impact, and the ability to adapt and respond will be important across firm sizes 
and sectors. 

 Second, the scale of the support offer, and the relatively small number of firms that it 
reaches (the inference being that there is a much wider range of SMEs that could benefit 
from interaction with the support system, were the reach to be greater). 

 Third, dissemination of benefits, in particular the extent to which gains in business 
performance are captured in wages and tax and in which benefits to the supply chain 
accrue regionally. The Welsh Government has placed a greater emphasis on this in recent 
years, through the development of the ‘economic contract’ proposed in the Economic 
Action Plan 

5.10 Over the coming years, we want to create a better integrated system across local and national 
government, within which a strengthened ‘support’ offer is linked with the supply of skills 
and premises, the role of the public sector as a purchaser and commissioner within the local 
economy and in ensuring that there is widespread access to fair and sustainable work: 

Key action areas 

 We will seek a better co-ordinated support package for business 

The scope of this, and the interaction between delivery at different geographical 
levels, will need to be explored. But the proposition is that there is a need to drive 
business density, start-up rates and entrepreneurship, and resilience and 
‘adaptability’ to change across the SME base – recognising that ‘enterprise’ embraces a 
range of organisational types and ownership models49. 

 We will link this with public sector purchasing power 

Recently, there has been a focus on the role that public procurement can play in 
supporting local economic growth. This has been reflected in the Welsh Government’s 
review of procurement, which has explored the concepts of ‘community wealth-
building and the ‘anchor institutions’ in the procurement process50, and the South 
West Wales local authorities are all committed to the proactive and progressive use of 
procurement. The aim here is to ensure that local SMEs are able to successfully tender 
for work (linked with the business support offer above), and to use this as a 
springboard for future growth. 

                                                             
49 Including social enterprises, employee-owned businesses, and so on.  
50 Welsh Government (2020), Progress towards the development of a new procurement landscape in 
Wales 

Tudalen 205



34 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

Key action areas 

 We will invest in bringing forward access to sites and premises  

The evidence shows that there is a persistent market failure in the delivery of 
commercial property. This has the effect of blocking the expansion of local SMEs (as 
well as presenting a barrier to attracting larger investors). Across the local authorities 
and Welsh Government, we will seek to bring forward development on the region’s 
key strategic sites at Baglan, Port Talbot Waterfront, Fabian Way, Felindre, Cross 
Hands and the Haven Waterway, as well as within the wide range of smaller sites that 
will help to support distributed growth across the region, consistent with our wider 
decarbonisation objectives. We will also work to bring forward new city centre office 
accommodation in Swansea city centre, building on recent investment and continuing 
the city’s transformation. 

 We will actively promote South West Wales as an investment location 

While the focus of this Mission is on growing our locally-based business stock, inward 
investment has historically been important in South West Wales, and it remains a key 
driver of skills and employment and a source of demand for local suppliers. We 
welcome new investment: we will actively promote the region’s assets (linked with its 
quality of life and visitor economy offer described in Mission 3) and we will work with 
investors to ensure access to skills and supply chain links, embedding them further in 
the local economy.  

 We will continue to invest in the region’s skills capacity  

Recent years have seen an improvement in the region’s skills profile, and we have a 
strong track record in building an understanding of employer demand and linking it 
clearly with provision. Alongside the measures within this Plan to increase skills 
demand and employer engagement, we will continue to invest in strengthening supply 
at all levels, through specialist infrastructure, investment in access to employment 
and a continued focus (building on the region’s Skills and Talent Programme) on 
responding to local economic demand and opportunity.  

 Across all our actions, we will improve access to fair and secure employment 

Despite the region’s success in creating jobs, economic inactivity remains higher than 
in the rest of the UK. While in-work poverty is a significant issue  - and one which our 
focus on productivity and resilience across all sectors seeks to tackle – there is strong 
evidence that being in work supports positive outcomes across a  range of measures51. 
Building on our experience of successful programmes such as Workways+, we will 
ensure a range of support to enable people to enter and progress in the labour market. 

                                                             
51 Welsh Government (2019), Employability Plan, p,9 

Tudalen 206



35 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

6. Mission 3: Growing and sustaining the South 
West Wales ‘experience’ offer  

South West Wales enjoys a superb environment and a unique ‘quality of life’ offer. 
This is a key asset for the region, and one which we must protect and enhance. We 
will make South West Wales known for the quality and breadth of its ‘experience 
offer’, bringing together urban and rural environmental quality, ‘quality of life’ and 
culture. This will support a high-value visitor economy – but it will also be locally 
owned and a central part of our investment proposition. 

Figure 6-1: Summary of assets, opportunities, challenges and actions 

 

Understanding the case for the Mission: the core rationale 

6.1 South West Wales’ ‘experience offer’ is a key strength. It is also multifaceted and interlinked: 
while it includes the region’s substantial visitor economy, it recognises that the visitor 
economy is itself dependent on the quality of the region’s cultural and environmental offer. 
At a national level, this is reflected with the statement of ‘Wales’ core offer’ within the Welsh 
Government’s Priorities for the Visitor economy (set out in Figure 6-2). This highlights the 
importance of ‘sense of place’ within the Welsh offer, with the visitor economy helping to act 
as a showcase for local food and drink and celebrating the Welsh language as a central part of 
local and national identity52.  

6.2 In South West Wales, the range of experiences the region has to offer is diverse and 
impressive. It is this diversity that provides much of the region’s distinctiveness: the 
proximity of the university city of Swansea to the beaches of the Gower for instance, or the 
region’s range of landscape types (including the Pembrokeshire Coast and  Brecon Beacons 
National Parks) and network of smaller rural towns. This also makes the region attractive as 
a place to live, and ought to be a central part of the region’s investment proposition. This 

                                                             
52 Welsh Government (January 2020), Welcome to Wales: Priorities for the visitor economy, 2020-25, 
p.9.  

Tudalen 207



36 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

Mission focuses on investment in the ‘experience economy’ and how we can promote it to 
new and diverse audiences.   

Figure 6-2: The Welsh ‘core offer’ to visitors 

 

 
Source: Welsh Government (2020), Welcome to Wales: Priorities for the visitor economy, 2020-25 

Investing in our experience economy  

6.3 The ‘good news’ is that several visitor economy trends coincide with some of South West 
Wales’ inherent strengths: in particular, the increased interest in sustainability, green tourism 
and nature and a desire for ‘authentic’ experiences. These, and the inherent value of local 
communities and identity, form part of the wellbeing ‘offer’ to residents as well. However, 
with the exception of Swansea, all parts of the region are forecast to see falling working age 
populations over the next twenty years. New employment opportunities should help to 
reverse this – but there is also an opportunity through the acceleration of remote working 
and increasing flexibility to retain more of our young people and university graduates, and to 
attract a wider demographic to the region.  

6.4 Over the next decade, this will mean investment focused both on the quality of the visitor offer 
and the appeal of South West Wales as a place to live and work – recognising that these are 
inherently interconnected:  

Key action areas 

 We will invest in the region’s ‘experience infrastructure’ 

We will seek to broaden the range of attractions and opportunities across the region, 
especially where they contribute to an increasingly sustainable offer, linked with the 
region’s heritage (including in relation to local food and drink produce), culture and 
natural environment. This will include ensuring that the delivery of key national 

Tudalen 208



37 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

Key action areas 

initiatives (such as the proposed National Forest) contribute to our wider economic 
ambitions.  

 We will invest in our city, town and community centres 

Our towns and cities are the gateways to our region, and the focal points for 
community, commercial and civic life. Much investment has taken place and much is 
underway – with (for example) the Swansea Arena and its bridge link to the city 
centre opening in 2021, creating a further milestone in the city’s regeneration. 
However, there is more to do: across the region, many of our town and community 
centres have been impacted by structural change in the retail sector – with the 
process of repurposing requiring complex action on a number of fronts.  

Building on our experience of working together across the region, and in the spirit of 
the Welsh Government’s Transforming Towns initiative, we will prioritise further 
investment in our town and city centres, ensuring that they are sustainable focal 
points for the long term.  

 We will make the ‘experience economy’ work for everyone 

Not all parts of the region benefit from the excellent quality of life that the region has 
to offer – and in some places, our ability to retain and attract younger people is 
impacted by deteriorating housing affordability (an issue which has the potential to 
worsen further in an economy increasingly characterised by remote working). Linked 
with our decarbonisation and net zero objectives, we will continue to invest in 
affordable housing solutions and long-term community renewal.  

Promoting the region  

6.5 The quality of South West Wales’ assets present an opportunity to better promote the region 
– to visitors and investors and to raise the region’s profile on the wider stage. This should 
extend to encompass the renewable energy potential and industrial opportunities highlighted 
earlier: the region’s future in a greener economy (and the opportunities that presents) 
combining with its cultural and environmental quality:  

Key action areas 

 We will take a more coordinated approach to promoting the South West Wales 
opportunity 

Recognising that each part of the region has a distinct identity and ‘brand’, we will 
work to ensure coordination across the visitor, education, local produce and investor 

Tudalen 209



38 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

Key action areas 

marketing channels to ensure that South West Wales has a clearer ‘external’ profile 
and a complementary offer.  

 We will invest in quality 

Welcome to Wales, the Welsh Government’s strategy for the visitor economy, places a 
strong emphasis on quality of the whole experience offer – accommodation, food and 
drink, the public realm, environment, and so on – as the route to a higher-value, more 
sustainable economic base. Across all of the actions above, we will invest – with 
business – in quality and excellence. 

Tudalen 210



39 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

7. Moving forward: Delivering the Plan 

This Plan provides a framework for taking forward the priorities that we have 
identified in our Ambitions and Missions over the long term. Delivery will depend on 
a range of investment sources and the coordination over time of specific projects 
which combine to deliver our objectives. This chapter explains our approach to 
funding and delivery, and how we will prioritise and monitor our progress.  

 

From a framework to a pipeline of complementary projects…  

7.1 This Plan takes a long-term view. Recognising that new opportunities will emerge over time, 
it is intended to be flexible, with specific actions described at a relatively high level.  

7.2 To convert these into practical interventions, we have prepared a project pipeline. This sets 
out a schedule of interventions, describing how they contribute to our Ambitions and 
Missions, their current development status and the actions that need to be taken to bring them 
forward. This will be kept ‘live’ and will be regularly reviewed by regional partners. This will 
enable new interventions to come forward where opportunities arise (for example, 
commercial proposals may lead to propositions that have not yet been identified), and for 
project information to be updated as schemes progress.  

7.3 The projects within the pipeline are at different stages of development. Consistent with the 
approach used by HM Treasury and the Welsh Government (and adopted by the City Deal), 
projects will be brought forward through the business case process set out in the ‘Green Book’ 
appraisal guide. In summary, this means that projects will be considered against the following 
headings:  

Table 7-1: Project business case considerations 
Consideration Description  

Strategic fit  How strong is the evidence of economic demand or need?  
 Does the project add ‘net regional value’ (i.e., is it additional to 

activity already taking place in the region, and if there is any 
duplication, is this mitigated?) 

 Does the project contribute to the overall strategic framework 
(i.e., will it support delivery of an economy that is “resilient and 
sustainable; balanced and inclusive; and enterprising and 
ambitious”?  

Options appraisal  Have a range of options been considered, and is there a clear 
case for the preferred option?  

Value for money  Does the project represent good value, in terms of the outputs 
and outcomes it will achieve, relative to anticipated public costs?  

Tudalen 211



40 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

Consideration Description  

Affordability  Does funding for the project exist, and/ or is there a clear route 
to funding?  

 Is the funding model compliant with Subsidy Control and other 
regulations? 

Deliverability  Have procurement options been considered and is there a clear 
route to successful procurement?  

 Are governance and management arrangements in place, and is 
there sufficient delivery capacity?  

Source: SQW 

It will be important that the action plan is seen as a dynamic document and that it is regularly 

updated by partners. In broad terms, projects include:  

 Region-wide initiatives to build capacity to take advantage of the opportunities 
identified in the Plan. These are highlighted within each Mission, and include:  

 Building capacity and expertise to maximise South West Wales’ ‘net zero’ potential 

 The creation of a ‘virtual innovation agency’ to coordinate and galvanise links 
between industry and the knowledge base, especially as European funding comes to 
an end 

 Support at scale for enterprise and entrepreneurship 

 Public investment in the commercial property offer, to enable investment, business 
growth and greater environmental sustainability 

 Delivering a coordinated approach to investment marketing and support, linked with 
the ‘experience’ economy.  

 High profile strategic capital investments, such as the Swansea Bay and South West 
Metro 

7.4 Major local projects contributing to the overall objectives and Missions. Not all will directly 
benefit all parts of the region. However, in aggregate they will offer substantial regional 
benefit. 

Funding the Plan: A longer-term investment fund 

7.5 Funding to take forward the Regional Economic Delivery Plan and its component projects will 
come from multiple sources, and some individual funding packages are likely to be complex. 
At the time of writing, there is some uncertainty regarding future funding, as European 
sources (historically an important part of the funding mix in South West Wales) draw to a 
close. However, potential sources may include:  

 Private investment, especially in bringing forward some of the energy related investments 
set out in relation to Mission 1, and in respect of major regeneration and development 
schemes 

Tudalen 212



41 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

 The proposed Shared Prosperity Fund (or alternative successors to the European 
Structural Funds) 

 Joint investment across the local authorities, or between the local authorities and the 
Welsh Government 

 UK Government funds (such as the Strength in Places Fund and the Levelling Up Fund). 

 

Key action areas 

 We will seek to secure a devolved regional Investment Fund 

The nature of the funding sources identified above will change over time. However, given the 

scale of the opportunity (and the regional challenge) in South West Wales, we will seek to 

secure a devolved regional investment fund, which would offer the region the ability to lever 

in additional funding and bring projects forward on a flexible basis. Such a fund could be 

structured to give a partial financial return on investment, as well as an economic and social 

return, depending on the nature of the project. This would require investment expertise and 

capacity, but could lead to the development of a regional portfolio of projects, derived from the 

emerging project pipeline and building on the successful implementation of the existing City 

Deal. Currently, the projects within the pipeline have a total value of around £3 billion over the 

coming decade: while costs will be determined through the business case process, this 

provides an indication of the scale of the challenge and opportunity ahead.  

 

Monitoring progress 

7.6 Our proposed projects are all currently at different stages of development. Through the 
business case process, we will set out a series of performance indicators against which 
progress can be monitored. These are likely to include:  

Table 7-2: Indicative performance measures 
Indicator Description 

Private investment Additional private investment secured in the region as a result of 
public support through the REDP 

Gross value added Estimated additional GVA generated as a result of investment 

Firm creation and survival New business starts as a result of REDP-backed activity and survival 
rates over time 

Jobs Jobs created and safeguarded as a result of investment. The REDP 
emphasises the quality of jobs (in line with the Economic Contract) 
and this should be reflected in the performance measure (e.g., 
employment at or above Real Living Wage and sustained over time). 

Tudalen 213



42 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

Indicator Description 

Access to employment People entering employment (or increasing hours) as a result of 
intervention 

Innovation Research and development into new products, goods and services as 
a result of intervention.  
Adoption of ‘new to the firm’ products or processes as a result of 
intervention 

Carbon reductions CO2 savings as a result of investment 

Modal shift Increased journeys on public transport/ increased use of active 
travel as a result of investment. 

Visitor spend Increased visitor spend as a result of investment 
Source: SQW 

Governance 

7.7 The Regional Economic Delivery Plan will be ‘owned’ and overseen by the South West Wales 
Corporate Joint Committee (CJC). This will be one of four CJCs established in Wales under 
new legislation, enabling the constituent local authorities to exercise joint functions relating 
to strategic planning, transport and measures that will improve the economic wellbeing of 
their regions.  

7.8 Supporting the CJC, the Regional Regeneration Directors will keep track of progress and will 
be responsible for developing business cases, securing investment and ensuring delivery on 
the CJC’s behalf. It will be important to secure sufficient capacity – within individual partner 
authorities and jointly – to do this, given the scale of the opportunities and challenges. The 
CJC will also establish mechanisms for a strong non-government voice (e.g., from business and 
the third sector) in influencing priorities and maintaining oversight.  

Tudalen 214



A-1 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

Annex A: Summary SWOT analysis  

A.1 The Evidence and Strategic Landscape Review prepared to inform this Plan contained an 
analysis of the region’s strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats. This formed the 
basis for the analysis within Chapter 2 of the Plan, and is summarised below:  

Table A-1: Summary SWOT analysis 
Strengths Weaknesses 

 Nationally and internationally significant 
university research assets, with a strong 
record of industrial collaboration in the 
region and recent and planned investment 
in new university facilities 

 Outstanding natural environment, 
supporting quality of life and a distinctive 
location proposition for visitors and 
investors 

 Relatively strong record in job generation 
and in increasing economic activity 

 Some established sectoral strengths (e.g., 
engineering and advanced manufacturing; 
food production) 

 Some major site development opportunities 
 Growing and diverse SME base 
 Community strengths and capacity and 

strong sense of identity 

 Projected decline in working age population 
and rising dependency ratio 

 Relatively low productivity, reflected in 
relatively low wages 

 Relative peripherality, leading to weak 
transport and digital connections in some 
places, and viability constraints on physical 
developments  

 Few large firms and company headquarters 
 Some constraints on firm expansion, linked 

with workforce skills shortfalls (although 
qualifications levels are rising) and limited 
commercial property options  

 Market change impacting on viability and 
vitality of town and city centres 

 Persistent concentrations of disadvantage 

Opportunities Threats 

 Talent pool generated by the region’s 
universities and further education system; 
opportunity to retain and grow the skilled 
workforce and business stock 

 Opportunities for growth in areas of activity 
relevant to the region’s historic strengths 
(e.g., advanced manufacturing) and in 
current research and technology 
capabilities 

 Opportunity for location-specific growth in 
the energy sector and in decarbonisation 
more broadly 

 Distance might become less important as 
remote working becomes ‘normal’ 
(potentially increasing the appeal of SW 
Wales’ quality of life offer and helping to 
change perceptions 

 Closeness to the natural environment and 
ability to offer unique sporting, cultural and 
environmental offer – helping to retain and 
attract young and talented people 

 High carbon intensity of part of the 
industrial base 

 Risk of loss of major employers, with 
potentially significant labour and spatial 
impacts  

 Risk of outflow of talent and of younger 
workers, if there are insufficient 
opportunities locally  

 Wider Brexit-related uncertainties relating 
to export markets, port-related activity and 
future farm payments 

 Impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic, 
including higher unemployment as 
mitigation measures wind down and 
accelerate changes in the role of High 
Street/ town centre functions  

 Risk that existing inequalities could be 
exacerbated.  

Tudalen 215



A-2 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

Strengths Weaknesses 

 Opportunities to build on a track record of 
collaboration between the public sector, 
academia and industry 

 Potentially significant infrastructure 
investments (e.g., Swansea Bay Metro) 

 Economic policy innovation in Welsh policy 
context 

 Major site opportunities (e.g., Baglan 
Energy Park) and ambitious plans for 
investment and development, including as 
part of Swansea Bay City Deal 

 Opportunities for business innovation 
Source: SQW 

Tudalen 216



B-1 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

Annex B: Well-being of Future Generations Act 
assessment  

Contribution to the Well-being Goals 

B.1 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (WFGA) identifies seven Well-being 
Goals: a Prosperous Wales; a Resilient Wales; a Healthier Wales; a More Equal Wales; a Wales 
of Cohesive Communities; a Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language; and a 
Globally Responsible Wales. Guidance on the application of the WFGA states that policy 
should seek to contribute to all seven Well-being Goals, not just the one that most closely 
approximates to the central purpose of the initiative.  

B.2 The table below summaries how this Plan contributes to the Well-being Goals:  

Table B-1: Contribution of the REDP to the Well-being Goals 
Goal Contribution 

A Prosperous Wales Direct contribution 
The Plan contributes to increasing productivity and economic growth, to 
support the creation and safeguarding of more, better paid jobs, 
opportunities for business starts and growth, and further links between 
the knowledge base and industry. 

A Resilient Wales Direct contribution 
The Plan places an increased emphasis on economic sustainability 
through focus on the need to decarbonise the economy; resilience to 
future technology change through emphasis on responding to and 
harnessing digitalisation 

A Healthier Wales Indirect contribution 
The Plan is not directly concerned with health matters. However, greater 
prosperity (especially where more equally distributed) leads to better 
health outcomes. The Plan also notes the importance of the health and 
care sector and the opportunity to link it with economic growth. 

A More Equal Wales Direct contribution 
The Plan recognises the need to build an ‘inclusive growth’ model into the 
strategy, via efforts to support skills outcomes, resilience to automation, 
or mechanisms to support greater wealth retention within the 
community 

A Wales of Cohesive 
Communities 

Indirect contribution  
Better economic inclusion outcomes should improve cohesion, where 
linked with programmes and mechanisms that focus on local community 
involvement and engagement. 

A Wales of Vibrant 
Culture and Thriving 
Welsh Language 

Indirect contribution 
Measures to support the growth of the creative economy (including 
associated with the Welsh language) should directly support, and could 
be an important part of the SW Wales investment proposition. More 

Tudalen 217



B-2 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

Goal Contribution 

broadly, the Plan seeks to support the economic vibrancy of the region, 
including principally Welsh-speaking communities.  

A Globally 
Responsible Wales 

Indirect contribution 
Achieving over time a decarbonised growth model will contribute to this 
The Plan also highlights openness to new ideas (and investment) from 
elsewhere 

 

Delivering against the National Well-being Indicators 

B.3 The Welsh Government has adopted 46 National Indicators, against which progress against 
the goals of the Well-being of Future Generations Act can be measured. As set out in the core 
of the REDP, while increasing productivity (gross value added per filled job, or hour worked) 
is an important measure, success will be measured against a number of other indicators as 
well. The key relevant indicators are listed below (with the number against each one 
corresponding to the indicator number published in the Welsh Government list), along with 
a description of how the Ambitions and Missions in the Plan are likely to contribute to their 
achievement:  

Table B-2: Assessment of contribution to meeting the National Well-being Indicators 
Indicator Route to impact: Enabled through… 

04. Levels of nitrogen dioxide 
pollution in the air 

Large scale decarbonisation (Mission 1) 

08. Percentage with adults with 
qualifications at different levels of 
the National Qualifications 
Framework 

Measures to raise the supply of workforce skills, and 
improved engagement with employers, over time (across 
all Missions) 
Measures to raise demand for skills (across all Missions, 
but especially relevant to Missions 2 and 1) 

09. Gross value added per hour 
worked relative to UK average 

All Missions. This is a measure of productivity, which the 
Plan overall seeks to address. Note however that ‘success’ 
in achieving a relative measure in respect of the rest of the 
UK depends on the pace of growth elsewhere in the UK 
(hence the challenges in ‘closing the gap’ without very 
large-scale investment) 

10. Gross disposable household 
income per head 

All Missions. Note however that this data is not available at 
the South West Wales geography (it is published at ITL 1 
and 2) 

11. Percentage of businesses which 
are innovation active 

Measures to increase interaction between business and 
the knowledge base, and to strengthen the innovation 
ecosystem (principally Mission 2)  

12. Capacity (MW) of renewable 
energy equipment installed 

Developing our renewable energy potential (Mission 1) 

16. Percentage of people in 
employment who are on permanent 

Measures to increase economic activity and the supply of 
higher paid employment. Delivered across all Missions.  

Tudalen 218



B-3 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

Indicator Route to impact: Enabled through… 

contracts (or on temporary contracts 
and not seeking permanent 
employment) and who earn more 
than 2/3 of the UK median wage) 

18. Percentage of people living in 
households in income poverty 
relative to the UK median 

Measures to increase access to employment, especially at 
higher rates of pay. Across all Missions 

21. Percentage of people in 
employment 

Key measure of economic success; relevant to all Missions 

22. Percentage of people in 
education, employment or training 
measured for different age groups 

Measures to improve access to, and demand for, education 
and training (across all Measures) 

26. Percentage of people satisfied 
with their area as a place to live 

Consequential measure arising from the success of 
measures to improve ‘quality of place’ (especially relevant 
to Measure 3) 

33. Percentage of properties with 
adequate energy performance. 

Measures to achieve a ‘net zero’ economy and to improve 
the energy efficiency of the housing stock as part of that 
(Mission 1) 

42. Emissions of greenhouse gases 
within Wales 

Measures to support decarbonisation (Measure 1) 

Tudalen 219



C-1 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

Annex C: Developing the Plan: The process 

C.1 The Regional Economic Delivery Plan was 
developed in 2021 with the support of SQW, 
through a sequential process that worked 
from a fresh analysis of the economic 
evidence to identify the key opportunities and 
challenges facing the region, and based on 
that, the Ambitions and Missions reflected in 
the Plan:  

 Phase I resulted in the development of a 
detailed Evidence and Strategic 
Landscape Review. This provides an 
overview of the region’s economy and the 
policy context, informing an overall SWOT 
analysis. The Evidence and Strategic 
Landscape Review has been produced as a 
separate supporting document and 
informed the analysis in Chapter 2 of this 
Plan.  

 Based on the outcomes of Phase I, Phase II involved the preparation of a ‘strategic 
framework’ for the Plan, which identified the set of Ambitions and Missions that we have 
set out. As part of this, we analysed the outcomes of the SWOT analysis to consider the 
region’s distinctive challenges, and we developed a series of future scenarios.  

 In Phase III, we developed an initial pipeline of projects to meet the goals of the Ambitions 
and Missions. This involved a ‘call for proposals’ with the South West Wales local 
authorities and other stakeholders, and the development of a Project Pipeline 
Supplement, which will be kept ‘live’, as set out in Chapter 7.  

 Based on the outcomes of the preceding phases, Phase IV involved the finalisation of the 
Plan, which was produced in draft in August 2021.  

Consultation and engagement 

C.2 The development of the Plan was led by the South West Wales local authorities, and regular 
dialogue took place with a steering group involving the four authorities and the Welsh 
Government, and with the Regional Directors. The strategic framework and contents of the 
Plan was also considered by South West Wales Leaders and Chief Executives.  

In developing the Plan, consultation took place with over 50 stakeholders from business, local 
and Welsh national government, leaders within the region’s Enterprise Zones and local 

Figure C-1: Developing the Plan:  
Phases 

 

Tudalen 220



C-2 

South West Wales Regional Economic Delivery Plan 

business partnerships, and the third sector. This included bilateral consultations throughout 
the process; discussions at county-level economic partnership boards, the Regional Learning 
and Skills Partnership, and the Economic Strategy Group of the Swansea Bay City Deal; and a 
stakeholder consultation workshop which took place in June 2021. 

Tudalen 221



 

 

Tudalen 222



 

 
 

CABINET 
 

Dydd Llun, 17 Ionawr 2022 
 

YN BRESENNOL: Y Cynghorydd E. Dole (Cadeirydd) 
 
Y Cynghorwyr:  
C.A. Davies, G. Davies, H.A.L. Evans, L.D. Evans, P.M. Hughes, P. Hughes-Griffiths, 
D.M. Jenkins a/ac J. Tremlett 
 
Hefyd yn bresennol: 
Y Cynghorwyr:   
 
Yr oedd y swyddogion canlynol yn gwasanaethu yn y cyfarfod: 
  
 
Siambr,  Neuadd Y Sir, Caerfyrddin, SA31 1JP - 10.00  - 11.45 yb 
 
1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB 

 
Ni chafwyd ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb.  Roedd y Cynghorydd P.M Hughes 
yn bresennol o 10.45a.m. 
 
Estynnodd yr Arweinydd ac aelodau eraill o'r Cabinet eu cydymdeimlad i deulu'r 
diweddar Gynghorydd Mair Stephens a thalwyd teyrnged i'w chyfraniad i'r Cyngor 
fel Dirprwy Arweinydd y Cyngor ac Arweinydd y Grŵp Annibynnol. 
 
Safodd yr holl Aelodau mewn tawelwch yn arwydd o deyrnged er cof am y 
Cynghorydd Stephens. 
 

2. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANNAU PERSONOL 
 

Y 
Cynghorydd 

Rhif y Cofnod Y Math o Fuddiant 

Ann Davies 9 - Rhaglen Gyfalaf Bum 

Mlynedd  

Mae Llwybr Beicio Dyffryn Tywi yn 

mynd drwy dir ei fferm. 

 
 

3. LLOFNODI FEL COFNOD CYWIR COFNODION CYFARFOD Y BWRDD 
GWEITHREDOL A GYNHALWYD AR Y 20 RHAGFYR 2021 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL lofnodi cofnodion cyfarfod y Bwrdd 
Gweithredol a gynhaliwyd ar DD/MM/BBBB yn gofnod cywir.  
 

4. CWESTIYNAU Â RHYBUDD GAN YR AELODAU 
 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau â rhybudd wedi cael eu cyflwyno 
gan yr Aelodau. 
 

5. CWESTIYNAU A RHYBYDD GAN Y CYHOEDD 
 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd dim cwestiynau wedi dod i law gan y cyhoedd. 

Tudalen 223

Eitem Rhif  9



 

 
 

 
6. CYNLLUN CYFLAWNI ECONOMAIDD RHANBARTHOL DE-ORLLEWIN 

CYMRU 
 
Bu'r Cabinet yn ystyried adroddiad a oedd yn manylu ar gynigion i Gynllun 
Cyflawni Economaidd Rhanbarthol newydd De-orllewin Cymru gymryd lle 
Strategaeth Adfywio Economaidd bresennol Dinas-ranbarth Bae Abertawe.   
 
Er bod y Strategaeth bresennol wedi bod ar waith ers 2013, nodwyd bod y cyd-
destun economaidd a pholisi wedi newid yn sylweddol ers hynny, yng Nghymru a'r 
DU, yn enwedig yn sgil penderfyniad y DU i adael yr Undeb Ewropeaidd, effaith 
pandemig Covid-19 a newidiadau rhanbarthol o ran cyflwyno'r Cyd-bwyllgorau 
Corfforaethol newydd a’r Fframweithiau Rhanbarthol newydd sy’n cael eu paratoi 
gan Lywodraeth Cymru yn nodi gweledigaethau a blaenoriaethau lefel uchel ar 
gyfer pob rhanbarth yng Nghymru.  
 
Mewn ymateb i'r amgylchiadau newidiol hynny, roedd y pedwar Awdurdod Lleol yn 
ne-orllewin Cymru, mewn partneriaeth â Llywodraeth Cymru, wedi comisiynu'r 
gwaith o ddatblygu Cynllun Cyflawni Economaidd Rhanbarthol Newydd, fel y nodir 
yn Atodiad A i'r adroddiad, a oedd yn cynnwys:- 
 

 Dadansoddi'r sylfaen dystiolaeth yn drylwyr o ran economi, marchnad lafur 
a seilwaith y rhanbarth i bennu ei gryfderau, ei wendidau, ei gyfleoedd a'i 
fygythiadau; 

 Dehongli'r cyd-destun polisi strategol ar lefel leol, ranbarthol a 
chenedlaethol; 

 Datblygu nodau ac amcanion strategol manwl a oedd yn ymateb i gyfleoedd 
economaidd y rhanbarth ac a oedd yn ategu'r weledigaeth ranbarthol a 
rennir fel y'i nodir yn y Fframwaith Economaidd Rhanbarthol; 

 Paratoi Cynllun Cyflawni Economaidd Rhanbarthol a oedd yn cynnwys 
camau yr oedd angen eu cymryd i gyflawni'r weledigaeth a'r amcanion. 

 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL ARGYMELL I'R CYNGOR fod Cynllun 
Cyflawni Economaidd Rhanbarthol De-orllewin Cymru yn cael ei fabwysiadu 
fel polisi adfywio economaidd cyffredinol y Cyngor. 
 

7. CYNLLUNIAU ADFER ECONOMAIDD CANOL Y PRIF DREFI - RHYDAMAN, 
CAERFYRDDIN A LLANELLI 
 
Bu’r Cabinet yn ystyried adroddiad ar y Cynlluniau Adfer a Chyflawni Economaidd 
arfaethedig, ar ôl Covid, ar gyfer y tair prif dref yn Sir Gaerfyrddin, sef Rhydaman, 
Caerfyrddin a Llanelli. Lluniwyd y cynlluniau gan weithio'n agos gyda Thasglu 
Rhydaman, Fforwm Canol Tref Caerfyrddin a Thasglu Llanelli, ac roedd pob un 
ohonynt yn cynnwys aelodaeth o randdeiliaid allweddol y dref ynghyd â 
chynrychiolwyr o adrannau mewnol allweddol y Cyngor.  
 
Mae'r cynlluniau'n nodi effaith Covid, gan dynnu sylw at faterion/cyfleoedd 
allweddol a darparu fframwaith cyflawni o ymyriadau pwrpasol ar gyfer pob canol 
tref. Pe baent yn cael eu mabwysiadu, rhagwelid y byddai'r cynlluniau yn eiddo i'r 
rhanddeiliaid yn Nhasglu/Fforwm priodol y tair tref ac yn cael eu cyflawni 
ganddynt, gyda'r Cyngor yn gweithio gyda darpar gyllidwyr yn Llywodraeth Cymru 
ac yn San Steffan i ysgogi cyllid pan fyddai cyfleoedd yn codi, a defnyddio cyllid 

Tudalen 224



 

 
 

corfforaethol a nodwyd o fewn rhaglen gyfalaf y Cyngor i hwyluso gweithrediad y 
tri chynllun. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL y dylid nodi a chymeradwyo'r Cynlluniau 
Adfer a Chyflawni Economaidd ar gyfer Rhydaman, Caerfyrddin a Llanelli. 
 

8. STRATEGAETH CYLLIDEB REFENIW 2022/23 i 2024/25 
 
Bu’r Cabinet yn ystyried adroddiad a oedd yn rhoi golwg gyffredinol ar y 
Strategaeth Cyllideb Refeniw ar gyfer 2022/23 a'r ddwy flynedd ariannol ganlynol. 
Roedd yr adroddiad yn rhoi manylion am broses y gyllideb, setliad dros dro 
presennol Llywodraeth Cymru ac amserlen y setliad terfynol ac yn clustnodi'r 
gwasgfeydd dilysu a'r gwasgfeydd cyllidebol y byddai'n rhaid i'r Aelodau roi sylw 
iddynt wrth bennu cyllideb refeniw'r flwyddyn nesaf. Byddai'r adroddiad hefyd yn 
sail i'r broses ymgynghori ar y gyllideb i'w chynnal yn ystod Ionawr a Chwefror 
2022. 
 
Nododd yr adroddiad, ar ôl addasiadau ar gyfer trosglwyddiadau a nodwyd gan 
Lywodraeth Cymru, mai 9.2% (£26.335 miliwn) oedd y cynnydd yn y setliad dros 
dro ar gyfer Sir Gaerfyrddin. Felly, roedd y Cyllid Allanol Cyfun wedi cynyddu i 
£311.957 miliwn yn 2022/23 a oedd yn cynnwys £302k mewn perthynas â Grant y 
Gweithlu Gofal Cymdeithasol. 
 
Er bod llawer o waith eisoes wedi'i wneud wrth baratoi'r gyllideb, nodwyd mai dim 
ond datganiad sefyllfa cychwynnol oedd yr adroddiad a fyddai'n cael ei 
ddiweddaru dros y misoedd i ddod wrth i'r gyllideb gael ei datblygu ymhellach, 
ymgysylltu ag aelodau'r cyngor a chynnal ymgynghoriad cyhoeddus, a disgwyliwyd 
derbyn y setliad terfynol gan Lywodraeth Cymru ar 2 Mawrth 2022. 
 
Er bod Strategaeth y Gyllideb yn cynnig cynnydd o 4.4% yn y Dreth Gyngor ar 
gyfer 2022/23, yn unol â'r Cynllun Ariannol Tymor Canolig, byddai'r cynnig 
hwnnw'n cael ei ystyried fel rhan o'r broses o gwblhau'r gyllideb dros y mis nesaf a 
lle cafodd yr Awdurdod eglurhad pellach ynghylch costau a chyllid grant gyda'r 
bwriad o gyfyngu ar y cynnydd yn y Dreth Gyngor cyn belled ag y bo modd. 
Byddai cynigion terfynol y gyllideb wedyn yn cael eu cyflwyno i'r Cabinet ddiwedd 
mis Chwefror, i sicrhau bod cyllideb gytbwys yn cael ei chyflwyno i'r Cyngor Sir. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL 
 
8.1 Nodi cynnwys yr adroddiad a chymeradwyo Strategaeth y 

Gyllideb dair blynedd fel sylfaen i ymgynghori gan geisio 
sylwadau gan ymgyngoreion yn benodol ynghylch y cynigion 
effeithlonrwydd yn Atodiad A; 

8.2 Nodi’r swm heb ei ddyrannu o £757k yn y strategaeth gyfredol, 
a fyddai'n cael ei ystyried ymhellach ar ôl cwblhau'r 
ymgynghoriad fel y nodir ym mharagraff 4.4 o'r adroddiad; 

8.3 Cymeradwyo'r cynnig i ddyrannu £500k o'r tanwariant a 
ragwelir ar gyfer y flwyddyn gyfredol i gyflymu Cynlluniau 
Datgarboneiddio cyfredol yn y flwyddyn i ddod. 

 
 

9. RHAGLEN GYFALAF PUM MLYNEDD (CRONFA'R CYNGOR) - 2022/23 - 
2026/27 

Tudalen 225



 

 
 

 
[NODER:  Roedd y Cynghorydd A. Davies wedi datgan buddiant yn yr eitem hon 
yn gynharach.] 
 
Bu'r Cabinet yn ystyried adroddiad a oedd yn manylu ar y cynigion diweddaraf am 
Raglen Gyfalaf Bum Mlynedd (Cronfa'r Cyngor) 2022/23 i 2026/2027, a fyddai'n 
sail i'r broses ymgynghori ynghylch y gyllideb gyda'r aelodau a phartïon perthnasol 
eraill. Byddai'r adborth o'r broses ymgynghori hon, ynghyd ag unrhyw 
ddiweddariadau o ran ffigurau'r setliad a cheisiadau am grantiau, yn cyfrannu i'r 
adroddiad terfynol ynghylch cyllideb y Rhaglen Gyfalaf a fyddai'n cael ei gyflwyno 
i'r Cabinet ar 21 Chwefror 2022 a'r Cyngor Sir ym mis Mawrth 2022. 
 
Y gwariant gros arfaethedig ar y rhaglen gyfalaf ar gyfer 2022/23 oedd £144.844m, a'r 
bwriad oedd i'r Cyngor Sir gyllido £52.249m o'i adnoddau ei hun drwy ddefnyddio 
benthyciadau, arian wrth gefn, a'r grant cyfalaf cyffredinol, a bod y £92.595m o gyllid 
oedd yn weddill yn dod o ffynonellau allanol. Roedd y ffigurau hynny'n cynnwys 
prosiectau a ohiriwyd yn 2021/22, yn bennaf oherwydd cyfyngiadau Covid-19, a oedd 
wedi'u cario drosodd a'u cynnwys yng nghyllidebau'r blynyddoedd i ddod. 

Rhagwelwyd y byddai'r rhaglen gyfalaf yn cael ei hariannu'n llawn yn ystod y pum 
mlynedd. Roedd yn cynnwys gwariant rhagamcanol ar brosiectau Bargen 
Ddinesig Bae Abertawe y byddai'r Awdurdod yn benthyca yn eu herbyn, a 
byddai'r cyllid yn cael ei ddychwelyd gan Lywodraeth Cymru a Llywodraeth y DU 
dros gyfnod o 15 mlynedd (o 2018/19). 
 

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL gymeradwyo'r adroddiad yn rhaglen 
gyfalaf dros dro at ddibenion ymgynghori, a bod y Pwyllgor Craffu Polisi ac 
Adnoddau yn ystyried y mater yn ei gyfarfod a gynhelir ar 2 Chwefror, 2022. 
 
 

10. ADRODDIAD MONITRO CYLLIDEB REFENIW Y CYNGOR 
 

Bu'r Cabinet yn ystyried adroddiad monitro'r gyllideb refeniw a oedd yn rhoi'r 
wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am y sefyllfa gyllidebol fel yr oedd ar 31 Hydref 2021, o 
ran 2021/2022.  Er bod maint ymateb Covid-19 yn lleihau, roedd y sefyllfa 
gyllidebol yn cydnabod y pwysau ariannol parhaus a wynebir gan yr Awdurdod yn 
ogystal â'r cymorth ariannol ychwanegol a ddarparwyd gan Lywodraeth Cymru. 
 
Yn gyffredinol, roedd yr adroddiad monitro yn rhagweld tanwariant ar gyfer y 
flwyddyn ar lefel adrannol o £1,726k gyda thanwariant o £1,279k ar gyllideb 
refeniw net yr Awdurdod.  Ar lefel uchel, roedd hyn o ganlyniad i gyfuniad o'r 
canlynol: 
 

 costau ychwanegol oedd yn gysylltiedig â Covid-19 ac incwm a gollwyd a 
gafodd ei ad-dalu i raddau helaeth o dan gynllun caledi Llywodraeth 
Cymru;   

 effeithiwyd ar rai gwasanaethau oherwydd iddynt gael eu hatal neu 
oherwydd y cyfyngiadau symud a mesurau cadw pellter cymdeithasol yn 
chwarter 1; 

 defnyddio rhywfaint o danwariant yr arian cyfalaf, oherwydd rhai pwysau 
sylweddol ar gyllidebau prosiectau cyfalaf yn ystod y flwyddyn, a 
gymeradwywyd fel rhan o adroddiad ar wahân. 

 

Tudalen 226



 

 
 

Nododd Aelodau'r Cabinet fod cyfanswm o tua £13 miliwn o ran gwariant 
ychwanegol a cholli incwm wedi'u hawlio o dan gynllun caledi Llywodraeth Cymru 
yn ystod hanner cyntaf y flwyddyn (Ebrill – Medi). 
 
Tynnwyd sylw'r Cabinet at y ffaith y byddai'r risg i gyfraddau casglu'r Dreth Gyngor 
a mwy o geisiadau o dan y Cynllun Gostyngiadau'r Dreth Gyngor yn parhau i gael 
ei monitro'n agos, yn enwedig gan fod y cynllun ffyrlo bellach wedi dod i ben. 
 
Roedd y Cyfrif Refeniw Tai yn rhagweld tanwariant o £1,337k ar gyfer 2021/22. 
Darparwyd manylion am hyn yn Atodiad B a oedd ynghlwm i'r adroddiad. 

PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL: 

10.1 Derbyn adroddiad monitro'r gyllideb, a nodi'r sefyllfa gyllidebol a'r 
camau unioni priodol a gymerwyd.  

10.2    Bod y Prif Swyddogion a'r Penaethiaid Gwasanaeth yn adolygu'r 
opsiynau sydd ar gael iddynt yn feirniadol i gyfyngu ar y gorwariant a 
ragwelwyd ar gyllidebau, yn ogystal â chydnabod effaith barhaus 
mesurau Covid-19 ar gyllideb gyffredinol yr Awdurdod.  

 
 

11. DIWEDDARU RHAGLEN GYFALAF 2021/22 
 
Cafodd y Cabinet adroddiad a oedd yn amlinellu'r sefyllfa gyllidebol ddiweddaraf ar 
gyfer rhaglen gyfalaf 2021/22, fel yr oedd ar 31 Hydref 2021 gan fanylu ar y 
prosiectau newydd i'w nodi a'u cymeradwyo gan y Cabinet. 
 
Dywedwyd y rhagwelwyd gwariant net adrannol o £74,790k o gymharu â chyllideb 
net weithredol o £105,168k gan roi -£30,378k o amrywiant.  
 
Roedd y gyllideb net yn cynnwys rhaglenni cyfalaf gwreiddiol y Cyfrif Refeniw Tai 
a'r Gronfa Gyffredinol a gymeradwywyd gan y Cyngor ar 3 Mawrth, 2021 a llithriad 
o 2021/21 a newidiadau a gymeradwywyd gan y Cabinet ar 25 Hydref, 2021. 
Nodwyd bod rhai cyllidebau hefyd wedi cael eu diwygio yn unol â’r gwahaniaethau 
yn y dyraniadau grant o gymharu â'r dyraniadau disgwyliedig pan gafodd y rhaglen 
ei chymeradwyo. 
 
Nodwyd bod Atodiad B yn manylu ar y prif amrywiannau ym mhob adran. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL: 
 
11.1 bod yr adroddiad ar ddiweddaru'r rhaglen gyfalaf yn cael ei dderbyn; 
11.2. bod y prosiectau newydd, fel yr oeddent yn yr adroddiad, yn cael eu 

nodi a'u cytuno. 
 
 

12. ADRODDIAD CYNNYDD INTERIM Y STRATEGAETH TOILEDAU LLEOL 
 
Bu'r Cabinet yn ystyried Adroddiad Cynnydd Interim y Strategaeth Toiledau Lleol a 
luniwyd yn unol â gofynion Rhan 8 o Ddeddf Iechyd y Cyhoedd (Cymru) 2017 a 
oedd yn gosod dyletswydd ar bob Awdurdod Lleol yng Nghymru i baratoi a 

Tudalen 227



 

 
 

chyhoeddi Strategaeth Toiledau Lleol ar gyfer ei ardal a chyhoeddi adroddiad 
cynnydd interim cyn pen chwe mis ar ôl i'r cyfnod o 2 flynedd ers cyhoeddi'r 
Strategaeth Toiledau Lleol wreiddiol ddod i ben. Yn achos Sir Gaerfyrddin, gan fod 
y strategaeth wreiddiol wedi'i llunio ym mis Awst 2019, roedd angen cyhoeddi 
adroddiad interim erbyn mis Chwefror 2022. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL gymeradwyo Adroddiad Cynnydd Interim 
Drafft y Strategaeth Toiledau Lleol. 
 

13. NEWID POSIBL I BOLISI ADNEWYDDU'R SECTOR PREIFAT 
 
Bu'r Cabinet yn ystyried adroddiad a luniwyd yn unol â chais Llywodraeth Cymru 
am i Awdurdodau Lleol ddefnyddio eu pwerau o dan Orchymyn Diwygio 
Rheoleiddio 2002 ynghylch newid Polisi Adnewyddu Tai y Sector Preifat y Cyngor 
i gynnwys Grantiau Cyfleusterau i'r Anabl ar gyfer addasiadau bach a chanolig heb 
i ymgeiswyr orfod cael prawf modd.  
 
Amlinellodd yr adroddiad 4 opsiwn posibl i'w hystyried i ymateb i gais Llywodraeth 
Cymru ac argymhellodd fabwysiadu opsiwn 4. Pe bai’n cael ei fabwysiadu, y 
bwriad oedd cynnal adolygiad o effaith y newid arfaethedig ar ôl y 6 mis cyntaf a 
darparu adroddiad pellach os oes unrhyw bryderon wedi'u nodi. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL newid Polisi Adnewyddu Tai y Sector 
Preifat y Cyngor i gynnwys Grantiau Cyfleusterau i'r Anabl a bod opsiwn 4 
yn cael ei fabwysiadu, gan gynnig y dewisiadau canlynol i ymgeiswyr: 

 bwrw ymlaen ag opsiwn 2, heb unrhyw brawf modd ac amodau ad-
dalu o 10 mlynedd ynghlwm wrth Grant Cyfleusterau i’r Anabl yn ôl 
disgresiwn, neu, 

 gwneud cais am Grant Cyfleusterau i’r Anabl gorfodol a chael prawf 
modd 

 
 
 
 

14. RHYBUDD GYNNIG A GYFEIRIWYD GAN Y CYNGOR AR Y 10FED O 
DACHWEDD 2021 - CLYMOG JAPAN 
 
Cafodd y Cabinet adroddiad a oedd yn manylu ar Rybudd o Gynnig (fel y'i 
diwygiwyd gan y Cyngor) ynghylch clymog Japan a gyfeiriwyd at y Cabinet gan y 
Cyngor ar 10 Tachwedd, 2021. 
 
Roedd yr adroddiad yn manylu ar y pwerau sydd ar gael i Awdurdodau Lleol fynd 
i'r afael â chwyn goresgynnol, megis clymog Japan h.y. Deddf Ymddygiad 
Gwrthgymdeithasol, Troseddu a Phlismona 2014 (Hysbysiadau Gwarchod y 
Gymuned) a'r prif bryderon o ran eu defnyddio, ynghyd â darpariaethau Deddf 
Bywyd Gwyllt a Chefn Gwlad 1981 a oedd wedi'i gwneud yn drosedd i unrhyw un 
achosi i rywogaethau dyfu yn y gwyllt ac y gallai'r Heddlu eu gorfodi.  
 
Roedd yr adroddiad yn manylu ymhellach ar ddulliau eraill o orfodi drwy Hysbysiad 
Gwarchod y Gymuned ac, o ystyried effaith camau gorfodi ar ddeiliaid tai, o ran 
cost a chosb droseddol bosibl, cyflwynwyd yr opsiynau canlynol i'r Cabinet eu 
hystyried:- 

Tudalen 228



 

 
 

 

 Parhau â'r arfer presennol o gynghori tirfeddianwyr yr effeithir arnynt a'u 
cyfeirio at ffynonellau canllawiau, sef y dull a fabwysiadwyd gan y rhan 
fwyaf o Awdurdodau Lleol ac; 

 Ystyried y sefyllfa fel cyfle masnachol i gynnig gwasanaethau trin clymog 
Japan i'r cyhoedd, naill ai'n uniongyrchol ar sail adennill costau neu'n fwy 
masnachol drwy gwmni masnachu posibl. Fodd bynnag, byddai angen 
arbenigedd yn y maes hwnnw i'w ddatblygu a'i weithredu. 

 
Mynegwyd pryder ynghylch y problemau yn y sir yn ymwneud â Jac y Neidiwr a 
theimlwyd y dylai unrhyw ganllawiau a chamau gorfodi hefyd gynnwys cyfeiriad at 
Jac y Neidiwr. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL fod y Cyngor yn parhau â'r arfer presennol 
o gynghori tirfeddianwyr yr effeithir arnynt a'u cyfeirio at ffynonellau 
canllawiau.  
  
 

15. RHYBUDD GYNNIG A GYFEIRIWYD GAN Y CYNGOR - 15FED O FEDI 2021 
AWYRU MEWN YSGOLION 
 
Bu'r Cabinet yn ystyried adroddiad a oedd yn manylu ar Rybudd o Gynnig 
ynghylch Awyru mewn Ysgolion a gyfeiriwyd at y Cabinet gan y Cyngor ar 15 
Medi, 2021. 
 
Atgynhyrchodd yr adroddiad y Rhybudd o Gynnig yn galw ar Lywodraeth Cymru i 
ystyried ar frys gymeradwyo, tendro ac ariannu Hidlenni Aer Gronynnol Effeithlon 
iawn a/neu Uwchfioled mewn ysgolion. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD YN UNFRYDOL gefnogi'r Rhybudd o Gynnig.  
 
 

16. UNRHYW FATER ARALL Y GALL Y CADEIRYDD OHERWYDD 
AMGYLCHIADAU ARBENNIG BENDERFYNU EI YSTYRIED YN FATER BRYS 
YN UNOL AG ADRAN 100B(4)(B) O DDEDDF LLYWODRAETH LEOL, 1972. 
 
Dywedodd y Cadeirydd nad oedd unrhyw eitemau eraill o fater brys. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
________________________    __________________ 
CADEIRYDD       DYDDIAD 
 

Tudalen 229



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol


	Agenda
	4 LLOFNODI YN GOFNOD CYWIR COFNODION CYFARFOD Y CYNGOR A GYNHALIWYD AR Y 19EG IONAWR, 2022.
	5.1 CYNLLUN DIRPRWYO I SWYDDOGION A PHROTOCOL AR GYFER CYFLWYNO SYLWADAU I'R CYNGOR SIR YNGHYLCH CEISIADAU CYNLLUNIO.
	Part 3.2
	part 5.3

	5.2 CYNLLUN DEISEBAU SIR GAERFYRDDIN
	Cynllun Deisebau Sir Gaerfyrddin
	Atodiad

	5.3 STRATEGAETH CYFRANOGIAD Y CYHOEDD SIR GAERFYRDDIN FEL RHAN O'R BROSES DDEMOCRATAIDD.
	Strategaeth

	6 AELODAETH PWYLLGORAU CRAFFU, PWYLLGORAU RHEOLEIDDIO A PHWYLLGORAU ERAILL Y CYNGOR A PHENODI AELODAU I WASANAETHU ARNYNT.
	Adroddiad

	7 PENODI AELODAU I WASANAETHU AR BWYLLGORAU YMGYNGHOROL Y CYNGOR AC AR GYRFF ALLANOL YN AMODOL AR Y GOFYNION O RAN CYDBWYSEDD GWLEIDYDDOL.
	8.1 CYNLLUN CYFLAWNI ECONOMAIDD RHANBARTHOL DEORLLEWIN CYMRU.
	Atodiad

	9 DERBYN ADRODDIAD CYFARFOD Y CABINET A GYNHALIWYD AR 17EG IONAWR 2022.

